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CORPORATE INFORMATION
ARER

Board of Directors
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Mr. Li Chengjun
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Mr. Guo Qinglin
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Mr. He Wenyuan (appointed on 2 December 2024)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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Authorised Representatives

Mr. Xiong Bin
Mr. Li Yiu Hong

Financial Adviser

Dakin Capital Limited
Suite 3111A, 31/F
Tower 2, Lippo Centre
89 Queensway

Hong Kong

Auditor

Moore CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditors registered in accordance
with the Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

1001-1010, North Tower

World Finance Centre

Harbour City, 19 Canton Road

Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon

Hong Kong

Registered Office in Cayman Islands

P.O. BOX 31119
Grand Pavilion
Hibiscus Way

802 West Bay Road
Grand Cayman
KY1-1205

Cayman Islands

Principal Place of Business and
Headquarters

33/F, Building 1

Huagiang Science and Technology Innovation Plaza
Meilin Street, No. 6018 North Ring Boulevard

Futian District

Shenzhen, China
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Place of Business In Hong Kong

Unit 702, 7/F

Greenfield Tower
Concordia Plaza

1 Science Museum Road
Tsim Sha Tsui East
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Principal Banks

Citibank
|CICI Bank Limited

Share Registrars and Transfer Offices

Hong Kong

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

Cayman Islands

Tricor Services (Cayman Islands) Limited
2nd Floor, Century Yard

Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902

Grand Cayman, KY1-1103

Cayman Islands

Stock Name
SPROCOMM INTEL

Stock Code
1401

Company’s Website

WWwWWw.Sprocomm.com
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFUHERE

Results ¥E
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=t+-HLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EBoME -—T-=fF -—T--fF C-—FT--F _"—TE-TEF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT ARE®TT ARETRT ARET:T
Revenue Yezs 2,917,434 2,822,921 1,450,377 2,000,104 2,182,038
Cost of sales HEKAR (2,659,665)  (2,523,333)  (1,246,747)  (1,827,867)  (1,988,615)
Gross profit EF 257,769 299,588 203,630 172,237 193,423
Profit/(loss) before tax BRBATER,/ (BR) 20,341 30,047 9,825 (15,859) 33,651
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF/ (EE) 15,609 31,016 6,361 (18,059) 30,684
Profit/(loss) attributable to: MNE RS
wAl/ (B8)
— Owners of the Company ~KRRHEBA 16,341 32,369 6,506 (17,754) 30,879
- Non-controlling interests — MR (732) (1,353) (145) (308) (195)
15,609 31,016 6,361 (18,059) 30,684
Assets and Liabilities EERAE
As at 31 December
+=ZA=+—-H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“E-ME —T-=% ZT--f B4 C—Z-TH
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARET:
Total assets BERE 3,395,127 3,822,154 1,460,989 1,102,701 1,207,484
Total liabilities BELE (3,028,593)  (3,470,940)  (1,140,280) (786,864) (872,337)
366,534 351,214 320,709 315,837 335,147
Equity attrioutable to: A& B -
— Owners of the Company —KRREAA 368,141 352,085 320,222 315,924 333,336
- Non-controlling interests — R (1,607) (871) 487 87) 1,811
366,534 351,214 320,709 315,837 335,147

Note: The financial figures for each of the five years ended 31 December 2024/
as at the respective year-end were extracted from the consolidated financial

statements in the annual reports of 2024, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

The summary above does not form part of the audited

consolidated financial statements.

Mt - BE-TZ-_NFE+-_A=+—BLEAEEFESE
RZERAFERNVBEEIHEE T _NF -
TEC=F IR CFRITEFERNEE

BIISHE

A EMETBREEZSRA BRI —EBD ©
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ERW|E

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Sprocomm Intelligence Limited (the “Company”), | present the
audited consolidated results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024
to the shareholders of the Company.

Business Review

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group, as one
of the leading ODM mobile phone suppliers based in China,
continued to focus on the research and development, designing,
manufacturing and sale of mobile phones, PCBAs for mobile
phones and |oT related products, targeting emerging markets.

In 2024, China’s economy demonstrated resilience and
adaptability despite facing complex domestic and global
challenges. China’s smartphone market experienced a robust
rebound, driven by strong performances from reputable mobile
phone brands. The loT market in China also witnessed substantial
growth, solidifying the country’s position as the world’s largest
loT market. According to data from the global market research
firm International Data Corporation, China’s loT spending reached
approximately US$300 billion in 2024, accounting for 26.7% of
global spending in the sector. This growth was fuelled by strong
demand across manufacturing, government, and consumer
sectors, with a significant emphasis on smart manufacturing and
Al integration. Looking ahead, it is anticipated that China’s loT
spending will continue to grow at a compound annual growth
rate of 13% over the next five years.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
successfully secured an increased volume of purchase orders
for 10T related products. These orders came from the Group’s
major customers in China, indicating their continued trust
and satisfaction with the Group’s product quality and service.
Revenue from China increased by 33.6% to RMB2,328.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024 from RMB1,742.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023. Despite the increase in
revenue, the Group had to strategically accommodate a reduced
gross profit margin. This was a necessary measure to ensure the
procurement of sales orders from major customers. The decision,
while impacting the Group’s immediate profitability, is aimed at
fostering long-term relationships and securing future business
opportunities.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ESE

Overall, the Group recorded total revenue of approximately
RMB2,917.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2024,
representing an increase of approximately 3.3% from
approximately RMB2,822.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. However, due to the reduced gross profit
margin, the Group’s profit after tax decreased by approximately
49.7% to approximately RMB15.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 from approximately RMB31.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Highlights of the audited results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024, as compared to 2023, are shown in the
following table:

BEmMs ~AEERHEE-_T-_NF+=-A
—+—HIFEHBKREBRENHARKE2917.4
BET BEE_E-_=#+=-A=+—H
IFFEMHARE 2,822 9 F BTN 3.3% ©
AT AREMERLD  REBERKRRERF
MEBE - _=F+_A=1T—BILFEN
PMAREIIOBELHLHLTIREEHEZ
E_NFFT_AZ+—HLEFEMNHARE
156 B&TT °

AEFEHEE T -_WE+_A=+—HItHF
ENKEZEERE (W _ZT_=FHL)H
RT&:

Year ended 31 December
BE+-B=+—HLEFE

2024 2023

—ZE-MF —E-=F

(Audited) (Audited)

(f&ER) (feEZ)

Revenue (RMB’000) s (ARBFIT) 2,917,434 2,822,921

Net profit for the year (RMB’000) FREF (AREFT) 15,609 31,016
Earnings per share FRRAT

- Basic and diluted (RMB cents) —ERNEE(ARED) 1.63 3.24

ZZZPUFFHR Sprocomm Inteligence Limited 7



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERWE

Outlook and Strategy

Going forward, China’s ODM mobile phone market will be filled
with challenges and opportunities. The Group intends to seize
this moment to reinforce its market-leading position, leveraging
strategic initiatives to ensure continued growth and success.
By staying at the forefront of innovation and anticipating market
trends, the Group aims to capitalise on emerging opportunities
while effectively addressing any challenges that may arise. The
Directors believe that the integration of artificial intelligence
into smartphones and other devices, coupled with the rapid
deployment of 5G telecommunications networks worldwide, will
significantly drive the demand for smartphones and loT products.

In order to capture the potential market opportunities and
maximise the interests of the Company and its shareholders, the
Group will adopt a prudent approach to develop its business,
enhance its research and development capability, enrich its
product portfolio and increase its sales and marketing effort to
diversify its geographical locations.

Gratitude

On behalf of the Company, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to our valued shareholders, customers, suppliers, banks
and to our management and employees for their continuous
trust and support to the Group. The coming year will be full of
opportunities and challenges and we will strive our best to create
greater value for our shareholders and investors.

By order of the Board
Mr. Li Chengjun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SEE R E IS &

Business Overview

The Group is an ODM mobile phone supplier based in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), primarily engaged in
research and development, designing, manufacturing and sale
of mobile phones, PCBAs for mobile phones and loT related
products, targeting emerging markets.

The Group’s products are sold worldwide with strategic focus
on emerging markets which have high population and growing
demands on mobile phones. Revenue generated from PRC and
other emerging markets accounted for 96.4% of the Group’s total
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024. The Group’s
customers include various top local branded mobile phone
suppliers, telecommunication operators and trading companies
in the PRC, India, other Asian countries and other parts of the
world.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
successfully secured an increased volume of purchase orders
for 10T related products. These orders came from the Group’s
major customers in China, indicating their continued trust
and satisfaction with the Group’s product quality and service.
Revenue from China increased by 33.6% to RMB2,328.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024 from RMB1,742.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023. Despite the increase in
revenue, the Group had to strategically accommodate a reduced
gross profit margin. This was a necessary measure to ensure the
procurement of sales orders from major customers. The decision,
while impacting the Group’s immediate profitability, is aimed at
fostering long-term relationships and securing future business
opportunities.

Overall, the Group recorded total revenue of approximately
RMB2,917.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2024,
representing an increase of approximately 3.3% from
approximately RMB2,822.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. However, due to the reduced gross profit
margin, the Group’s profit after tax decreased by approximately
49.7% to approximately RMB15.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 from approximately RMB31.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

REME
AEEB—HEURPEARLME ((HE))
WEERFETISHODM FHEER T8
= - et RERHEETH - FHRAEL
ol BE AR 4B 2 K gt A AR R A o

AEEREERFEEER UHAORZA
FHRBRTEEROFTETGESRBEES
BE_ T HWNF+_A=+—HIEFE" K
BR8N H b 37 B 5 RO M s (5 AR Uk
TmI96.4% c AEBEMFFEETE - HE
HMEMNERR2HREMMET NS RTARK
ArmEFHERR EEELBALEHRA

HE_Z_NMF+_A=+—BLFE K
SBEIESE 2 W AR E R RIEETE -
ZETEXRAAEENTREZEERFS  BR
BERFRECEBEREAESENERE ZMR
HeoREFRBEMKEREE S -_=F+=
A=+ —HBLEFEMARK1,742.4 5 & LI
MmasewzEHEz—E-_WE+=-_RA=+—H
IEFEHMARK23285FE T - BE W R1g
o WEAREEERE EEERENRE R -
I ABERENETERFIHEFTENNE SR -
BEEATEREAEENREAF G
BHEEEDREERERE WHFAEAE
XS i o

BEREmMs AfEERE=2_FT W&+ A
T —HIFEHSRSRBOARE2917.4
AET BREE-_ZE—_=#+-_A=+—H
IFEENHARKE2 822 0 A& TTILANL) 3.3% ©
AT - AR B F R A AN B BR R R A
HEE-_E-_=F+-_A=+—H1IFEHD
HWAREIIOEETLRD Q7% EHEZ
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156 BT °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEER RO

Financial Review

Revenue
Revenue by product categories

The Group’s product portfolio includes smartphones, feature
phones, PCBAs for mobile phones and IoT related products. The
Group mainly derives its revenue from the sales of smartphones
and loT products. Set out below is a breakdown of the Group’s
total revenue by product categories and the revenue generated
from each product category as a percentage of total revenue for

the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023:

Bt %5 o R

g

REmBERNS S
AEENERMBEEBESEFR R FiHK -
FHAMRBIERRAE R B EBEEESD-
REBMNKREETEREHES L FH LY
HEMR - TRINEE_T-_NFR=_T ==
FH+Z A=+ HIEFERERENSSH

mlm R REmBRIELMN K
Wt H B D

HAREER

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=t—HLEFE

2024 2023
—E-NF ZE=F

% of total % of total

RMB’000 revenue RMB’000 revenue

ARBTT HHAKREN% ARETIT HAKEZEN%

Mobile phones F i

— Smartphones —HREF 1,456,867 50.0 1,814,028 64.3

— Feature phones —INRERY F & 437,573 14.9 323,719 11.4

Sub-total: NET 1,894,440 64.9 2,137,747 75.7

PCBAs EN Il E 5 tR 48 5 - - 55,588 2.0

loT related products Wt 48 48 B = 822,713 28.2 483,801 17.1

Others (Note) E 4w (B aE) 200,281 6.9 145,785 5.2

Total BEF 2,917,434 100.0 2,822,921 100.0
Note: Others mainly include revenue from the sales of mobile device components A/ - Hth X ZEEHERRNERRBNBH REAHH

used for after sales-services and the provision of research and development
and technical services for mobile phones, PCBAs and cloud related products.

1 0 Sprocomm Intelligence Limited  Annual Report 2024

WA RREFH - EIRIERRAERERBER
OB 2 e B AR TS



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR D

The Group’s total revenue increased by 3.3% to RMB2,917.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2024 from RMB2,822.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Revenue from mobile phones decreased by 11.4% to
RMB1,894.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 from
RMB2,137.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
primarily attributed to the decrease in sales of smartphones to
India and Pakistan.

Revenue from PCBAs decreased to nil for the year ended 31
December 2024 from RMB55.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, primarily attributed to the Group’s strategy to
reserve its capacity to meet the demand for smartphones and
loT related products from major customers in the PRC.

Revenue from |oT related products increased by 70.0% to
RMB822.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 from
RMB483.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
primarily attributed to the increase in sales orders from major
customers in the PRC.

AEBEMNBRYZHREE - -_=F1+=A
T+ —HIEFENARKE28229F B LB N
Q3% EHE_ZT_MF+_A=+—HLHF
EMARKE20174B8T °

REFHNKEZmEE-_ZE-_=F1+=A
—t+—HLEFENARE2137.7EELE D
MA%EEHE-_T_NMF+-_A=+—HLF
EMARKA18MABE T T EHRAHE
MEEATHHE NS EF R -

REHRERRALNRE=REBEE-_T ==
F+-—A=Z+—BHILFEMNARKESS6EHS
TRAVEHEZ-_E-_NE+-_A=+—H0It
FEMNZT FEARAEERBERNER
EHRRTERFPHERFEL B AEEE
M SRR SRR o

RKEVBBERBEMNKEHEE =S ==
F+-_A=Z+—HULEFENARK4IS38EHS
TN T70.0% EEE—T-_NF+_A=+—
HIEFEMARKE27TEEL  TEHRNK
BREFERFMHEETEEM-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR D

Revenue by geographical regions

The Group’s products are sold worldwide with strategic focus
on emerging markets which have high population and growing
demands on mobile phones. Set out below is a breakdown of the
Group’s total revenue by geographical region and the revenue
generated from each region as a percentage of total revenue for

the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023:

IR & 80 MU
AEERNEHRHEEER UHADRSA
?&%i?%ﬁﬁm%mﬁ%ﬁﬁ”WE%
TRIHEE= @i&fzf_¢+—
A=+— Eti&&ﬂ@% > 1) 40 U 35
B2 7 A O M 1 AR SR BAR MRS O B 53 Lt

Year ended 31 December

BEt+t-A=+—RHLEE

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
% of total % of total
RMB’000 revenue RMB’000 revenue
ARETT HAKRZEN% ARETIT HAKZEN%
Emerging Asia SN EE R
The PRC s 2,328,450 79.8 1,742,400 61.7
India E 365,200 12.5 863,557 30.6
Pakistan B & E7A 65,212 2.2 131,798 4.7
People’s Republic of FTANR AR FNE
Bangladesh 53,426 1.9 74,572 2.6
Sub-total: IINEE 2,812,288 96.4 2,812,327 99.6
Other regions Hihih &
United States of America =54 R EH 73,792 2.5 = =
Algeria o] B8 Sz A1) 5B 5,912 0.2 10,568 0.4
Republic of Yemen P9 2L AN 19,004 0.7 = =
Dubai HE 5,605 0.2 = =
Others Hb 833 - 26 =
Sub-total: [N 105,146 3.6 10,594 0.4
Total &5t 2,917,434 100.0 2,822,921 100.0

Revenue from the PRC increased by 33.6% to RMB2,328.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2024 from RMB1,742.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, primarily attributed
to increase in sales orders for smartphones and IoT related
products from major customers in the PRC.

Revenue from India decreased by 57.7% to RMB365.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024 from RMB863.6 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023, primarily attributed to the
decrease in demand for smartphones from major customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR D

Revenue from Pakistan decreased by 50.5% to RMB65.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024 from 131.8 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023, primarily attributed to the
Group’s strategic decision to reserve its production capacity for
the sales orders from the United States of America.

Revenue from People’'s Republic of Bangladesh decreased by
28.4% to RMB53.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2024
from RMB74.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
primarily attributed to decrease in sales orders for smartphones
from major customers.

Revenue from the United States of America increased to
RMB73.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 from
nil for the year ended 31 December 2023, resulting from the
Group’s strategic marketing initiatives in this country.

Revenue from Algeria decreased by 44.3% to RMB5.9 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024 from RMB10.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023, primarily attributed to the
decrease in demand for smartphones.

Revenue from Republic of Yemen increased to RMB19.0 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024 from nil for the year
ended 31 December 2023, resulting from the Group’s strategic
marketing initiatives in this country.

Revenue from Dubai increased to RMB5.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024 from nil for the year ended 31
December 2023, resulting from the Group’s strategic marketing
initiatives in this region.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit decreased by 14.0% to RMB257.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024 from RMB299.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023. Gross profit margin decreased
to 8.8% for the year ended 31 December 2024 from 10.6%
for the year ended 31 December 2023. Despite the increase in
revenue, the Group had to strategically accommodate a reduced
gross profit margin. This was a necessary measure to ensure the
procurement of sales orders from major customers. The decision,
while impacting the Group’s immediate profitability, is aimed at
fostering long-term relationships and securing future business
opportunities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR D

Other gains and income

Other gains and income mainly include comprises government
subsidies, amortisation of government subsidies, bank interest
income and sundry income. The Group’s other gains and income
increased by 90.7% to RMB74.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 from RMB38.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, primarily attributed to increase in bank interest
income and government subsidies, but partially offset by the
decrease in amortisation of government subsidies.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly represent transportation
and custom declaration expenses, salaries and employee benefits
of our sales and marketing staff, business-related travelling and
entertainment expenses. Selling and distribution expenses for
the year ended 31 December 2024 remained relatively stable at
RMB56.8 million as compared with RMB58.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly represent salaries and benefits
of our administrative and management staff, depreciation,
amortisation of intangible assets, general office expenses, legal
and professional fees, rental expenses, insurance expenses,
bank charges, impairment loss recognised in respect of trade
and bills receivables, exchange losses and other miscellaneous
administrative expenses. Administrative expenses for the year
ended 31 December 2024 increased by 20.1% to RMB76.6
million from RMB63.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2023, primarily attributed to the increase in provision for
impairment loss in respect of trade and bills receivables by
RMB5.1 million, and increase in headcount and staff redundancy
costs.

Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses for the year ended 31
December 2024 increased by 1.6% to RMB141.9 million from
RMB139.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
primarily attributed to the increase in staff costs for research and
development.

Finance costs

Finance costs mainly represent interests on discounted bills,
interest portion of lease liabilities and borrowings. The Group’s
finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2024 remained
relatively stable at RMB36.2 million as compared with RMB36.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR D

Income tax expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s income
tax expenses amounted to RMB4.7 million as compared with
RMB8.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
decrease in income tax expenses was primarily attributed to the
decrease in assessable profits for the year ended 31 December
2024.

Net profit for the year

As a result of the above factors, the Group recorded a net profit
of RMB15.6 million (2023: RMB31.0 million) for the year ended
31 December 2024. The Group’s net profit margin reduced to
0.5% for the year ended 31 December 2024 from 1.1% for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

Trade and bills receivables

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s trade and bills receivables
amounted to RMB587.4 million (31 December 2023: RMB808.8
million). The significant decrease in trade and bills receivables
as at 31 December 2024 was primarily attributed to settlements
received from customers. The Group generally grants credit
period of 90 days to its customers and allows its PRC customers
to settle their purchases by way of bills with maturity period
ranging from three to seven months.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group carefully assesses the
background information and credit worthiness of its customers
before it decides to grant them credit periods. Further, the Group
also closely monitors the payment record of its customers and
regularly reviews the credit terms granted to them. The Group’s
credit assessment is based on various factors, including but not
limited to the financial strength, size of the business and payment
history of customers and length of their business relationship with
the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR D

The Group’s average trade and bills receivables turnover days for
the year ended 31 December 2024 were 87.3 days (2023: 64.7
days), which were within the range of credit periods normally
offered by the Group to its customers. The lengthened average
trade and bills receivables turnover days were primarily attributed
to the increase in the average trade and bills receivables balance,
determined by averaging the opening and closing balances for
the period. Based on the dates of the relevant sales invoices,
88.3% of the Group’s trade and bills receivables as at 31
December 2024 aged within 90 days.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recognised
provision for impairment loss allowances of trade and bills
receivables of RMB8.4 million (2023: RMB3.4 million).

The Group applies the simplified approach prescribed by HKFRS
9 to assess the expected credit loss (the “ECL”) on trade
and bills receivables using a lifetime ECL model. The Group
determines the ECL on an individual basis and/or collectively by
using a provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit
loss experience and forward-looking information at the end of
the reporting period, such as general economic conditions of the
industry in which the debtors operate. In line with the Group’s
credit risk management strategy, internal credit ratings are
assigned to customers. Customers are categorised into three
internal credit rating buckets within the provision matrix, based
on shared credit risk characteristics and past due exposure.
The ratings are as follows: (1) Low risk: Customers with good
credit standing; (2) Medium risk: Customers with normal credit
standing; and (3) High risk: Credit-impaired customers. There
has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant
assumptions made during the year ended 31 December 2024.
Debtors with significant outstanding balances with gross carrying
amounts of RMB37.8 million as at 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil)
were assessed individually.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR D

Trade and bills payables

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s trade and bills payables
amounted to RMB2,708.5 million (31 December 2023:
RMB3,158.7 million). The significant decrease in trade and bills
payables as at 31 December 2024 was primarily attributed to
the payments settled with suppliers. Suppliers generally grant
the Group credit period ranging from 30 to 60 days, with certain
suppliers require the Group to make advance payment before
product delivery. The Group has financial risk management
policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled within the
credit timeframe. Certain suppliers allow the Group to settle its
purchases by way of bank acceptance bills and the Group may
also endorse certain bills receivables to its suppliers in order to
settle the trade payable due to them.

The Group’s average trade and bills payables turnover days for
the year ended 31 December 2024 were 402.6 days (2023:
296.5 days). The lengthened average trade and bills payables
turnover days were primarily attributed to the increase in the
average trade and bills payables balance, determined by
averaging the opening and closing balances for the period.

Capital Structure, Liquidity, Financial
Resources and Gearing

The Group mainly funds its business and working capital
requirements by using a balanced mix of internal resources and
borrowings.

The funding mix will be adjusted depending on the costs of
funding and the actual needs of the Group. For the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group recorded a negative cash flow
from operating activities of RMB27.1 million (Year ended 31
December 2023: positive cash flow of RMB56.9 million), primarily
attributed to payments settled with suppliers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR D

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current assets
of RMB286.6 million (31 December 2023: RMB272.8 million),
cash and cash equivalents amounted to RMB79.4 million (31
December 2023: RMB68.0 million), pledged bank deposits of
RMB2,127.3 million (31 December 2023: RMB2,368.4 million)
and borrowings amounted to RMB147.7 million (31 December
2023: RMB154.4 million). The Group’s cash and cash equivalents
and bank borrowings as at 31 December 2024 were mainly
denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had borrowings of
RMB122.9 million (31 December 2023: RMB35.0 million) subject
to fixed interest rates and borrowings of RMB24.8 million (31
December 2023: RMB119.4 million) subject to variable interest
rates. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a current ratio of
1.1 times (31 December 2023: 1.1 times) and gearing ratio of 0.4
(calculated by dividing total debt by total equity) (31 December
2023: 0.4).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s unutilised borrowing
facilities amounted to RMB162.7 million (31 December 2023:
RMB29.8 million).

Capital Expenditure

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group incurred cash
flows on capital expenditures for the purchase of properties,
plant and equipment in the amount of RMB17.6 million (2023:
RMB7.0 million); and intangible assets in the amount of RMBO0.9
million (2023: RMBO0.9 million), respectively.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any capital
commitments (31 December 2023: nil).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities or guarantees (31 December 2023: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR D

Pledge of Assets and Restricted Deposit

As at 31 December 2024, the Group pledged trade and
bills receivables with carrying amount of RMB5.1 million (31
December 2023: RMB73.7 million), bank deposits with carrying
amount of RMB2,127.3 million (31 December 2023: RMB2,368.4
million) and land and building with carrying amount of RMB47.4
million (31 December 2023: RMB47.6 million) to secure its
borrowings and banking facilities.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of
Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not
have any material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group disposed
of a wholly owned subsidiary at a consideration of approximately
RMB14.4 million and recognised a loss on disposal of
approximately RMBO0.4 million. Immediately prior to disposal, this
subsidiary possessed the land use right of a land parcel situated
at Nanhui New Town, Pudong New Area. The disposal was
primarily driven by the Group’s strategic decision to reallocate
resources to its business operations. Other than this disposal, the
Group did not have any other material acquisitions and disposals
of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures in 2023.

Significant Investments Held by the Group

Saved as disclosed herein, the Group did not make any other
significant investments during the year ended 31 December
2024.

Future Plans for Material Investments and
Capital Assets

Saved as disclosed herein, the Group did not have any future
plans for material investments and capital assets during the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR D

Foreign Exchange Risks

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group derived
20.2% (2023: 54.8%) of its total revenue from export sales
and these export sales were principally denominated in USD.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had USD-denominated
monetary assets with carrying amount of RMB142.7 million (31
December 2023: RMB211.9 million) and USD-denominated
monetary liabilities of RMB109.4 million (31 December 2023:
RMB221.5 million). The Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from its export sales, monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies. Any appreciation of RMB
against USD will have a negative impact on the Group’s profit
margin. Management of the Group regularly reviews the impact
of exchange risk exposure on the Group’s financial performance
and may use foreign exchange hedging instruments to reduce
the Group’s exchange risk exposure if appropriate.

Employees, Remuneration Policy and
Training

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 1,414 employees (31
December 2022: 1,328 employees), whose remunerations and
benefits are determined based on market rates, government
policies and individual performance. For the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group’s total staff costs (including
directors’ emoluments, salaries, allowances and other benefits
and contributions to retirement benefits scheme) amounted
to RMB188.8 million (2023: RMB145.0 million). To provide
incentives or rewards to its employees, the Company adopted
a share option scheme, particulars of which are set out in the
section headed “Share option scheme” in this report. The Group
provides comprehensive training and development opportunities
to its employees on a regular basis. The trainings are arranged
according to needs of employees, which are identified annually
by individual departments.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR D

Pension Scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the
PRC are required to participate in a state-managed retirement
benefit scheme (the “Defined Contribution Scheme”) operated
by the PRC government. The Group is required to contribute
a certain percentage of basic payroll costs to the Defined
Contribution Scheme.

The Group’s contributions to the Defined Contribution Scheme
vest fully and immediately with the employees. Accordingly, (i)
for the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no forfeiture
of contributions under the Defined Contribution Scheme; and
(i) there were no forfeited contributions available for the Group
to reduce its existing level of contributions to the Defined
Contribution Scheme as at 31 December 2024. The contributions
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the Defined Contribution Scheme.

Event after the reporting period

Saved as disclosed herein, the Group does not have any
important events after the year ended 31 December 2024 and up
to the date of this annual report.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERSREEASRHN

Executive Directors

Mr. LI Chengjun (Z & &), aged 52, is an executive Director,
the chief executive officer and the chairman of the Board
and is mainly responsible for corporate strategic planning,
overseeing the overall operations, day-to-day management
and business development of the Group. Mr. Li established
Shenzhen Sprocomm Telecommunication Technology Co.,
Ltd.* (R YIKE B (=R B R A F]) (“Shenzhen Sprocomm”),
the main operating subsidiary of the Group, with Mr. Xiong
Bin on 16 September 2009. He is also currently the director
of the Company’s subsidiaries, namely Shenzhen Sprocomm,
Sprocomm Intelligence (HK) Holdings Limited (7K & & #E 12 A%
AR A7), Sprocomm Technologies Co., Ltd. (& & # 12 Bl &
£ R 2 &), Sprocomm Technologies Co., Ltd. (K & & = &
B (&%) ABR A 7)), Guizhou Sprocomm Telecommunication
Technology Co., Ltd.* (B /MK & @ (= RHE B R A &), Chengdu
Sprocomm Cloud Technology Co., Ltd.* (A& A E ZERIFE AR
A 8)), Guizhou Mars Exploration Technology Co., Ltd.* (& /!
KEFRREHEA BR2A7A), Grace Kirin Limited (£ BB R 2 7)),
Xiaohe Growth Shenzhen Technology Co., Ltd.* (/NARBK &R
R+ ABR A7) and Shenzhen Fengma New Energy Technology
Co., Ltd.* (Y@ ¥ e IR B 5B R A 7). Mr. Li is a director
of Leap Elite Limited, a controlling Shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Li has more than 20 years of relevant experience in the
mobile communications industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Li held a senior management position in the wireless network
department and terminal department of Shenzhen Huawei
Technologies Co., Ltd* (% JI1 2 & .17 B BR A &), a company
principally engaged in the telecommunication equipment
business from April 1997 to February 2007, where he was mainly
responsible for the research and development of communication
terminal and sales and marketing. From August 2007 to June
2009, Mr. Li served as the chief executive officer of the business
operation headquarters of SIM Technology Group Limited (&l
Bl &= E AR A7) (stock code of Stock Exchange: 02000)
(“SIM Technology”), a company whose shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange and is principally engaged in the manufacturing,
design and development and sale of liquid crystal display
modules, mobile handset solutions, and wireless communication
module solutions, where he was mainly responsible for
overseeing its PRC operation and management. Mr. Li graduated
from Beihang University (1t AT ZE MR A ER) in July 1994 with a
bachelor degree majoring in electrical technology, and then,
graduated with a master degree of engineering in March 1997.

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. XIONG Bin (& #2), aged 47, is an executive Director and
vice chairman of the Board and is mainly responsible for
overseeing the sales and marketing of the Group. Mr. Xiong is
one of the founders of Shenzhen Sprocomm on 16 September
2009. He is also currently the director and vice general manager
of Shenzhen Sprocomm, the director of Windhorse Technologies
INC. (2B &R 5 # e R B # A BR A 7)) and the supervisor of
Shanghai Sprocommm Telecommunication Technology Co., Ltd.*
(EFRK BREMEER D A), Guizhou Sprocomm
Telecommunication Technology Co., Ltd.* (& N K & 8 {= & &%
AR A A]), Guizhou Mars Exploration Technology Co., Ltd.* (&
MoK 2R ZE R A B A A]), Shenzhen Fengma New Energy
Technology Co., Ltd.* (RIINE 5 ¥ e R EH B R A F)) and
Luzhou Sprocomm Telecommunication Technology Co., Ltd.* (/&
MAREBEREARRAG]) (formerly known as Luzhou Sipukang
Technology Co., Ltd.* (EM B & EEHL A R 2 7). Mr. Xiong is
a director of Beyond Innovation Limited, a controlling Shareholder
of the Company. Mr. Xiong has over 15 years of relevant
experience in the mobile communications industry. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Xiong served in Amoi Electronics Co., Ltd.
(E#E FMRD BB A A) (“Amoi Electronics”) from July 1999
to May 2008, where he first served as the vice general manager
of finance department responsible for handling the export
business and finance work of the overseas subsidiaries and later
as the vice general manager of the overseas sales department
responsible for overseas sales of smartphone products. Amoi
Electronics is principally engaged in research, manufacturing and
sales of smartphone and other electronic products. From May
2008 to August 2009, Mr. Xiong served as the general manager
of the overseas sales department of SIM Technology, where he
was mainly responsible for marketing and sales of the overseas
smartphone ODM business. Mr. Xiong graduated from Huazhong
University of Science and Technology (% A 3£ T K £) in June
1999 and obtained a bachelor degree of economics majoring in
taxation. Mr. Xiong also obtained the qualification of Certified
Public Accountant (non-practising) in the PRC in December
2004.

* For identification purpose only
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Mr. GUO Qinglin (28 B #k), aged 42, is an executive Director
and is mainly responsible for managing the operation of supply
chain and sales activities of the Group. He is also currently the
director of the supply chain operation centre of Shenzhen
Sprocomm and a supervisor of Shenzhen Sprocomm. Mr. Guo
has approximately 13 years of relevant experience in the mobile
communications industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Guo
served as a manager in the overseas sales department of Amoi
Electronics from September 2005 to December 2008, where he
was mainly responsible for developing overseas customers,
maintaining the customer relationship and sales of the company’s
main products. From April 2009 to December 2009, Mr. Guo
served as sales director in the overseas sales department of
Nanjing Wanlida Technology Co., Ltd.* (35 &8 M Z R AR D
A]), a company principally engaged in the production of
computers, mobile phones and projectors, where he was mainly
responsible for developing overseas customers, maintaining the
customer relationship and sales of the company’s main products.
Mr. Guo graduated from Jimei University* (£ 3 X £) in July
2005 and obtained a bachelor degree of economics majoring in
international economy and trading.

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. WEN Chuanchuan (i&)I1JI]), aged 39, was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 1 June 2021. Prior to Mr.
Wen'’s appointment as an executive Director, he is a member of
the senior management of the Company. Since 21 September
2016, Mr. Wen has been serving as the director of the
manufacturing centre of Shenzhen Sprocomm
Telecommunication Technology Co., Ltd.* (R JII K & 8 15 B &
B BR A F]), a company established under the laws of the PRC
and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
has been responsible for supervising the operation of the
production plants of the Group. He is also currently (i) the director
and general manager of Luzhou Sprocomm Telecommunication
Technology Co., Ltd.* (& /I K & & {5 Bt B R 2 7)), formerly
known as Luzhou Sipukang Technology Co., Ltd.* (J& /N & & 5
B AR A 7)), a company established under the laws of the
PRC and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company;
and (i) the general manager of Chengdu Sprocomm Cloud
Technology Co., Ltd.* (A& K & 2R B R A 7]), a company
established under the laws of the PRC and an indirect non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Wen worked as an assistant engineer of Huawei
Machine Company Limited* (¥ & # 25 & R A A1), a company
principally engaged in research, development, manufacturing and
sales of communication products from July 2011 to October
2014, where he was mainly responsible for reviewing the
manufacturing plan and leading trial verification for new
smartphone products. Mr. Wen served as a director of the
assembly plant of Shenzhen Andao Yunke Company Limited* ()%
Iz BERE D AR R F]), a company principally engaged in
development and manufacturing of smart terminals, capacitive
touch screens, machine assembly, metal and glass components
and mobile phone accessories from November 2014 to
September 2016, where he was responsible for the
establishment of machine assembly department and assisting in
the operation of the company’s departments and subsidiaries.

Mr. Wen graduated from the Northwest A&F University (75 1t &
MEH K E) with a bachelor’s degree of management majoring
in electronic commerce in the PRC in July 2008. In June 2011,
Mr. Wen graduated from the Xi’an Jiaotong University* (78 &2 2%
KB %5 1 2[7) and obtained a master’s degree of engineering
majoring in industrial engineering.

* For identification purpose only
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Mr. HE Wenyuan ({1 X ¥ ), aged 44, was appointed as an
executive Director, with effect from 2 December 2024. Prior to
Mr. He'’s appointment as an executive director of the Company,
he is a member of the senior management of the Company
responsible for overseeing and managing the Group’s research
and development. Since 24 November 2009, Mr. He has been
serving as the vice president and director of software research
and development of Shanghai Sprocomm Telecommunication
Technology Co., Ltd.* (EBE R BB ERMTAER QA F), a
company established under the laws of the PRC and an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Since 1 June 2021,
Mr. He has been serving as the president, managing director and
legal representative of Shanghai Sprocomm Telecommunication
Technology Co., Ltd.* (_E/8 K& B & i1 B R A 7). Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. He worked as software engineer of Huanda
Computing Shanghai Company Limited* (32:ZE 8 H/8GR A
A]), a company principally engaged in hardware and software
research and development for intelligent terminal products from
July 2003 to December 2005, where he was mainly responsible
for development of software for smart phones. Mr. He worked
as senior software engineer of Huaqgin Technology Co., Ltd*
(EEF R M PP B BR A7), a company principally engaged in
research and development, manufacturing and operating of
smart products from December 2005 to June 2007, where he
was mainly responsible for development of software for smart
phones as well as project management. Mr. He worked as head
of the 6th research and development department of Huanda
Computing Shanghai Company Limited* GRZE 4 L /8GR A
a)]) from September 2007 to April 2009, where he was mainly
responsible for leading the team on research and development
of smart phones and car navigation. Mr. He graduated from
Sichuan University with a bachelor’s degree of computer science
and technology in July 2003.

* For identification purpose only
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Mr. CHAN Hoi Shu (B8 &), aged 55, was appointed as an
executive Director, with effect from 2 December 2024. Mr. Chan
is the founder and chairman of GGS Innovation Ltd. since April
2021, which supported new startup companies to develop
Web3.0 application on music entertainment and provided
services to business partners regarding the technical support
for product design, operation efficiency improvement and
global network development. Mr. Chan is the chairman and co-
founder of F&B Innovation (HK) Ltd since June 2024, which is
the modular integrated construction system provider to speed up
building construction by modularising assembly.

Prior to joining the Group, from February 2018 to March 2020,
Mr. Chan was the chief operating officer of HMD Global Oy,
based in Shenzhen and Hong Kong, during his tenor, Mr. Chan
drove various changes on the company’s product portfolio,
market segmentation, research and development strategy, use
of ODM platform, supply chain management system, product
design and Ul engineering, etc, which turned the company’s loss
into profit.

Mr. Chan graduated from University of Portsmouth with a
bachelor’s degree of mechanical engineering in July 1993. In
December 1996, Mr. Chan graduated from The University of
Hong Kong and obtained a master’s degree of science majoring
in computer in manufacturing. In December 2000, Mr. Chan
graduated from Murray State University and obtained a master’s
degree of business administration majoring in finance and
business administration.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. HUNG Wai Man JP (3£ A R), aged 56, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 18 October 2019. Mr.
Hung is a Deputy to the 13th National People’s Congress, and
Adjunct Professor of the Belt and Road Research Institute of
Hainan University.

Mr. Hung is a seasoned ICT professional and angel investor. He
has worked in the computer industry for over 30 years. A well-
known figure in the industry, Mr. Hung has extensive experience
in management consulting, project management and outsourcing
services. Mr. Hung is a Chartered Information Technology
Professional and a fellow of the British Computer Society, the
Hong Kong Institute of Directors, the Hong Kong Computer
Society and the Internet Professional Association. He has been
appointed as one of the Global Council Members by the World
Summit Awards.

Mr. Hung is currently Executive Chairman of Chinese Big Data
Society, Life Chairman Emeritus of the Y.Elites Association,
President Emeritus of Internet Professional Association,
Vice Chairman of the Monte Jade Science and Technology
Association of Hong Kong, Secretary General of Hong Kong -
ASEAN Economic Cooperation Foundation and Vice Chairman
of New Territories General Chamber of Commerce etc. In 2012
to 2014, he had served as an associate member of the Central
Policy Unit of the HKSAR Government. In 2008, Mr. Hung was
selected as one of the Ten Outstanding Young Persons of Hong
Kong. He was a Standing Committee Member of the 11th All
China Youth Federation. In 2015, he was appointed as a Justice
of the Peace by the Hong Kong SAR Government. In 2016, he
was given the Asia Social Innovation Leadership Award by CMO
Asia.
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Mr. Hung graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
with a Higher Diploma in Maths, Statistics and Computing. He
then obtained a BA (Hons) from the University of Bolton, MBA
from the University of Hull and MA in Public and Comparative
History from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He also
obtained a LLM and LLD from the Renmin University of China,
a Master of Public Administration from Tsinghua University, a
Master of Business Administration (Executive) from City University
of Hong Kong and PhD in Business Administration from Bulacan
State University, the Philippines.

Mr. Hung is currently an independent non-executive director of
LH Group Limited (stock code: 01978), Sino Hotels (Holdings)
Limited (stock code: 01221) and K Cash Corporation Limited
(stock code: 02483), the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. WONG Kwan Kit (E &), aged 52, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 18 October 2019. Mr.
Wong has over 21 years of experience in accounting and financial
management, mergers and acquisitions gained from certain
finance related positions of companies listed in Hong Kong. Mr.
Wong is currently an independent non-executive director of Man
Sang International Limited (stock code: 00938) and Culturecom
Holdings Limited (stock code: 00343), both of companies are
listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong holds a Master of
Business Administration degree from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.
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Mr. LU Brian Yong Chen (& 7k 2f), aged 61, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 18 October
2019. Mr. Lu has served as an independent non-executive
Director of InvesTech Holdings Limited (stock code: 1087), a
company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange and
is principally engaged in designs, development and provision
of communication system and manufacture and sale of signal
transmission and connectivity products from June 2015 to
January 2023. Mr. Lu has over 22 years of management
experience in Fortune 100 companies in Australia, Hong
Kong and the PRC, assisting in their business transformation
and growth. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lu served as a
manager, design/architecture of IBM Australia Limited, a
company principally engaged in manufacturing and selling
computer hardware and software and providing relevant services
from May 1995 to April 2001, where he was responsible for
managing network architecture. From April 2001 to June 2012,
Mr. Lu then served as a client unit executive in the IBM global
technology services department of IBM China/Hong Kong
Limited, a company principally engaged in manufacturing and
selling computer hardware and software and providing relevant
services, where he was responsible for the department’s strategic
planning and execution. Mr. Lu was an industry consultant of
IBM (China) Company Limited, a company principally engaged in
manufacturing and selling computer hardware and software and
providing relevant services from June 2012 to June 2015.

Mr. Lu graduated from South China University of Technology
(ZEmIE T K2) with a bachelor degree majoring in engineering
in Computer Science in July 1986 and from the University of
New South Wales, Australia with a master degree of information
science in October 1994.
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Ms. TSENG Chin | (& & #), aged 56, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 18 October 2019.
Ms. Tseng is a member of the 14th National Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, the host/
producer of “Financial Journal” at Phoenix TV, a standing
committee member of Hong Kong Federation of Journalists
Ltd, the founding vice president of GBA Carbon Neutrality
Association, an honorary advisor of the Greater Bay Area
Association of Listed Companies, an honorary advisor to the
Hong Kong Science & Technology Youth Federation, and also
an honorary advisor to Hong Kong Web 3.0 Association. She is
also a partner of BC Capital Group and the president of the BC
Philanthropic Foundation.

Ms. Tseng graduated from Fu Jen Catholic University (X &
%1 K &) with a bachelor degree of arts majoring in mass
communication in June 1991.

Ms. Tseng has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Geely Automobile Holdings Limited (stock code: 175),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
24 March 2025.

Mr. CHING Khei Cheong Christopher (28 &), aged 56,
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, with
effect from 2 December 2024. Mr. Ching, holds a master degree
of laws from the University of Central Lancashire. Mr. Ching
has over 30 years of experience in regulatory and compliance
area particular in the financial industry. Mr. CHING held various
senior positions in global financial institutions such as Huatai
Financial Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited, ICBC International
Holdings Limited, Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch and
Merrill Lynch Asia Pacific Limited managing their compliance
function. Prior to these appointments, Mr CHING was one of
the appointed investigators at the Enforcement Division of the
Securities and Futures Commission for over 9 years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERSREEASEHN

Senior Management

Mr. LIU Shangheng (%l 4 18), aged 41, has been serving as
the financial controller of Shenzhen Sprocomm since December
2011. He is also a director of Shanghai Hemiao Chuangxian
Intelligent Technology Co., Ltd.* ( E/8 K& &l B sERHE B R A
al).

Mr. Liu has over 10 years of experience in financial work and
management. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Liu held office
relating to cost accounting in Qingdao Haixin Communication
Technology Company Limited* (& & /&5 RB{ERIMTAER A7), a
company principally engaged in research, development,
manufacturing and sales of mobile communication terminal
products from August 2006 to October 2008, where he was
mainly responsible for production cost accounting, cost analysis
and control related work. Mr. Liu then served as a director of
finance in Shenzhen Xiongtao Power Supply Technology
Company Limited* (RIS R EKR B ER AR, a
company principally engaged in research, manufacturing and
sales of battery from November 2008 to October 2011, where he
was mainly responsible for cost accounting and preparing the
financial statements and analysis.

Mr. Liu graduated from the Zhongnan University of Economics
and Law (7 BF & BUE K 2) in June 2006 and obtained two
bachelor degrees majoring in accounting and economics.

* For identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance practices and procedures with a view
to being a transparent and responsible organisation which is
open and accountable to the shareholders of the Company. The
Board strives to adhere to the principles of corporate governance
and has adopted sound corporate governance practices to
meet the legal and commercial standards, focusing on areas
such as internal control, fair disclosure and accountability to all
shareholders of the Company to ensure the transparency and
accountability of all operations of the Company. The Company
believes that effective corporate governance is an essential
factor to create more value for the shareholders of the Company.
The Board will continue to review and improve the corporate
governance practices of the Group from time to time to ensure
that the Group is led by an effective Board in order to optimise
return.

Corporate culture and strategy

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries include research and
development, design, manufacture and sale of mobile phones,
PCBAs for mobile phones and loT related products. The Group
is committed to provide high quality and reliable products and
services, and to create values to the stakeholders through
sustainable growth and continuous development.

The Board fosters a corporate culture by setting out the following
values to guide the conduct and behaviours of employees and
to ensure that the Company’s vision, mission and business
strategies are aligned to this corporate culture:

—_

Integrity — we strive to do what is right;

2. Excellence — we aim to deliver excellence;

3. Collaboration — we are always better together;

4. Accountability — we are accountable for delivering on our
commitments;

5. Empathy — we care about our stakeholders — employees,
customers, supply chain and the community; and

6. Sustainability — we are committed to a sustainable future.
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The Group will continue to review and adjust its business
strategies and keep track of the changing market conditions to
ensure prompt and proactive measures will be taken to respond
to the changes and meet the market needs to support the
continuous business development of the Group.

Adoption and compliance of corporate
governance practices

The Company has adopted a set of corporate governance
practices which aligns with the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1
of The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) since 13 November 2019. Except
for code provision C.2.1, the Company has complied with the
code provisions set out in the CG Code for the year ended 31
December 2024.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code states that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Under the current
organisation structure of the Company, Mr. Li Chengjun is the
Group’s chief executive officer, and he also performs as the
chairman of the Board as he has considerable experience in
the mobile communication industry. The Board believes that
vesting the roles of both the chairman of our Board and the chief
executive officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring
consistent leadership within the Group and enables more
effective and efficient overall strategic planning of the Group.
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Although Mr. Li Chengjun performs both the roles of chairman
of the board and chief executive officer, the division of
responsibilities between the chairman of the board and chief
executive officer is clearly established. In general, the chairman
of the board is responsible for supervising the functions and
performance of the Board, while the chief executive officer is
responsible for the management of the Group’s businesses. The
two roles are performed by Mr. Li Chengjun distinctly. Further,
the current structure does not impair the balance of power and
authority between the Board and management of the Company
given the appropriate delegation of the power of the Board
and the effective functions of the independent non-executive
Directors.

Model code for securities transactions
by directors of listed issuers (the “Model
Code”)

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions. All Directors have confirmed
that, following specific enquiry by the Company, they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
for the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report.

Chairman and chief executive officer

CG Code provisions C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. The Company does not
segregate the roles of chairman and chief executive officer and
Mr. Li Chengjun currently holds both of the chairman and chief
executive officer positions, as explained in the paragraph headed
“Adoption and compliance of corporate governance practices”
above in this Corporate Governance Report.
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Independent non-executive directors

The independent non-executive Directors are highly skilled
professionals with a broad range of expertise and experience
in the fields of accounting, finance, business and corporate
governance. Their skills, expertise and number in the Board
ensure that strong independent views and judgement are
brought in the Board’s deliberations and that such views and
judgement carry weight in the Board’s decision-making process.
Their presence and participation also enable the Board to
maintain high standards of compliance in financial and other
mandatory reporting requirements, and provide adequate checks
and balances to safeguard the interests of the Company and its
shareholders. The Company annually assesses the independence
of each independent non-executive Director during their terms
of appointment. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors a written confirmation of their independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all
the independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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The Board

The Board currently comprises six executive Directors and five
independent non-executive Directors. The Board’s composition
as at 31 December 2024 is set out as follows:

E=xg

EZeRANRRTESRAREY
EXEK - R_F-_WF+-_A=t—H &

AT

EemAREINWT

Executive Directors BITEE
Date of joining
Name Age Gender the Group Roles and responsibilities
HE Fie 4 Bl A EBE B H BERBE
Mr. Li Chengjun 52 Male 16 September 2009 Corporate strategic planning, overseeing
THRELE £ —ETEAFNATRA the overall operations, day-to-day
management and business development
of the Group
REEHNRRIREAE  BEERES
E BFEREREBEE
Mr. Xiong Bin 47 Male 16 September 2009 Overseeing the sales and marketing of
AR SR A £ —ETEAFNATNA the Group
EEAREENHE RTISHEE
Mr. Wen Chuanchuan 39 Male 21 September 2016 Overseeing the production of the Group
I 5 A& ES ZE-R"FNAZ+—H EEXKEMNEE
Mr. Guo Qinglin 42 Male 18 January 2010 Managing the operation of supply chain
SLEMRE A E —ZE-ZF—-HA+N\H and sales activities of the Group
ERAEENHEBEERHEELRD
Mr. He Wenyuan 44 Male 2 December 2024 Overseeing and managing the Group’s
{A] ST 5 A ES —E-NFE+=RA=H research and development
EEEEREAEEAMHE
Mr. Chan Hoi Shu 55 Male 2 December 2024 Overseeing the investment projects of
PRIGE R AE = —E-mFE+=-A=H the Group
EEAEENIREEA
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Independent Non-executive Directors
Date of joining

BAFHTES

Name Age Gender  the Group Roles and responsibilities

HE Fie 14 5l MAREBEW A H BERBE

Mr. Hung Wai Man 56 Male 18 October 2019 Supervising and providing independent

HABREE 5 “E—NF+A+/\H  judgement to the Board
EERAREEGIRMEIE A

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit 52 Male 18 October 2019 Supervising and providing independent

BENEE 5 “E—NF+A+/\H  judgement to the Board
EERAREEGIRMIE A

Mr. Lu Brian Yong Chen 61 Male 18 October 2019 Supervising and providing independent

BKEBRE A 3 —ZT—AF+A+/\H judgement to the Board
EERAREEGIRMEIE AL

Ms. Tseng Chin | 56 Female 18 October 2019 Supervising and providing independent

BRIz = —ZT—AF+A+/\H judgement to the Board
EERAREFGIRMEIE AL

Mr. Ching Khei Cheong 56 Male 2 December 2024 Supervising and providing independent

Christopher 5B “Z-MF+=-H-H judgement to the Board

BWHERE

For the biographical details of and relationships among the
members of the Board, please refer to the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this
annual report.

The Directors believe that the composition of the Board reflects
the necessary balance of skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business development of the Group and for
effective leadership as the executive Directors possess extensive
experience in managing the Group’s business operations; and
professional knowledge in the telecommunication and internet
industry, while the five independent non-executive Directors
possess professional knowledge and broad experience in
accounting, finance, business and corporate governance. The
Directors are of the opinion that the current Board structure
can ensure the independence and objectivity of the Board and
provide a system of checks and balances to safeguard the
interests of the Company and its shareholders.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company. It also oversees the Group’s business, strategic
decisions and performance and is collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Company by directing and
supervising its affairs. Directors of the Board shall take decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company and its shareholders.
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Board independence

The Group has established mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board and such mechanisms
will be reviewed annually by the Board. During the year ended 31
December 2024, the Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the following mechanisms at the Board meeting:

1. Five out of the eleven Directors are independent non-
executive directors, which exceeds the requirement of
the Listing Rules that at least one-third of the Board are
independent non-executive directors;

2. The Nomination Committee will assess the independence
of a candidate who is nominated to be a new independent
non-executive director before appointment and the
continued independence of the current long-serving
independent non-executive director (if any) on an annual
basis;

3. All independent non-executive Directors are required to
submit a written confirmation to the Company annually
to confirm the independence of each of them and their
immediate family members, and their compliance with the
requirements as set out in the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules;

4. Al Directors are entitled to retain independent professional
advisors as and when it is required;

5. All Directors are encouraged to express freely their
independent views and constructive challenges during the
Board/Committee meetings;

6. No equity-based remuneration with performance-related
elements will be granted to independent non-executive
Directors;

7. A Director (including independent non-executive Director)
who has a material interest in a contract, transaction or
arrangement shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on
any Board resolution approving the same; and

8. The chairman of the Board meets with independent non-
executive Directors annually without the presence of the
Executive Directors.
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Appointment, re-election and removal of
directors

Each of the executive Directors, expect Mr. Wen Chuanchuan,
Mr. He Wenyuan and Mr. Chan Hoi Shu has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of three years
commencing on 13 November 2019, until terminated by enter
party giving not less than three months’ notice in writing to the
other.

Mr. Wen Chuanchuan was appointed as an executive Director
on 1 June 2021 and he has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 June
2021, until terminated by either party giving not less than three
months’ notice in writing to the other. Mr. He Wenyuan and
Mr. Chan Hoi Shu were appointed as executive Directors, with
effect from 2 December 2024. Each of Mr. He and Mr. Chan has
entered into a service contract with the Company. Pursuant to
the service contracts with Mr. He and Mr. Chan, the initial term of
office for both Mr. He and Mr. Chan is three years commencing
from 2 December 2024 or until the third annual general meeting
of the Company since the date of their appointment, whichever is
sooner.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors except
Mr. CHING Khei Cheong Christopher has entered into an
appointment letter with the Company for a term of three years
commencing on 13 November 2019. Each of the independent
non-executive Directors except Mr. CHING Khei Cheong
Christopher has renewed the appointment letter with the
Company on 13 November 2022 and such appointment will be
terminated by either party giving not less than three months’
notice in writing to the other; and in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles”) and the Listing
Rules.

Mr. Ching Kei Cheong Christopher was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, with effect from 2 December
2024. A service contract has been entered into between Mr.
Ching and the Company. Pursuant to the service contract, his
initial term of office is three years commencing from 2 December
2024 or until the third annual general meeting of the Company
since the date of his appointment, whichever is sooner.
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According to article 109(a) of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting one third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by
rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed
for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election. The Company at the general meeting at which a
Director retires may fill the vacated office.

According to article 113 of the Articles, the Board shall have
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person
as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional
Director, provided that the number of Directors so appointed
shall not exceed the maximum number determined from time
to time by the shareholders in general meeting. Any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office
only until the first general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting. Any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.
Any Director appointed under this article shall not be taken into
account in determining the Directors or the number of Directors
who are to retire by rotation at an annual general meeting.

According to 109(a) and 113 of the Articles, Mr. Li Chengjun,
Mr. Xiong Bin, Ms. Tseng Chin |, Mr. He Wenyuan, Mr. Chan
Hoi Shu and Mr. Ching Khei Cheong Christopher will retire by
rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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Board diversity policy

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) on 12 November 2019, which sets out the
objective and approach to achieve and maintain diversity on
the Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.
The Board Diversity Policy provides that the Company should
endeavor to ensure that the Board members have the appropriate
balance of skills, experience, and diversity of perspectives that
are required to support the execution of its business strategy.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against appropriate criteria and the
attributes that they will bring to the Board to complement and
enrich the competencies, experience and diversity of the Board.
Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, a number of factors will
be taken into account in determining the board composition to
achieve board diversity, including but not limited to professional
experience, skills, knowledge, age, gender, education, cultural
background and length of service.

The Nomination Committee reviews the Board Diversity Policy
from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness, such
as assessing annually on the board’s diversity profile and
gender balance. The Nomination Committee would discuss any
revisions to the Board Diversity Policy that may be required and
recommend any such revisions and the appointment of suitable
candidates to the Board for consideration and approval.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination
Committee reviewed the structure, size and composition of
the Board with reference to the Board Diversity Policy in order
to comply with the CG Code. The Company considers that
the current composition of the Board, one out of its eleven
members being woman, has achieved Board diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors, including gender,
nationality, professional background and skills. The current
Directors have extensive experience in mobile communications
industry and professional knowledge of corporate advisory,
business development and accounting.
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Nomination policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the criteria, process and procedures for
the Nomination Committee to recommend suitable candidates for
directorship with a view to ensuring that the Board has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the requirements of the Company’s business.

Selection criteria
The Nomination Committee will propose a candidate for
nomination or a Director for re-election based on the followings:

the Board Diversity Policy and the requirements under the
Listing Rules;

—  the expected contribution the candidate would add to the
Board and to ensure the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business;

—  the candidate or the re-elected Director is able to commit
and devote sufficient time and attention to the Company’s
affairs;

—  the level of independence from the Company, and potential
or actual conflicts of interest of the candidate or the re-
elected Director; and

—  other relevant factors considered by Nomination Committee
on a case-by-case basis.

The aforesaid factors are for reference only, and not meant to
be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the
discretion to nominate any person as it considers appropriate.
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Nomination process

The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring that the
selection criteria are being applied consistently and fairly in the
nomination process and confirming the same to the Board when
making its recommendation on appointment.

A.

44

Procedures for appointment of new Director
Subject to the provisions in the Articles, if the Board
recognises the need to appoint a new Director, the following
procedures should be adopted:

the Nomination Committee identifies candidates in
accordance with the selection criteria set out in the
Nomination Policy and with the assistance from the
Group’s human resources department and external
agencies (if necessary);

the Nomination Committee evaluates the candidates
and recommends to the Board the appointment of the
appropriate candidate for directorship; and

the Board decides the appointment based upon the
recommendation of the Nomination Committee.

Procedures for re-election of Director at general
meeting

Procedures for re-election of Director at general meeting are
set out as follows:

the Nomination Committee reviews the overall
contribution to the Company of the retiring Director;

the Nomination Committee also reviews and
determines whether the retiring Director continues to
meet the selection criteria set out in the Nomination
Policy; and

the Nomination Committee shall recommend to the
Board which shall then make recommendation to
shareholders in respect of the proposed re-election of
Director at the general meeting.
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C. Procedures for nomination by shareholders
Procedures for nomination by shareholders are set out as
follows:

— the Company’s website sets out the procedures for
shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director; and

—  for any person that is nominated by a shareholder for
election as a Director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee shall evaluate
such candidate based on the selection criteria
set out in the Nomination Policy and to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship
and where appropriate, the Nomination Committee
shall recommend to the Board which shall then make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of Director at the general meeting.

Monitoring and reporting

The Nomination Committee will report annually, in the Corporate
Governance section of the Company’s Annual Report, how
the Policy is being applied in recommending candidates for
directorship and retiring Directors for re-election during the year.

Review of the Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy
periodically in line with the Company’s strategy and recommend
any proposed changes to the Board for approval.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination
Committee conducted the followings:

— evaluated the candidates and recommended to the
Board the appointment of the appropriate candidates for
directorship;

—  reviewed and confirmed the structure, size and composition
of the Board and the split between number of executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors
remained appropriate for the Board to perform its duties;

— reviewed and confirmed the Board has a diverse mix of
skills, knowledge, experience and gender;

—  reviewed the Board Diversity Policy; and

- formulated the Nomination Policy and made a
recommendation to the Board for adoption.

Proceedings of board meetings and board
committee meetings

The Board may meet for the dispatch of business, adjourn and
otherwise regulate its meeting and proceedings as it thinks fit
and may determine the quorum necessary for the transaction
of business. An annual general meeting of the Company (the
“AGM”) shall be called by at least 21 days’ (and not less than
20 clear business days’) notice in writing, and a general meeting
of the Company, other than an AGM, shall be called by at least
14 days’ (and not less than 10 clear business days’) notice in
writing. A meeting of the Board or any committee of the Board
may be held by means of such telephone, electronic or other
communication facilities as permit all persons participating in the
meeting.

A Director shall not vote (nor shall he be counted in the quorum)
on any resolution of the Board in respect of any contract
or arrangement or proposal in which he or any of his close
associate(s) has/have a material interest, and if he shall do so his
vote shall not be counted (nor shall he be counted in the quorum
for that resolution).
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Set out below are details of the attendance record of each
Director at the Board, committee and general meetings of the
Company held during the year ended 31 December 2024

UTHEINSESHFEE S _WF+ A
=+ HIFEMBTHNARREESSH
ZEeEZ ABRRRNENFMLE

Attendance/Number of Meetings Held

HEE/SREMTRY
Regular Audit Nomination ~ Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
Name of Directors ESHA EREZEeE BNZESeY ReZEeed FHZEeel REAE
Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Li Chengjun THRERL 4/4 - 11 = 1
Mr. Xiong Bin B 4/4 - - - 1N
Mr. Li Hongxing TERE 4/4 = = - 17
Mr. Guo Qinglin DEMTE 4/4 = = = 1N
Mr. Wen Chuanchuan BIIEE 4/4 = = = =
Mr. He Wenyuan E)S bt N/A - - - N/A
(appointed on 2 December 2024) (RZE=m& TER TER
+-BZREZH)
Mr. Chan Hoi Shu REEx4 N/A - - - N/A
(appointed on 2 December 2024) (R=Z=m& TER TER
+-BZREZH)

Independent Non-Executive Directors B F#{TES
Mr. Hung Wai Man HAREE 4/4 2/2 - 1 =
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEARE 4/4 2/2 11 11 1N
Mr. Lu Brian Yong Chen R 4/4 2/2 17 11 1
Ms. Tseng Chin | LERLT 4/4 - 11 1A 1
Mr. Ching Khei Cheang Christopher BHERE N/A N/A - N/A N/A
(appointed on 2 December 2024) (RZZ=m& TER TER TNEm TER

+-AZREZH)

The Board will make arrangements for holding at least four
regular Board Meetings in each financial year.

The Board has established three committees: (i) the audit
committee (“Audit Committee”); (i) the remuneration committee
(“Remuneration Committee”); and (jii) the nomination committee
(“Nomination Committee”), for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. All committees have been established
with defined written terms of reference, which were posted on
the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkex.com.hk) and the
Company (www.sprocomm.com). All committees should report
to the Board on their decisions or recommendations made. All
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at
the Company’s expense.
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Audit committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 18
October 2019 with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee are available on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee consists of four independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Kwan Kit, Mr. Lu Brian Yong Chen,
Mr. Hung Wan Man and Mr. Ching Khei Cheong Christopher. Mr.
Wong Kwan Kit is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include ensuring
that an effective financial reporting, internal control and risk
management systems are in place and compliance of the
Listing Rules, reviewing the financial statements, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal
of external auditors and assessing their independence and
qualifications, and ensuring the effective communication with
external auditors.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee
held two meetings and the work performed by the Audit
Committee was summarised as follows:

1. reviewed the Company’s interim results for the six months
ended 30 June 2024 and annual results for the year ended
31 December 2023;

2. reviewed the Company’s interim report for the six months
ended 30 June 2024 and annual report for the year ended
31 December 2023, which set out the Group’s accounting
policies, financial performance and position;

3. reviewed the findings and recommendations from external
auditors and the independent internal control reviewer;
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4. reviewed the independence of the external auditors and
engagement of external auditors;

5. made recommendations to the Board regarding the change
of external auditors;

6. reviewed the audit plan, internal control plan, the
development in accounting standards and their effects on
the Group, financial reporting and risk management matters;

7. reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff in the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting functions; and

8. reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems.

Remuneration committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee on
18 October 2019 with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee consists of five independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Hung Wai Man, Mr. Wong Kwan
Kit, Mr. Lu Brian Yong Chen, Ms. Tseng Chin | and Mr. Ching
Khei Cheong Christopher. Mr. Hung Wai Man is the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations to the Board in determining the
remuneration policy for and remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management, reviewing incentive schemes
and service contracts of the Directors and senior management,
and evaluating the performance of the Directors and senior
management.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to review and the work performed
by the Remuneration Committee was summarised as follows:

1. made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of Directors, senior management and employees
of the Group;

2. reviewed the appropriateness of the remuneration policy;
and

3. evaluated the performance of Directors and senior
management of the Group.
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Nomination committee
The Company has established a Nomination Committee on 18
October 2019 with written terms of reference in compliance
with CG Code provision B.3.1. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee consists of four Directors, namely
Mr. Li Chengjun, Mr. Wong Kwan Kit, Mr. Lu Brian Yong Chen
and Ms. Tseng Chin |. Mr. Li Chengjun is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee. In compliance with the Listing Rules, the
Nomination Committee is chaired by the chairman of the Board
and the other members are independent non-executive Directors.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include
assisting the Board in identifying suitable candidates for the
Directors and making recommendations to the Board, assessing
the structure and composition of the Board, preparing, making
recommendations to and supervising the execution of the board
diversity policy and nomination policy of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting and the work performed by the
Nomination Committee was summarised in the paragraph
headed “Nomination policy” of this corporate governance report.

Dividend policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) which aims to ensure sustainable development of its
business operations and to provide a favorable return to its
shareholders.

Declaration of dividend will be made at the discretion of the
Board and will be based upon the Group’s earnings, cash
flows, financial conditions, capital requirements, statutory fund
reserve requirements and any other conditions that our Directors
consider relevant. The declaration, payment and amount of
dividend will also be subject to the Company’s constitutional
documents including, where necessary, the approval of the
shareholders.
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The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and
may exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time as the Board thinks
fit and necessary. There is no assurance that dividends will be
paid in any particular amount for any given period. The Dividend
Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment
by the Company that any dividend will be paid in any particular
amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a
dividend at any time or from time to time.

Whistleblowing policy

In compliance with the CG Code, the Group has implemented
whistleblowing policy to provide a well-defined and accessible
channel for reporting fraud, corruption, dishonest practices, or
other similar matters and guidance on how an investigation would
be initiated upon receiving a complaint. The policy also protects
employees who report fraudulent activities in good faith and
reasonable belief. A whistleblowing officer is elected to ensure
that any reported case is dealt with in an expedited manner.

Upon receiving the complaint, the Board decides the method
of investigation, which may involve appointing an external
consultant for assessment. The Board will monitor and review the
effectiveness of the whistleblowing policy from time to time.

Anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy

In compliance with the CG Code, the Group has implemented
anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy. According to the Group’s
anti-corruption policy, all employees shall abide by the laws
and regulations of the PRC and shall not engage in any illegal
activities. Employees shall uphold the code of ethics, advocate
fair competition and act against bribery. Any bribery, fraud,
money laundering and embezzlement are prohibited.

Employees must not accept or request any improper benefits
including banquets, gifts, securities, valuables and high-
expenditure entertainment activities from business partners,
suppliers and merchants, etc. When there is any alleged case in
violation of laws, regulations, code of conduct or Group’s policies,
the Group will investigate and impose disciplinary actions upon
offenders after verification. The Group also provides trainings to
directors and employees from time to time to ensure that they
comply and familiar with the anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy
of the Group.
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The Board will monitor and review the effectiveness of the anti-
fraud and anti-corruption policy from time to time.

Corporate governance function

The Board does not have a Corporate Governance Committee.
The functions that would be carried out by a Corporate
Governance Committee are performed by the Board as a whole
and are as follows:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The corporate governance policy is formulated with an emphasis
on the Board’s quality, effective internal control, stringent
disclosure practices and transparency and accountability to all
shareholders of the Company. The Board strives to comply with
the code provisions and reviews its corporate governance policy
regularly in order to maintain high standards of business ethics
and corporate governance, and to ensure the full compliance of
the Group’s operations with applicable laws and regulations.
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Continuous professional development BFEEXERE

Pursuant to the CG Code provision C.1.4, all Directors RIEMCEEATENENECILIE  2EES
should participate in a programme of continuous professional EZHGFEHZXUARBIURELTHIHS
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to 2 &0 M Hide MR HSHEESELRAE
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and ~ MABEZ BEt - AR BIZBB B LTHE R BB -
relevant. The Company should be responsible for arranging and WiEE R FAEE AR  BELBE - #2—
funding training, placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles, ZE W&+ _-_A=+—HLtFE E£2H
functions and duties of the Directors. During the year ended  R7I#FEHEHE ¢

31 December 2024, the Directors participated in the following

continuous professional development:

Reading

materials

updating on

new rules and

regulations

MEHHE

Directors' trainings RIARPRRE

Name of Directors EEME EE=E7 M &

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Li Chengjun THEELE v v/

Mr. Xiong Bin AR A v v/

Mr. Guo Qinglin MBEMITE v v

Mr. Wen Chuanchuan BN £ 4 4

Mr. He Wenyuan {a] ST 5 A v v/

Mr. Chan Hoi Shu REERE v v
Independent Non-Executive Directors ~ BMFHTEE

Mr. Hung Wai Man ARREE v v

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEEANLE v 4

Mr. Lu Brian Yong Chen Bk BRI & v v

Ms. Tseng Chin | BEAZLT v/ v/

Mr. Ching Khei Cheong Christopher BHEELE 4 v/

Note: The Company received from each of the Directors the confirmations on  ffi7 - AR BIEEER EER2EFEHEEJINER -
taking continuous professional training.
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Auditor’s remuneration

The Company engaged Moore CPA Limited as its auditor for
the year ended 31 December 2024. There was no disagreement
between the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of the auditor.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration
paid/payable to Moore CPA Limited is set out as follows:

% 24 B % A
HE_ZE-_WF+_A=+—BLEFE XK
NEERRESEESREBKMERA A
REZHA EFQHEREZEGHBE £
T BEIREZHEMEESR DL -

HE-_Z-_WF+_-_A=+—BItFE " K
EEMESHMELAAERARNEN, &
REFHMES 0T -

Remuneration

Services rendered paid/payable
REH R 1A A
RMB’000

ARET T

Audit services EZRTE 1,050
Non-audit services IEEZ RIS -
Total HEt 1,050

Acknowledgement of responsibility for
consolidated financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2024. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors:

e  assessed the reasonableness of preparing the consolidated
financial statements taking into consideration the Group’s
financial performance, position, cashflows and liquidity
ratios;

e  selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; and

e made judgements and estimates in a prudent, fair and
reasonable manner.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The statement
of the independent auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out
in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” from page
118 to page 125 of this annual report.
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Internal control

Risk management and internal control

The Board emphasises on the importance of risk management
and internal controls on the Group’s business operations
(including environmental, social and governance (“ESG”)) and
development and acknowledges its overall responsibility for the
risk management and internal control systems and the review of
their effectiveness.

The Board evaluates and determines the nature and extent of
risks it is willing to accept, while achieving the Group’s strategic
business objectives. The Board also ensures implementation
and maintenance of effective risk management and internal
control systems; and oversees management in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems.

The Board has delegated the responsibility to physically
implement and maintain the risk management and internal control
systems to the management of the Company. The management,
under the supervision of the Board, has implemented and
maintained appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control system, which aims to manage and reduce (i)
risks associated with the Group’s daily operations (including
ESG); (i) risks of failing to achieve business objectives; (iii) risks of
asset misappropriation; and (iv) risks of making potential material
misstatements or losses. However, the risk management and
internal control system can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatements or losses.

The Group does not have an internal audit function. Taking into
account the size, nature and complexity of the Group’s business,
the Board have sufficient capacity to oversee the design and
implementation of the risk management and internal control
system and to assess its effectiveness, and accordingly there is
no immediate need to set up an internal audit function within the
Group.
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The process to identify, evaluate and manage risks are carried
out on a regular and on-going basis. These processes are
summarised as follows:

Risk identification

° Identify risks that may potentially affect the Group’s business
and operations.

Risk assessment

e  Assess the impact and consequence of the identified risks
on the business and the likelihood of their occurrence.

Response to findings of risk assessment

° Prioritise the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

° Determine the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk monitoring and reporting

e  Perform ongoing and regular monitoring of the risk and
ensure that appropriate internal control processes are in
place;

° Enhance the risk management strategies and internal
control processes in case of any significant change of
situation; and

e Report the results and effectiveness of risk management
and internal control to the Board regularly.

In relation to the handling and dissemination of inside information,
the Group has implemented in information disclosure policy
to ensure potential inside information being captured and
confidentiality of such information being maintained until
consistent and timely disclosure are made in accordance with the
Listing Rules. The policy is summarised as follows:

° Designated reporting channels from different operations

informing any potential inside information to designated
departments;
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e  Designated persons and departments to determine further
escalation and disclosure as required; and

° Designated persons authorised to act as spokespersons
and respond to external enquiries.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
engaged an independent internal control reviewer to review
the effectiveness of its risk management and internal control
system. The scope of review was determined by the Board.
The independent internal control reviewer submitted a report
of findings and areas for improvement to the management.
The management presented these findings and areas for
improvements to the Board and Audit Committee. Having
considered (i) the existence of the risk management and internal
control system; (i) the findings of the independent internal control
reviewer; (i) management will take into account the areas for
improvement suggested by the independent internal control
reviewer and further enhance the risk management and internal
control system, the Board and Audit Committee were of the view
that the Group had no material internal control deficiencies and
its risk management and internal control systems were effective
and adequate.

Company secretary

Mr. Li Yiu Hong (“Mr. Li”) was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company with effect from 28 February 2025 and
is responsible for overseeing all the company secretarial matters
of the Company. Before Mr. Li's appointment, Ms. Jian Xuegen
(“Ms. Jian”) was the company secretary of the Company. In the
opinion of the Board, Mr. Li and Ms. Jian possess the necessary
qualification and experience, and is capable of performing the
functions of a company secretary. During the year ended 31
December 2024, Ms. Jian has taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training as required under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.

Shareholders’ rights

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the shareholders and the Board. An
AGM of the Company shall be held in each year and at the place
as may be determined by the Board. Each general meeting, other
than an AGM, shall be called an extraordinary general meeting.
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Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, extraordinary general
meeting shall be convened on the requisition of one or more
shareholders of the Company holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings.
Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisition(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Putting enquiries by shareholders to the Board
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the
attention of the company secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong.

Procedures for putting forward proposals by
shareholders at shareholders’ meetings
Shareholders of the Company are requested to follow article
64 of the Articles for including a resolution at an extraordinary
general meeting. The requirements and procedures are set out
above in the paragraph headed “Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting”.

Pursuant to article 114 of the Articles, no person (other than
a retiring Director) shall, unless recommended by the Board
for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at
any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention
to propose that person for election as a Director and notice in
writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have
been lodged at the head office of the Company or at the Hong
Kong branch share registrar and transfer office of the Company.
The period for lodgement of the notices required under this
Article will commence no earlier than the day after the despatch
of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election
and end no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting and the minimum length of the period during
which such notices to the Company may be given will be at least
seven days.
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The procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a
person for election as a Director is posted on the website of the
Company. Shareholders or the Company may refer to the above
procedures for putting forward any other proposals at general
meetings.

Investor relations

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular
communication and reasonable disclosure of information to its
shareholders. Information of the Company is disseminated to the
shareholders in the following manner:

° Publication of announcements on the annual and interim
results on the website of the Company and the website of
the Stock Exchange, and issue of other announcements and
shareholders’ circulars in accordance with the continuing
disclosure obligations under the Listing Rules; and

e  The general meeting of the Company is also an effective
communication channel between the Board and
shareholders.

The Company has in place a shareholder communication
policy to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns are
appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to
ensure its effectiveness.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing shareholders and
potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors,
stakeholders and the public. Enquiries to the Board or the
Company may be sent by post to the Company’s head office.
The Company also maintains a website at www.sprocomm.com
where up-to-date information and updates of the Company’s
operations, performances and strategies are available to public
access.

Constitutional Documents
There had been no changes in the constitutional documents of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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About the Report

Sprocomm Intelligence Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) presents the Environmental,
Social and Governance (“ESG”) report, which contains
information on the Group’s business activities, ESG governance,
strategies, performances and ongoing commitment towards
sustainable development. This ESG report is intended to enhance
the confidence and understanding of the stakeholders towards
the Group.

About the Group

The Group is an ODM mobile phone supplier based in the PRC,
primarily engaged in research and development, designing,
manufacturing and sale of mobile phones, PCBAs for mobile
phones and loT related products, targeting emerging markets.
The Group’s production bases are located in the PRC and they
are responsible for the mobile phone assembly and for the
production of PCBAs.

Reporting Period
This ESG report highlights the ESG performance of the Group
from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024.

Reporting Standard

This ESG report was prepared with reference to the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 of the
Listing Rules and guidance published by the Stock Exchange.
An assessment on the applicability and materiality of the relevant
key performance indicators under the ESG Reporting Guide had
been conducted.

Reporting Principles
The Group applied the following principles in this ESG report:

° Materiality: Material and relevant information to stakeholders
on different ESG aspects is covered in this ESG Report.
A materiality assessment was conducted to determine
material ESG issues with results reviewed and approved by
the board of directors (the “Board”).
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e  Quantitative: Targets have been set by the Group to reduce
the emissions from business operations and to evaluate the
effectiveness of ESG policies and management systems.
The relevant standards, methodologies and assumptions
used to prepare the quantitative information are disclosed,
as appropriate. Quantitative information is provided with
narrative and comparative figures, where possible.

e Balance: The information is presented without the
inappropriate use of selections, omissions or other forms of
manipulation that would influence a decision or judgment by
the reader.

e  (Consistency: Consistent methodologies are used to prepare
and present ESG data in this ESG report, unless otherwise
specified, to allow for meaningful comparisons.

Reporting Scope

Based on the principle of materiality, the scope of this ESG report
concentrates on the Group’s business in the PRC, where the
Group carries out its principal business operations and most of
its employees and assets are located. All the PRC entities of the
Group were included in the assessment of ESG performance for
the purpose of this ESG report. The Group’s operations outside
the PRC were not included in the scope as they do not have
significant environmental and social impacts.

ESG Governance

The Group views ESG commitments as part of its responsibilities
and it is committed to incorporating ESG considerations into its
decision-making process. To achieve this goal, the Group has
developed a framework to ensure ESG governance is aligned
with its strategic growth, while advocating for the integration
of ESG into its business operations. The structure of ESG
governance mainly comprised of two components, namely the
Board and the management team.

The Board holds the overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG
strategy and reporting by overseeing the overall governance and
progress of the Group’s ESG management system, policies,
commitments, strategies and objectives.
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The management team is responsible for the collection and
analysis of ESG data, implementation of appropriate strategies
to improve the Group’s ESG performance, assessment of
whether current ESG policies and improvement measures are
effective, compliance with relevant ESG laws and regulations
and the reporting of major issues to the Board. To assess the
effectiveness of the Group’s ESG policies, management sets
key performance indicators and compares the indicators of
current year with those of prior year. Based on the results of this
comparison, ESG reports and the feedback from stakeholders,
the Board reviews the progress made by the Group against its
ESG-related goals and targets. The relevance of ESG-related
goals and targets to the Group’s business operations are
determined by regular communications with stakeholders.

The data and information in this ESG report are sourced from the
relevant documents, reports, statistical data, management and
operation information collected by the Group.

Information relating to the Group’s corporate governance
structure and practices has been set out in the section headed
“Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

ESG Strategies

The Group believes that it is essential to implement appropriate
ESG strategies in order to achieve sustainable corporate
development. Key ESG strategies of the Group are set out below:

e  Maintain regular communications with stakeholders to
identify ESG aspects that are material and relevant.

e  Maintain high environmental and social standards to
ensure sustainable development of the Group’s business
operations.

e  Comply with all relevant laws and regulations in relation to
the Group’s business operations including health and safety,
workplace conditions, employment and the environment.

° Encourage employees, customers, suppliers and other
stakeholders to participate in environmental and social

activities that benefit the community as a whole.

e Review the ESG strategies on an annual basis.
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Stakeholder Engagement

The Group values the contributions from its stakeholders as
they can bring positive impacts to the Group’s business. The
Group maintains regular communications with its stakeholders
to collect their views on the ESG aspects that they regard as
relevant and important. Its key stakeholders include governments
and regulatory bodies, shareholders, employees, customers,
suppliers and the public society. The Group maintains an open
and transparent dialogue with its stakeholders through various
channels including meetings, trade exhibitions, surveys, seminars
and workshops.

The following table summarises the main expectations and
concerns of the key stakeholders identified by the Group, and the
corresponding management responses.
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Management responses/

Stakeholders Expectations Communication channels
BHE FEH EEEOE BERE
Governments and regulatory bodies e  Compliance with laws and e  Compliance operation
B R EE S regulations o HHEE
o  BFEFEER
e  Tax payment in accordance e  Tax payment in full and on time
with laws e REZEMNT
o HORMTL
Shareholders o Financial results e To improve profitability
A ER s MBXRE o REARAMBE
e  Corporate transparency ° Regular information disclosure
o {EFH s TEHERKE

° Sound risk control
o ERRERER

e To optimise risk management
and internal control

o  BcEREE R A
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Management responses/

Stakeholders Expectations Communication channels
BHE FEH EHEEDE BERE
Employees e  Career development platform e Promotion mechanism
B’E e RBEERTA o ETFHHLHI

e  Salary and benefits e Competitive salary and employee

e HEREF benefits

e Safe working environment s ABFHNFHeREERN

o LRETIERIE e To provide trainings for

employees and strengthen their
safety awareness
e RHEESFEI MBLTEZED

Customers o Logistics and delivery service e To get delivery status through
®P standards product tracking system

o i RBLERIGIRAE o EAEMEBHRFESIX

e Customer information security A &

s XPEEXAE e Customer privacy protection

e  Customerrights and interests o  EFFLEBIRE

protection e  Compliance marketing

o XEPERRE e AREH
Suppliers o Integrity cooperation e  To build a stable and responsible
HER o WIEATE supply chain

Society and the public
HEAR

° Business ethics and credibility
s BWEERLEER

° Environmental protection
o IRIFIRE
o Employment opportunities

e REEHE
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e To perform the contract
according to law

s KEBTAK

e To reduce environmental
pollutions

o RMAIREITHR

e  To putinto use environmental
protection and energy-saving
equipment

o (RRARRERERE

e  To provide equal employment
opportunities

s REFZEFEHRE
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Materiality Assessment

During the year ended 31 December 2024, with reference to
the scopes as required under the ESG Reporting Guide and
taking into consideration of the Group’s business operations, the
Group identified the following environmental, social and operating
issues that are material and relevant to the Group’s business
operations. The Group recognises the critical need to implement
effective strategies for monitoring and addressing these issues,
as failure to do so may adversely impact the Group’s financial
condition and operating performance. Further, the Group made
a materiality assessment on these environmental, social and
operating issues by conducting interviews with its stakeholders.

Environmental issues Social issues

BEEMFM
HE_ZE-_WFE+_A=+—HBLEEFE XK
SELXERRE e RERRESESIBRED
HEMEEERZE  #HAATEAEEZE
BHEBNERRE HERLESRHE A£H
RBE BFEEHEEBREE AR RBERZ
LE2IH  MAKRREME - AT HAEBERNIE
MR REELBEEETHRE - 1IN KEE
BRGHEROE  E—TEHRZERE gk
BIEERET T ES WM

Operating issues

BRIRER HESHE EESIE
1. Greenhouse gas emissions 8. Local community engagement  15. Economic value generated
BERBHEN S84 Tt = EENKBEEE
2. Energy consumption 9. Community investment 16. Corporate governance
BEIRERE fERE ®BERER
3. Water consumption 10. Occupational health and safety  17. Anti-corruption
KIREFE BEERALZE RERE
4.  Waste 11. Labour standards in supply 18. Supply chain management
&Y chain HrEEE R
HpEsEss AR
5.  Saving energy measures 19. Customer satisfaction
BB TS e 12. Training and development EPREE
| [EEhch g3
6. Use of raw materials and 20. Customer privacy
packaging materials 13. Employee welfare BERPLE
JRAE R B EHER & B2 A
7. Compliance with laws 14. Inclusion and equal
and regulations relating to opportunities
environmental protection Hpp s PSR

TR RIER

The Group prioritised the above-mentioned environmental, social
and operating issues in terms of their importance to the Group’s
stakeholders and business operations.
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Importance to the Group’s stakeholders
and business operations

HERERNDERRBELENEREE

ESG issues
RE -HERERBE

High &
Medium 1
Low &

Based on the results of the Group’s materiality assessment, the
Group would formulate and implement appropriate strategies to
monitor and solve the identified issues and to achieve sustainable
business development.

Confirmation and Approval

The Group endeavours to ensure that all the information
presented in this ESG report is accurate and reliable. This ESG
report had undergone the internal review process of the Group
and was reviewed by the Board. During the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group confirmed that it has established
appropriate and effective management policies and internal
control systems for ESG issues and the contents of this ESG
report comply with the requirements of the ESG Reporting Guide.

Contact Us

The Group welcomes stakeholders to provide their opinions and
suggestions. Stakeholders can provide valuable advice in respect
of this ESG report or the Group’s performances in sustainable
development by mailing to 33/F, Building 1 Huagiang Science
and Technology Innovation Plaza, Meilin Street, No. 6018 North
Ring Boulevard, Futian District, Shenzhen, China.
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A. Environment A. BIE

The Group acknowledges its responsibility to protect
the environment and it has implemented policies to
reduce emissions and improve the efficiency in the use of
resources.

The Group’s business operations are subject to certain
environmental requirements pursuant to the laws in the PRC
such as Environmental Protection Law of the PRC ({/ %
AR HEMER B R #E L)), Evaluation of Environmental
Effects Law of the PRC ({(F#E A R L FIBIRIFEF EFE
%)), Prevention and Control of Water Pollution Law of the
PRC (2 A R F1 37k 55 2B 568 7%)), Prevention and
Control of Atmospheric Pollution Law of the PRC ({# %
AR FEMB KRS 47%)), Prevention and Control of
Environmental Noise Pollution Law of the PRC ({7 ZF A
RHEFBRIFR &S 2 [55%)), Prevention and Control
of Solid Waste Pollution Law of the PRC ({7 £ A K &
ol BEEEW S 2 IRIE P )8 E)), and Regulations on
the Administration of Construction Project Environmental
Protection ((ZE% 18 B IRIERE B IR I&)), and Promotion
of Cleaner Production Law of the PRC ({7 £ A & £ Al
BREERER)).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
complied with all applicable PRC environmental laws
and regulations in all material respects and had not been
subject to any material penalty in relation to environmental
protection.
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A.1 Emissions

During the Group’s production process, there are
certain wastage generated (sources of emissions)
including solid waste, water, noise and polluted air. The
Group has in place standard procedures to manage,
treat and reduce pollution and wastage in accordance
with national and local requirements. The Group also
has in place facilities for air filtration to ensure that
the level of wastage or pollutants generated during
its production process is within statutory limits. In
addition, the Group has engaged a professional
waste disposal service company for the disposal of
hazardous waste. To ensure compliance with the latest
environmental laws and regulations, the Group has
internal compliance manuals setting out its goals and
policies in relation to environmental matters. The Group
has been accredited with the ISO 14001 certification of
environmental management system.

(i)  Air pollutant emissions

During the year ended 31 December 2024,
air pollutant emissions were mainly related to
petrol consumption for the use of the Group’s
self-owned vehicles, which contributed to the
emission of 67.55 kg (2023: 13.58 kg) of nitrogen
oxides (NOx), 0.96 kg (2023: 0.24 kg) of sulphur
oxides (SOx) and 5.35 kg (2023: 1.00 kg) of
respiratory suspended particles (PM). During
the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
intensified its efforts to establish long-term
relationships with its customers, which increased
vehicle utilisation and air pollutant emissions.
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Alr pollutant emissions reduction target

To better manage the Group’s ESG performance,

the Group decides to set quantifiable targets for
air pollutant emissions as follows:

ZERTRY B AE
REFHMERRNEENIRE
HERERRR NEERE
HIEAT AT 8L ZERITRY
BERB R

Environmental indicators  Reduction target Baseline year Status
REER B B R HEEF AR

NOx emission intensity Reduce 3% by Year 2027 Year 2022 In progress
NOx BEU 2 [& “ELFRIRL3% —T_- EITH
SOx emission intensity Reduce 3% by Year 2027 Year 2022 In progress
SOX B E & ZE A FRIRA 3% T EITH
PM emission intensity Reduce 3% by Year 2027 Year 2022 In progress
PMEBERE B T HEFRIRA 3% === HEITH

Greenhouse gas emissions

(i) AERBEBHEN

For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
BECRCOQME BE-E-cF
TZAZ+-HLEE TZRA=t+-HLEE
Emission  Percentage to Emission  Percentage to
(intCO,e) total emission (intCO,e) total emission
BHE(EE  (AHNE HHEME  (HAEHE
Scope of greenhouse gas emissions ~ BERBHNEE  —StHREE) Bt —ELBEE) AL
Scope 1 Direct emission HE1EEER
Combustion of petrol for mobile vehicles /7% i & 153.70 1.6% 38.81 0.5%
Consumption of refrigerant BREERE - -
Scope 2 Indirect emission HE2MEER
Purchased electricity EEE 8,946.34 92.2% 7,773.62 96.1%
Scope 3 Other indirect emission HEIHMHEHENR
Paper waste disposal BREE 0.01 6.2% 0.01 3.4%
Water consumption FEK 50.55 4059
Business air travel BB 548.19 236.88
Total @t 9,698.79 100% 8,089.91 100%
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Notes:

(1) Emission factors were based on, but not limited to, “The
Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and
Reporting Standards” issued by the World Resources
Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, “How to prepare an ESG Report —
Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”
issued by the Stock Exchange, and the latest released
emission factors of China’s regional power grid basis.

2) The above emission data does not include the removal of
CO2 contributed by recycling of paper.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group’s activities contributed to 9,698.79 tonnes
(2023: 8,089.91 tonnes) or 0.14 tCO,/m? (2023:
0.15 tCO,/m?) of carbon dioxide equivalent
(carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide and
hydrofluorocarbons) emission. For the year ended
31 December 2024, the rise in carbon dioxide
equivalent emissions was largely due to two main
factors: (i) the increased electricity consumption
required to meet the Group’s growing customer
demand through higher production levels; and
(ii) the higher frequency of both road trips and
air travel necessary to attract new customers
and nurture long-term relationships with existing
customers. Details of the Group’s measures to
reduce the consumption of resources and the
related emissions are set out below. Same as the
previous two years, the Group did not receive
any complaints or warnings on greenhouse gas
emissions during the year ended 31 December
2024.

Greenhouse gas emissions readuction target
To better manage the Group’s ESG performance,
the Group decides to set quantifiable targets for
greenhouse gas emissions as follows:
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Environmental indicators  Reduction target Baseline year Status
BRIER WEEER R k35
Greenhouse gas emissions  Reduce 3% by Year 2027 Year 2022 In progress
BERE ZEZEFRIRA 3% B H{7h
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group’s motor vehicles traveled a total of 696,401
kilometres (2023: 181,777 kilometres), consuming
63,457 litres of petrol (2023: 16,446 litres), with
an intensity of 44.88 litres per employee (2023:
12.38 litres); and 1,509 litres of diesel (2023:
none), with an intensity of 1.07 litres per employee
(2023: none). The use of motor vehicles in 2024
contributed to 153.70 tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent emissions (2023: 38.81 tonnes).

To reduce the emissions arising from petrol
consumption, the Group encourages its
employees to use public transport when they
attend business activities. For business activities
that take place within walking distance, the Group
encourages its employees to walk or cycle to the
destination.

Refrigerant consumption

During the year ended 31 December 2023
and 2024, the Group consumed insignificant
amount of refrigerant in connection with the use
of air conditioning during its daily production
and office operations, generating insignificant
amount of carbon dioxide equivalent emissions.
To reduce the emissions arising from refrigerant
consumption, the Group encourages its
employees to switch off the air conditioning when
they leave the office and production premises.

Electricity consumption

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group consumed 9,940,376 kWh of electricity
(2023: 8,637,358 kWh), with an intensity of
8,946 kWh per employee (2023: 6,504 kWh) in
connection with its daily production and office
operations, which contributed to 8,946.34 tonnes
of carbon dioxide equivalent emissions (2023:
7,773.62 tonnes). To reduce the emissions
arising from electricity consumption, the Group
encourages its employees to switch off the lights
and other electricity appliances when they leave
the office and production premises.
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Paper consumption

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group consumed 1.3 tonnes of paper (2023: 1.3
tonnes), with an intensity of 0.001 tonnes per
employee (2023: 0.001 tonnes) in connection with
its daily business operations, which contributed
to 0.01 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
emissions (2023: 0.01 tonnes). To reduce the
emissions arising from paper usage, the Group
encourages its employees to conserve paper,
review documents on computers, send messages
to customers via emails, use recycled paper and
adopt double-sided printing.

Water consumption

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group consumed 56,429 cubic metres of water
(2023: 45,308 cubic metres), with an intensity
of 35.75 cubic metres per employee (2023:
34.1 cubic metres) in connection with its daily
business operations, which contributed to 50.55
tonnes (20283: 40.59 tonnes) of carbon dioxide
equivalent emissions. To reduce the emissions
arising from water usage, the Group encourages
its employees to conserve water and remember
to turn off the water tap after use. As a result,
the employees have increased their awareness
regarding the reduction of water consumption.
During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group did not encounter any problems in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose. Further, the
Group did not consume a significant amount of
water that was and disproportional to the scale of
its business operations.

Business air travel

The Group’s business nature requires employees
to travel by air to other countries for meetings with
customers and suppliers. Air travel is reserved
for essential trips only, with the Group diligently
monitoring all business-related flights. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, business air
travels of the Group’s employees had contributed
a total of 548.19 tonnes (2023: 236.88 tonnes) of
carbon dioxide equivalent emission.
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(i)

Hazardous waste

During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group generated a minimal amount of
hazardous waste, mainly composed of waste
light tubes. To mitigate environmental impact,
the Group has engaged a professional waste
disposal service company for the proper disposal
of hazardous wastes. The Group will strive to
reduce generation of hazardous waste through
upgrading technologies whenever possible. Same
as the previous two years, the Group did not
receive any complaints or warnings on disposal
of its hazardous waste during the year ended 31
December 2024, and targets to achieve the same
performance in 2025.

Non-hazardous waste

During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group generated a total of 1,430 tonnes
of non-hazardous waste (2023: 1,261 tonnes),
with an intensity of 1.01 tonnes per employee
(2023: 0.95 tonnes). The non-hazardous waste
generated by the Group primarily consists of
packaging materials utilised in the Group’s
production process. The Group regularly reminds
its employees to use resources efficiently and
try to avoid the generation of waste. As a result,
the employees have increased their awareness
regarding waste management. Same as the
previous two years, the Group did not receive
any complaints or warnings on disposal of its
non-hazardous waste during the year ended 31
December 2024, and targets to achieve the same
performance in 2025.
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A.2 Use of resources

Reducing consumption of resources and enhancing
utilisation efficiency are the Group’s principles in
minimising adverse impact on the environment and
natural resources that may be caused by its business
operations. The Group has adopted a set of guidelines
to achieve efficient use of energy, water and other
resources for long-term sustainability.

The Group’s total consumption of resources during
the year ended 31 December 2024 together with the
relevant conservation measures adopted by the Group
are detailed in the section headed “A.1 Emissions”
above.

A.3 The environment and natural resources

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s
business activities did not cause significant adverse
impact on the environment and natural resources.

To further improve the use of resources, the Group
takes the following actions on an ongoing basis:

e  keep track of its consumption level of resources;

o review the effectiveness of its conservation
measures; and

e design improvement measures

As a result, the Group’s employees are more aware of
the importance of using resources efficiently.
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A.4 Climate change A4 RIRE1L

Climate change is one of the biggest challenges to the
world. The Group acknowledges its responsibility to
implement strategies to reduce carbon emissions and
mitigate climate change.

The Group manages climate change risks through four
major components: 1) Governance; 2) Strategy; 3) Risk
Management; and 4) Metrics and Targets. The Board
overseas the governance and reporting of the Group’s
climate change risk.

Management of the Group regularly monitors and
identifies climate change risks relevant to the Group’s
business operations, ensuring that mitigation strategies
are implemented in a timely manner.

Climate change is mainly caused by the release of
carbon dioxide into the atmosphere, resulting from
the use of fossil fuels for electricity generation and for
transportation. As mentioned above, the Group has
implemented appropriate strategies to use resources
more efficiently and reduce emissions to combat
climate change and reduce potential costs in the
future.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
identified the following climate-related risks that
may have material impact on the Group’s business
operations:

Physical risks

The increased frequency and severity of extreme
weather such as typhoons, storms and heavy rains can
disrupt the Group’s operations by damaging the power
grid, and communication infrastructures, and injuring
its employees during their work, leading to reduced
capacity and decreased in productivity, or expose
the Group to risks associated with non-performance
and delayed performance. To minimise the potential
risks and hazards, the Group has flexible working
arrangements and precautionary measures during bad
or extreme weather conditions.
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Transition risks

The Group anticipates that there will be more stringent
climate legislations and regulations to support
the global vision of carbon neutrality. The Group
acknowledges the requirements to enhance the
climate-related information disclosures mentioned in
the ESG Reporting Guide. Stricter environmental laws
and regulations may expose enterprises to higher
risks of claims and lawsuits. Corporate reputation
may also be adversely affected by the failure to meet
the compliance requirements for climate change. The
Group’s related capital investment and compliance
costs may increase. In response to the policy and legal
risks as well as the reputation risks, the Group regularly
monitors existing and emerging trends, policies and
regulations relevant to climate and be prepared to alert
the Board where necessary to avoid cost increments,
penalties for non-compliance and/or reputational risks
due to delayed response.

B. Social

76

B.1 Employment and labour practices

()  Employment

Total employees

The Group had 1,414 full-time employees in the
PRC as at 31 December 2024 (31 December
2023: 1,328). The Group did not have any part-
time employees as at 31 December 2024. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
increased the hiring of staff to satisfy its business
needs.
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Set forth below is the Group’s employee turnover
rate by gender, age group and geographical

region:

Geographical location: The PRC
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z_NME+-A=1+—-HLFE

ATRRMER - Fied kiR
EoMAEEE TRAXK

W& ;e

Total by

Male Female age group

REwRE

Turnover rate MK E B z SRV

30 or below B0ARE AT 21% 21% 21%

31-40 31 E4073% 12.9% 10.9% 11.8%

41-50 41 E508% 23.7% 8.2% 13.8%

Above 50 50m A £ 54.5% 30.0% 35.3%
Total by gender R 1 B 5 R R AR R 9.0% 7.4%

Geographical location: The PRC i - B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-Z-=f+=-A=+—BHLFE

Total by

Male Female age group

RERE

Turnover rate K= B zZ B2 OF

30 or below B0 AT 41.9% 42.3% 42.1%

31-40 31 2 405% 11.1% 43.8% 28.0%

41-50 41 E505% 45.9% 66.7% 59.1%

Above 50 50 5% 0A £ 66.7% 83.3% 80.0%
Total by gender R BB R A AR B 30.7% 47.9%
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The Group maintains a gender balance in its
workforce. Set forth below are the distribution of
the Group’s employees as at 31 December 2024
by gender and age group:

REBERBHENSZEE S
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=+ —HEMERIMFRAS S
WAEBREE S

DISTRIBUTION OF
EMPLOYEES BY GENDER

BURE S NES S M

Female

7

53%
Male
B
47%

DISTRIBUTION OF
EMPLOYEES BY AGE GROUP

BERABINES DM

Above 50
50%% A
41-50 2%
41E505%
16%
30 or
below
305%3K
AT
31-40 43%
312408%
39%

Employee benefits and welfare

The Group enters into employment contracts
with its employees and the employment contract
terms were stipulated under the principles of
fairness, voluntarism, mutual consent, integrity
and credibility. The remuneration package offered
to employees includes salary, bonuses and other
subsidies. In general, the remuneration package
is based on each employee’s qualifications,
position, seniority and work performance. The
Group carries out an annual review system to
assess the performance of its employees, which
forms the basis of decisions with respect to salary
raises, bonuses and promotions.

During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group maintains social insurance for its
employees pursuant to the applicable PRC laws
and regulations by making contributions to the
mandatory social insurance and housing provident
funds which provide basic retirement, medical,
work-related injury, maternity and unemployment
benefits.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group complies with the Labour Law of the PRC
and did not experience any significant disputes
with its employees or any disruption to business
operations due to labour disputes. In addition,
the Group did not experience any difficulties in
the recruitment and retention of experienced core
staff or skilled personnel.

Labour standards

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there
was no child labour nor forced labour working
in the Group. The job application requirement
specifies that job applicants must be at least 18
years old. To ensure that job applicants can meet
the age requirement, identities of job applicants
are verified against their valid identity documents,
relevant permits and certificates.

The human resources department is required
to carry out background checks to authenticate
information provided by job applicants and
is required to fill in forms that confirm hired
employees have met the age requirement. If
child labour or forced labour is discovered, such
matter will be reported to the human resources
department and the senior management and
the Group will enhance the internal controls
immediately. No material non-compliance
in relation to laws and regulations regarding
prevention of child and forced labour was
recorded during the year ended 31 December
2024.

Equal opportunity

The Group provides equal opportunities for
employees in respect of recruitment, job
advancement, training and development, etc.
Employees are not discriminated against or
deprived of such opportunities on the basis of
race, nationality, religion, physical condition,
disability, gender, pregnancy, sexual orientation,
political status, age and any other discrimination
prohibited by applicable law. Employees shall
not act in discriminatory manner or they can be
subject to disciplinary actions.
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Employee relations

The Directors consider that it is important to
maintain good relationship with employees.
The Group maintains regular communications
with its employees by arranging gatherings,
celebration activities and trainings. Through these
activities, the Group would collect feedback
from its employees on job satisfactions and
their expectations on the Group and would
implement appropriate strategies to improve the
work environment and its relationship with the
employees.

Employee health and safety

The Group places emphasis on occupational
health and work safety. It provides a safe
working environment and training sessions for its
employees to ensure that they can work safely. It
has also implemented a system of recording and
handling accidents. Further, the Group also has
dedicated personnel responsible for administering
the internal worker safety policies, providing
relevant training and education, and conducting
regular inspections. During the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group had not experienced
any material safety accidents or been penalised
for any non-compliance relating to work safety
laws and regulations.

Occupational health and safety data

(i)

R BRAR

EXZRA BEBERBRUH
BIOEZ -AKEBBLH
e BEOAEHREIE A
BEEBB EMREEY K
SERRENEEEREIIEAE
ERHEAEERENER B
hiE S RS E TR R B
EEMERE -

EEREEZ 2

AEBTEBRERRI IR
2 AEEREBLZE2MIER
BRIEIRIE  AEREER
TR TYE REBJNE Tk
MEBEREGIE - I &K
EEEEERABEEEEEN
HETLZ2HEK  REEBE
IEHE EITEHRE &
EZE-_NFE+=ZA=+—H
WHFE AEBITEEEEM
EALEEW NERTES
THEZEEZERERAMZEE

L=g
El

BE-_Z_N&E+=A
Et+—HLE=EFENRE

for the three years ended 31 December 2024 REEZZHEERIRT

Work related fatality It -
Work injury cases >3 days SRUEMTEEH -
Work injury cases <=3 days SREAAHTEHESEW -
Lost days due to work injury THEEIRE -
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(iv) Development and training

The

Group provides comprehensive training

and development opportunities to its employees
on a regular basis. The trainings are arranged
according to needs of employees, which were
identified annually by individual departments:

Orientation training — To familiarise
employees with the Group’s objectives,
culture, rules and regulations, safety and
product-related knowledge on the first day
of work.

Pre-job training — To familiarise new
employees or transferred employees with
their new duties.

On-the-job training — To ensure that the
employees are familiar with the Group’s
products, to sharpen the sales technique
and customer service standard of sales
and marketing personnel and to ensure the
production and quality control personnel
perform proper quality control procedures.

(v) R REI
AEETHARBEEZAN
B RBERAE - AEERZE
EFERZHEN BEZXE
F RS HPIRE :

a. ABSEI-FEABREXE

IR ERBAREENBRZ
X BRAHIE 2R
7 o AR A A

b. mAIEI-FIHEE K
HiEEEATHEBE

c. TR -—IMEREBAD
AEBEMER RITHEE
REBEABNHEERTI R
EERBIFRE  BIREE
FERAEZERTEE
B
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Set forth below is the number and UTAAEEREBRERNRE
percentage of training hours completed BT NEIRE LT
by the Group’s employees by gender and waNs AN

82

employee category:

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F-_NME+T-A=1+-RALFE

% of training

hours by
employee
category
RESER
Employee category Male Female Total oI
EEEH B g3 aFF BEHBEIL
Training hours  Training hours  Training hours
®rEB AR g8 85 Z1E B H 5
Senior management 120 = 120 1.2%
=R ERE
Middle management 441 189 630 6.4%
hARE R
Other employees 4,300 4,790 9,090 92.4%
Hit g8
Total 4,861 4,979 9,840 100.0%
Ly
% of training hours 49.4% 50.6% 100.0%
by gender
BB 8 5 89 2 3
HHWEDL
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-—E-_=f+-HA=t+—BLEE

% of training

hours by
employee
category
RESER
Employee category Male Female Total Bl =ZI
EEEH B g3 ait RENEIL
Training hours  Training hours ~ Training hours
®rEBFR ®1EB 875 Z1E B H 5
Senior management 114 = 114 1.4%
SREEE
Middle management 340 190 530 6.4%
RRERE
Other employees 3,502 4,100 7,602 92.2%
Hit g8
Total 3,956 8,246 100.0%
et
% of training hours 48.0% 100.0%
by gender
BB & 5 89 2 3 B
BHBEDL
B.2 Operating practices B.2 R&EHER
Supply chain management () HrEEEE

U)

The Group purchases raw materials and
equipment based on its own needs,
specifications, quality and safety of equipment,
reputation, after-sales service and delivery time
of the supplier. The Group compares different
suppliers to select qualified suppliers (based on
their product specifications, product compliances,
production management, quality management
and also ESG performances) before the Group
enters into contract with the qualified suppliers.

In selecting equipment, the Group evaluates
energy efficiency and environmental sustainability.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group engaged a total of 753 suppliers, with 704
geographically located in the PRC and 49 in Hong
Kong The aforesaid practices relating to engaging
suppliers were implemented to all the Group’s
suppliers during the year.

AEEERBE T RKUKMEE
FHRERE EERELE
BE W EERBE RN RREF
BRME REE EHEERME
EEFILAHE  AEEST
BRI HERUNTEAERMH
FER (EREMMBE CEmai
SEEE BEEEBURE-
HERERKHE) -

FREERER  XEESTHE
RENERAENEREN
EREAFBEER - #HE_F
ZEFZA=F+—HILFE
AEBSHER753 B HER
H 7042 B A0 P B &
49BN N ER « Liltf
FE 7 RO BE B DI IR R F E 1T
RAITEASENFEER
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The geographical locations of the Group’s
suppliers of raw materials and equipment were as
follows:

AEERMF RREOHER
ZIUIBABEMNT

Number of suppliers

HEBHE
For the For the
year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
BZE HE
“E-EF —T=F
Geographical locations of +=B=+—-H8 +=ZA=+—H
the Group’s suppliers rEBHREFNMENE LLFE IEFE
The PRC a3 704 760
Hong Kong B 49 70
Total X 753 830

The Group expects its suppliers to uphold the
environmental, social and governance principles
that the Group has adopted into the management
of its business operations. In order to ensure
that the components and raw materials meet the
requisite safety and quality standards, the Group
adopts stringent criteria in supplier selection
(including but not limited to whether they provide
high quality raw materials, whether they maintain
a high standard on environmental protection
and comply with relevant laws on environmental
issues, whether price is comparable to
market rate and location of their factories) and
continuously monitors existing suppliers on an
annual basis, based on criteria such as product
quality, product defect ratio, delivery punctuality
ratio and responsiveness.

Whether the supplier will continue to be included
in the Group’s list of approved suppliers depends
on the marks it achieved under annual evaluation.
The awareness of environmental protection is one
of the key criteria for the Group to evaluate the
suppliers.
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(il

Product responsibility
Product assurance and recall

Product quality is crucial to the Group’s continued
success. The Group places strong emphasis on
achieving consistently high quality for its products.
To achieve such purpose, stringent quality
control measures throughout the production
process were implemented to ensure the quality
and safety of our products. The Group’s quality
control department performs regular inspections
to evaluate the effectiveness of the quality control
measures and further enhance these measures
when necessary.

The Group’s quality management system has
complied with the standard of GB/T 19001-2016/
ISO9001:2015 Quality Management Systems
Requirements and awarded a certificate for the
design, development, production and services of
communication products, including exportable
mobile phone, which remains valid until 17 July
2027. During the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group did not experience any claims,
litigations and arbitrations or material adverse
findings in inspection by government authorities
with respect to product quality.

The Group only accepts product returns if
there is manufacture or design defect or the
product specification deviates from customers’
specifications. During the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group did not experience
any product recall, material non-compliance
with laws and regulations in relation to product
safety nor receive any material complaints from
consumers.

EmEE
EipiREE R E E]
EmEEHAEERERENX
NEBMEZ -ALEERZIE
HREMN—BEEEXRBE A
ERHBERN  AEEHE2EE
BREEmEREEEEE MU
BREME DD E\E&ﬁi"
AEENEEBS EHRE -
VAR e '8 22 45 B B9 A BUR 1E 4%
BRI — (LR FREHE -

BMMEEEIE RSN A GB/T
19001-2016/1SO9001:2015 & &
EERARBRNEE YEE
BEER(BREEHRFH) R
iR CEERRBES
ERHE_T_+FLtAt+L
Blt-B#2_FT_MF+_A
=t—BLEEE AKEYTE
HEEEMEEABNEMR
RE B AL B 1R R 3R U 1 R 2
HHBATHRESR -

AEEER R EERRTR
HEHREMRBREZPRBH
BRATHEREXRE -HE_
E_NME+_A=+—HLF
B AKBEYEETIMNER
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[EERNN o i
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(i)

Intellectual property rights and information
security

As a mobile phone supplier with strong design
capability, the Group registers patents to
safeguard the technologies and mobile phone
applications developed by the research and
development department time to time. The Group
relies on the relevant laws and regulations to
protect its brand names, trademarks and other
intellectual property rights.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group was not aware of any material infringement
(i) by the Group of any intellectual property rights
owned by any third parties; or (i) by any third
party of any intellectual property rights owned
by the Group. Further, there were no pending
or threatened material claims made against the
Group, nor had there been any material claims
made by the Group against third parties, with
respect to the infringement of intellectual property
rights owned by the Group.

Anti-fraud and anti-corruption

According to the Group’s anti-corruption policy, all
employees shall abide by the laws and regulations
of the PRC and shall not engage in any illegal
activities. Employees shall uphold the code of
ethics, advocate fair competition and act against
bribery. Any bribery, fraud, money laundering and
embezzlement are prohibited.

Employees must not accept or request any
improper benefits including banquets, gifts,
securities, valuables and high-expenditure
entertainment activities from business partners,
suppliers and merchants, etc. When there is any
alleged case in violation of laws, regulations,
code of conduct or Group’s policies, the Group
will investigate and impose disciplinary actions
upon offenders after verification. The Group also
provides trainings to directors and employees
from time to time to ensure that they comply and
familiar with the anti-fraud and anti-corruption
policy of the Group.
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The Board will monitor and review the
effectiveness of the anti-fraud and anti-corruption
policy from time to time.

During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group complied with all applicable laws on
prohibiting corruption and bribery of the PRC
and there was no concluded legal case regarding
corrupt practices brought against the Group or its
employees.

Whistleblowing policy

The Group has implemented whistleblowing
policy to provide a well-defined and accessible
channel for reporting fraud, corruption, dishonest
practices, or other similar matters and guidance
on how an investigation would be initiated upon
receiving a complaint. The policy also protects
employees who report fraudulent activities in
good faith and reasonable belief. A whistleblowing
officer is elected to ensure that any reported case
is dealt with in an expedited manner.

Upon receiving the complaint, the Board
decides the method of investigation, which may
involve appointing an external consultant for
assessment. The Board will monitor and review
the effectiveness of the whistleblowing policy from
time to time.

EEG T ER LR RK
SERRAESRENHRL -
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AEFE AEEEESFHE
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(iv) Data protection and privacy policy

The Group is committed to protecting the
privacy of its customers, employees, business
partners and suppliers by maintaining a safe
and secure data environment. The Group has
implemented appropriate policies to ensure that
all personal and business data collected during
the Group’s business activities are organised and
secured properly. Computers and servers are
protected from access passwords, Employees
are instructed of their responsibility to follow the
confidentiality code on the access to information
and to ensure the safekeeping of all personal,
customer and business data, trade secrets and
proprietary information. Employees are prohibited
from disclosing the information to unauthorised
parties.

B.3 Community investment

The Group acknowledges corporate social
responsibility and allocates resources to satisfy the
needs of the community. During the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group spent reasonable amount
of time and resources on environmental protection
as well as cultural and sport promotion. The Group
encouraged its employees to participate charitable
events. Going forward, the Group will continue to focus
on community needs and increase its investment in
community.
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The ESG Reporting Guide Content Index of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and KPIs

FTEHR -EE - —REER

REENER

Description

g%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ%%i
/=

=
BEESIRBRSIK

Relevant section in the ESG
report/Declaration

BIE HEREARBEN
HEES BH

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

BEIHERE
Governance Structure

ERER

A statement from the board containing the
following elements:

HESFSHLNER EPHETIAR:

M

(i)

a disclosure of the board’s oversight of
ESG issues;

REEESURE HEREREE
MBS

the board’s ESG management approach
and strategy, including the process
used to evaluate, prioritise and manage
material ESG-related issues (including
risks to the issuer’s businesses); and
EEENRE HEREBEETL
NERHS - BYRAHE - BIREEII R ER
BENRE HEREGHEBEZE (R
BHBTAZBHNER) B2 &

how the board reviews progress made
against ESG-related goals and targets

with an explanation of how they relate to

the issuer’s businesses.
EENIRIRE e RERIEH
BRI EE - WHEET PR
TAEGHRE -

ZZZPUFFHR Sprocomm Inteligence Limited

ESG GOVERNANCE
RE (g RERGE

ESG STRATEGIES
RE 48 REARE

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

FiES2HE
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Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and KPIs
TEHE EBEH —REER
BRENER

Description

g

Relevant section in the ESG
report/Declaration

BRI HERERREN
HERES BH

Reporting Principles
HERA

Reporting Boundary
HREEE

Aspect A1: Emissions
EBmEA : WY
General Disclosure

— IR

A description of, or an explanation on, the
application of the reporting principles in the
preparation of the ESG report.

S RERERERE g RERARS
I g o] jE AR EE SR IR A ©

A narrative explaining the reporting
boundaries of the ESG report and describing
the process used to identify which entities or
operations are included in the ESG report.

If there is a change in the scope, the issuer
should explain the difference and reason for
the change.

RRERE HEgREHmENERTE -
Nt ML BB XBMARE - 4

SRERMENBIE B IERMEHFNE

BIOTANEHEEIRzERESHREA -

Information on:
BREBERKBEREBHEN - MAKRTHAY
5 BEREEBREEVMNELESH

(@ the policies; and
BE Rk

(o) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
BRHETAGEAXZENBBERE
NIROIEE R -
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Subject areas, aspects, Description Relevant section in the ESG
general disclosures and KPIs report/Declaration

TEHE EH —REER #Ht B HEREARBEN
BRENER HEEEH BH

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective A.1 Emissions

B E IR AL emissions data. A1 BERR

BER R IR K AR R B B -

KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope ~ A.1 Emissions —
BRI IZAL2 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and (i) Greenhouse gas emissions
intensity. ATBER— (i) B =R B

ik (BE 1) RS (HE2)A=FR8
PERE (WAMAR B) R °

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)  A.1 Emissions —
B A BIEIEA13 and intensity. (i) Hazardous waste
FIEEBEEEYERE (LAEFTE) REE - (Not applicable — Explained)
A1 BER— (i) B EEEW

(TEA-B®E)
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in A.1 Emissions —
BREBIEIZEA14 tonnes) and intensity. (iv) Non-hazardous waste

PIEABRERRMBE UME) REE - AITHR—(v)EZED

KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and A.1 Emissions
FARETIEZALS steps taken to achieve them. A1BER
FALFTE] LR BEE B IR R BESGER
TR PSR BN B HE B
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Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and KPIs
TEHE EBEH —REER
BRENER

Description

g

Relevant section in the ESG
report/Declaration

BRI HERERREN
HERES BH

KPIA1.6
FASEMIERA1.6

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEA2: EREH

General Disclosure

— R R

KPI A2.1
RSB IE R A2

KPI A2.2
FASME R R A2.2

KPI A2.3
FABEUIERA2.3

92

Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, reduction
initiatives and results achieved.
HEEEEREZEEMN AL  BIE
EEESNEHERAEHRR -

Policies on the efficient use of resources,
including energy, water and other raw
materials.

ERFEAER(BIEER  KEREMEREME)
HIBR °

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by
type in total and intensity.

REAE SN EER SREELEREEE
REFE -

Water consumption in total and intensity
BEKEREE -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s)
set and steps taken to achieve them.

R PR ET S B REIRE A W B IR R ARER
7% B IR R BV S Bt o
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A.1 Emissions -

(iiiy Hazardous waste

A1 BER— (i) B ZEEY
A.1 Emissions -

(iv) Non-hazardous waste

ATHER—(v) B EED

A.2 Use of resources
A2 & JREA

A.1 Emissions

ATHRR

A.1 Emissions —

(i) Greenhouse gas emissions —
Water consumption
ATHER— (i) R ER ST —
FAX

A.1 Emissions

ATHER



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B HEREARE

Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and KPIs
TEHE EBEH —REER
BRENER

Description

g

Relevant section in the ESG
report/Declaration

BRI HERERREN
HERES BH

KPI A2.4
B A MIEIRA2.4

KPI A2.5
FABEIERA2.5

Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

i SR EBGE A KOR R B ERIEE - BT
VHAKM R B RERAERZERRMK
HR ) $5 it ©

Total packaging material used for finished
products (in tonnes).
X mATABEREMHEEE (AMEHE) o

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EBHA3: RERAARER
General Disclosure

—RIWE

KPI A3.1
BB AR IR IR R ASA

Aspect A4: Climate Change
BHA4 : RIZRL
General Disclosure

— R R

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant
impact on the environment and natural
resources.
WMIEBEITAHRERRAEREXNEAFR
ZHBR -

Description of the significant impacts of
activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage
them.

R X EBEHRIERRAERNERTY
ENERMEEFRTZENTE -

Policies on identification and mitigation of
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.

BRI EH DR ATREEHETAELEY
ENEARKEBEEABR -

ZZZPUFFHR Sprocomm Inteligence Limited

A.1 Emissions -

(i) Greenhouse gas emissions —
Water consumption

AT HERR— (i) )R = BB —
AKX

A.1 Emissions —
(iv) Non-hazardous waste

A HER— (V) BEEEY

A.3 The environment and natural
resources
ABIRERBAEIR

A.3 The environment and natural
resources
ASRERBAER

A.4 Climate change
Ad4mizEt
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Subject areas, aspects, Description Relevant section in the ESG
general disclosures and KPIs report/Declaration
TEHE EH —REER #Ht B HEREARBEN
BRENER HEEEH BH

KPI A4.1 Description of significant climate-related A.4 Climate change
ARIEIE IR A4 issues which have impacted and/or may A4 RIRE L

impact the issuer and the actions taken to
manage them.
HABKEN KRR ERTANER
FIRAARARIRE - LA K /5 R R 15 L 9 18 i £1

HRE1TED ©
Aspect B1: Employment
EBEB1: EfE
General Disclosure Information on: B.1 Employment and labour
— MR E EEBHWNEE BIEREFA - T{EFF  practices

BoBEH TERE Sl RERAE BIEMRSIHA
Ht BRI :

(@ the policies; and
BR &

(o) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.
BFHETAGEAXZENBBERE
KIROIEE R
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Subject areas, aspects, Description Relevant section in the ESG
general disclosures and KPIs report/Declaration

TEHE EH —REER #Ht B HEREARBEN
BRENER HEEEH BH

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, age group and B.1 Employment and labour
B A SR 1E B .1 geographical region. practices — (i) Employment —

IR FRBRIRNREIDHIEEBE - Total employees
BlEMBREIER—
(ER—EERE

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group B.1 Employment and labour
BRENIEEB.2 and geographical region. practices — (i) Employment —
BRI FERRAR MR EIDEERAL  Total employees
5 o Bi1RERSTIER—

()VE1E—1E B B 8

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EEB2: B#EHEZE

General Disclosure Information on: B.1 Employment and labour
— IR EE ERARMEZE2TERRRIREEEBEE  practices -
XMUBEEM (i) Employee health and safety
BlEERSITEH—
(@ the policies; and (i) (2 B 2R # % 2
BE &

(o) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.
EBTHBITAREAZENHBAERE
KRB E RS -

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities B.1 Employment and labour
RA SR B B2 B2.1 in each of the past three years including the  practices —
reporting year. (i) Employee health and safety
RBAE=FEZF (BERSFE)AIRT BIERERSEIER-
RAB LK o (ifEERERL 2
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RIR - HERERKRE

Subject areas, aspects, Description Relevant section in the ESG
general disclosures and KPIs report/Declaration
TEHE EH —REER #Ht B HEREARBEN
BRENER HEEEH BH

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. B.1 Employment and labour

FR R AE IR IR B2.2

KPI B2.3
BB AE R IE R B2.3

ITHBRIRE -

Description of occupational health and
safety measures adopted, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
BTRERTE2EHE - ARMAMBITRE
Bt S8 i e H o

Aspect B3: Development and Training

BHB3 : R KiEI
General Disclosure

—RIWE

KPI B3.1
S AR IS 1R B3 1

KPIB3.2
BASAERIERB3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge
and skills for discharging duties at work.
Description of training activities.
BRRAERERITIIERE N MBE KA
BVIER - HE SRS ©

Percentage of employees trained by gender
and employee category.

BRI REERRNESNZIRBEBDL °

Average training hours completed by gender
and employee category.
MR K BRARIE
BlEORSE)i3:

 BHEERRE
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practices —

(iiiy Employee health and safety
BlEBREIER—

(i) (B BREEMZ 2

B.1 Employment and labour
practices —

(iiiy Employee health and safety
BlEERSEIEHR—
(ifEEREMZZ

B.1 Employment and labour
practices —

(iv) Development and training
BlEBERSIER—

(IV) %JE &iu DJ ‘

B.1 Employment and labour
practices — (iv) Development and
training
BAEMR NS TER—
(iv) B Rl

B.1 Employment and labour
practices — (iv) Development and
training

BAEMRRS TEHR—
(iv) BB R IE
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RIB - 18K

Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and KPIs
TEHE EBEH —REER
BRENER

E/D%&m

Description

g

Relevant section in the ESG
report/Declaration

BRI HERERREN
HERES BH

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
fETEB4 : 5 T2H|
General Disclosure

—RIEE

KPI B4.1
FA AR IE R BAA

KPI B4.2
FASAEMIEIRBA.2

Information on:
EEEIEET 8 %|4 TH) :
(@ the policies; and
BR &

(o) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.
BTHBITAREAZENHEBER
KIROIEE R

Description of measures to review
employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour.

it ig s E R E PR A R &8 T KA
BT

Description of steps taken to eliminate such
practices when discovered.

i 3R R BN E R A BIE AR
B -

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[EHEB5: HEHEEE
General Disclosure

— R E

KPI B5.1
BASE AR RIE R B5.1

KPI B5.2
FASAE 1R B5.2

Policies on managing environmental and
social risks of the supply chain.
EIRHEENRE R RARBUR -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.
BB EESHHERHRE -

Description of practices relating to engaging
suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, and how
they are implemented and monitored.
MG AERHERERNED  RERTE
MBS EEREE - AREERITRE
RAIE e

B.1 Employment and labour
practices — (i) Employment

BlEEES TER ()RR

B.1 Employment and labour
practices — (i) Employment

BAERMENS TER—()ERE

B.1 Employment and labour
practices — (i) Employment

BlERESIER—()ER

B.2 Operating practices —
(i) Supply chain management
B2EERER—()HEEE R

B.2 Operating practices —
(i) Supply chain management
B2EEFER—()FEEE R

B.2 Operating practices —
(i) Supply chain management
B2EaEH—()HEEER

ZZZPUFFHR Sprocomm Inteligence Limited
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B HEREARE

Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and KPIs
TEHE EBEH —REER
BRENER

Description

g

Relevant section in the ESG
report/Declaration

BRI HERERREN
HERES BH

KPI B5.3
R R E IEIEB5.3

KPI B5.4
R EIEIEB5.4

Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along the
supply chain, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

A SR EE S R ERE Rt
ZREMRAEG - ARBERITRERTE -

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

M EREHEEREEZRARRER R
BRISEVIE D] - LAREREMITRER X -

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

BEEB6: ERMEE
General Disclosure
— B R

KPI B6.1
3 42 A48 IR 1R B6.1

Information on:

BREMREHERMRGHEFREZE EBE

BRERLEFEEARERTTED

(@ the policies; and

128 3

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health
and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products
and services provided and methods of
redress.
BTHBETAREAZENRBER
KRB EHL -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health
reasons.
EEXRCELERAEHTEL 2 EE2EE
HmEKE B S
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B.2 Operating practices -
(i) Supply chain management
B2EEaHE MR —()\HE#ER

B.2 Operating practices —
(i) Supply chain management
B2REEMR—()HERE IR

B.2 Operating practices —
(i) Product responsibility
B2 EH—(\EREE

B.2 Operating practices —
(i) Product responsibility
B2 EHR—(EmEE
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RIR - HERERKRE

Subject areas, aspects,
general disclosures and KPIs
TEHE EBEH —REER
BRENER

Description

g

Relevant section in the ESG
report/Declaration

BRI HERERREN
HERES BH

KPI B6.2
FAS A 512 B6.2

KPI B6.3
BB AR R IE1R B6.3

KPI B6.4
B M IE1RB6.4

KPI B6.5
FASAE MIEIRB6.5

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
BEB7: RES

General Disclosure

— R R

Number of products and service related
complaints received and how they are dealt
with.
BREEREMIRBEHIRFEE AR ES
T o

Description of practices relating to observing
and protecting intellectual property rights.
s ERRENIERGANED -

Description of quality assurance process and
recall procedures.
S SR EREREREKRZRF °

Description of consumer data protection
and privacy policies, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
U B E B RHRE RALRBUR
BT RERTTA -

A K48

Information on:

BRAM LR  BR  MEFRLRERN

(@ the policies; and
BE Rk

(o) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.
BTHETAREAZENRBAERZ
KARGIE RS -

B.2 Operating practices —
(iiy Product responsibility
B2k EH—(\EmEE

B.2 Operating practices —
(i) Product responsibility
B2REER—(EmEE

B.2 Operating practices —
(i) Product responsibility
B2 EER — () EmEE

B.2 Operating practices —

(iv) Data protection and privacy
policy

B2 &EEHR—

(iv) B EHR & R ALBBUR

B.2 Operating practices —

(iii) Anti-fraud and anti-corruption
B2 &EEHR—

(i) R FF R R B E
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Subject areas, aspects, Description Relevant section in the ESG
general disclosures and KPIs report/Declaration
TEHE EH —REER #Ht B HEREARBEN
BRENER HEEEH BH
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding  B.2 Operating practices —
R A R 1E BT .1 corrupt practices brought against the issuer (i) Anti-fraud and anti-corruption
or its employees during the reporting period ~ B.2 & & & R —
and the outcomes of the cases. i\ RBRFRRERE

RBEHAEBRTARERERLAIEE
ROEISHFARTNEE MFRER -

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and B.2 Operating practices —
BRENIEEBT.2 whistleblowing procedures, and how they are (i) Anti-fraud and anti-corruption
implemented and monitored. B2 & EH — (i) R MFF R K

fA P g N RRIET  ARBEERT R
RERNE -

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training B.2 Operating practices —
B E B IE1EBT.3 provided to directors and staff. (ii)y Anti-fraud and anti-corruption
HREERETRHEORESEI - B2 HH—

(i) RERFE R R BB

Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EHEBS : HERE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to B.3 Community investment
— IR EE understand the needs of the communities B3t @K E

where the issuer operates and to ensure

its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

BN R2ER T REIT AL EMEML
EFENBREAZKEHEZEEBMEFNE

HIBR ©
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, B.3 Community investment
A2 4B 812 B8.1 environmental concerns, labour needs, B3tt@iEE

health, culture, sport).
TEEBEE (PIHE - RARNE - 5T
wmRofEE k- BEH) -

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) B.3 Community investment
FR A I 1EB8.2 to the focus area. B3tEmIEE

EEIRBEMBAER(MEHEXEH)
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
e

The directors present to the shareholders the annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024.

Principal activities

The Group is an ODM mobile phone supplier based in the PRC,
primarily engaged in research and development, designing,
manufacturing and sale of mobile phones, PCBAs for mobile
phones and loT related products, targeting emerging markets.
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

Business review

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 is set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement”, “Management and Discussion and Analysis”,
“Corporate Governance Report”, “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” and “Financial Summary” of this annual
report.

Principal risk factors and uncertainties

The following sets out the principal risks and uncertainties
encountered by the Group in its business operations:

Rapid technological changes

The Group operates in the mobile phone industry characterised
by rapid technological changes with short product life cycle, and
the Group may not be able to maintain its revenue growth and
any delay by us in rolling out new and competitive mobile phones
will adversely affect its financial performance.

Thin net profit margin

The Group has a relatively thin net profit margin and hence are
highly sensitive to any unfavorable change in the cost of sales,
selling price and sales volume.

Concentration of customers

The Group has a concentration of customers and any decrease
or loss of business from these major customers could adversely
and substantially affect its business operations and financial
conditions.

EETMRRREEZE_ZE_WF+ A
=+ RAUEFENFRREEZGREMBRE -

FEXR®
REES— BN P B ODMF#AEER
TERENE R HERHEETHE  FH
MEIRIERRAER LB REEEER T2
HREFENS - KRR EEMBRRHFHB
BRERE M BERMKRMTESS -

KO
AEEHE_Z_WNE+_A=+—HILF
EREHOBEHNAFRIEFERE] - [EE
Batmkotr] - [REEAR®RE]  [RE
ENRERREIRIMBHE] S -

FTREBREERFTRERR
TG EBEBLEEARNEEARR
THRERE

BT 88 82 R
AEEMRTFRELE  TEEBRRITEER

® o EmEmANE o AEBERBEEEERK
SERABRMARELEHRARFNNOFH
R A TR S H I B RFER TN E -

AR R%E
AEENMHNRBEWE - FUHHERAE
HEBRLHEENEA AN CEIER R -

BEFE&H
AEEFEREFPETHNERARKREZEFEERE
B ERBGR D 8m KAl e B AT R R
ELRMBARNEEEATNEE -
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Fluctuations in the prices of raw materials
Fluctuations in the prices of raw materials may affect the Group’s
cost of sales and adversely affect its business operations and
profitability.

Future prospect and development

The Group’s business growth is expected to be driven by (i) the
huge population and the increasing disposable income of the
Group’s target sales locations; (ii) increasing demand for loT
products; and (i) the roll-out of 5G telecommunication network.
In order to capture the potential market opportunities, the
Group will continue to expand its production capacity, enhance
its research and development capability, enrich its product
portfolio and increase its sales and marketing effort to diversify its
geographical locations.

Major suppliers and customers

During the year ended 31 December 2024, sales to the Group’s
largest customer and five largest customers accounted for
26.0% and 67.6% (2023: 20.2% and 70.3%) of the total revenue,
respectively.

On the other hand, purchases from the Group’s largest supplier
and the five largest suppliers during the year ended 31 December
2024 accounted for approximately 9.8% and 21.6% (2023: 9.7%
and 28.9%) of the total purchases, respectively.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their close
associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Key relationships with employees,
customers and suppliers

Maintaining good relationships with employees, customers and
suppliers is critical to the Group’s business success. The Group
creates a decent working environment for its employees, where
they can work comfortably and achieve a work life balance. The
Group rewards its employees based on their performance and
also provides training to enhance their skills and knowledge. No
strikes and cases of fatality due to workplace accidents are found
in the reporting period under review.
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The Group believes that it is important to listen to customers’
needs and feedbacks on its products in order to maintain
sustainable relationship with customers. The Group collects such
information from various channels and performs detailed analysis
on how to improve existing products and develop new products
that would satisfy its customers.

The Group encompasses working relationships with suppliers to
meet our customers’ needs in an effective and efficient manner.
The departments work closely to make sure the tendering and
procurement process is conducted in an open, fair and just
manner.

Compliance with laws and regulations

During the year ended 31 December 2024, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Group has complied with all the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group. The Group also complied with () the requirements
under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, the Listing Rules
and the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) for the
disclosure of information and corporate governance; and (i) the
ordinances relating to occupational safety for the interest of its
employees.

Business activities in countries subject to
international sanctions

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group did not sell any products to countries that are subject
to international sanctions. The Group would not enter into any
transactions to finance or facilitate, directly or indirectly, activities
or business with, or for the benefit of, the countries subject to
international sanctions or sanctioned persons where this would
be in breach of the international sanctions.

The Directors believe that the Group has a reasonably adequate
and effective internal control framework to continue to assist the
Group in identifying and monitoring any material risk relating to
international sanctions laws so as to protect the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders.

AEBRA RBEEPHERNFRELER
B EEPFHNRABEBEEEE - A5 HE
REBRBREER FHEITNAKZR
BERNMAEREEFPNHNEMR-

AEBRAERBELIEEE KERAS
MR EEFPHENX - ERFIETEIE - BRBIR
RRBEBERR A FRALE-

BFEERER
BE_T_NF+_A=+t—RHILFE - H$HE
ERA ARBCETHAREAEEARE
B —PIRBAEREAR - ARENREET)E
BRRMGRE - LR BIMES KB G ([
ZRBERGDEREEENMERERD
BRE Ri)BEEBREZZNRD - UREREE
M o

REBRHBNERFEROER
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VG B Bk FE S ok B BB I &L B R 3 B A
THFEFRAREREERETR o
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Environmental policy and social
responsibility

The Group understands the importance of environmental
sustainability and protection and has adopted policies on
pollution prevention, preservation of natural resources and
adherence to environmental laws and regulations. Please refer
to the ESG Report on pages 60 to 100 for details of the Group’s
ESG performance.

Results and dividends

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
and the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at that
date are set out in the financial statements on page 126. The
directors do not recommend the payment of dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

Subsidiaries

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024
are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in
note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Share capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Closure of the register of members

For the purposes of determining the shareholders’ eligibility to
attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting to
be held on 30 May 2025 (Friday), the register of members of
the Company will be closed from 27 May 2025 (Tuesday) to 30
May 2025 (Friday), both days inclusive. The latest time to lodge
transfer documents for registration will be at 4:30 p.m. on 26 May
2025 (Monday). During the above closure period, no transfer of
shares will be registered. To be eligible to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, all transfers accompanied
by the relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong before 4:30 p.m. on 26
May 2025 (Monday).

Pre-emptive rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro
rata basis to existing shareholders.

Purchase, redemption or sale of listed
securities of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities.

Reserves and distributable reserves

The movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity of this annual report. The
distributable reserves of the Company are set out in note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Tax relief and exemption

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or exemption
available to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.
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Charitable donations

The Group did not make any donation during the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: nil).

Management contracts

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company or its
subsidiaries were entered into or existed.

Directors

The directors of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Chengjun (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Xiong Bin (Vice-chairman)

Mr. Guo Qinglin

Mr. Wen Chuanchuan

Mr. He Wenyuan (appointed on 2 December 2024)

Mr. Chan Hoi Shu (appointed on 2 December 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Hung Wai Man
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit
Mr. Lu Brian Yong Chen
Ms. Tseng Chin |
Mr. Ching Khei Cheong Christopher
(appointed on 2 December 2024)

In accordance with article 109(a) of the Company’s articles of
association, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third, shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. The Company
at the general meeting at which a Director retires may fill the
vacated office.
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In accordance with article 113 of the Company’s articles of
association, the Board shall have power from time to time and at
any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual
vacancy or as an additional Director, provided that the number
of Directors so appointed shall not exceed the maximum number
determined from time to time by the shareholders in general
meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting of
the Company after his appointment and be subject to re-election
at such meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then
be eligible for re-election. Any Director appointed under this
article shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors
or the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at an
annual general meeting.

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation as required by
the Company’s articles of association, and the code provisions of
CG Code.

In accordance with 109(a) and 113 of the Company’s articles
of association, Mr. Li Chengjun, Mr. Xiong Bin, Ms. Tseng Chin
[, Mr. He Wenyuan, Mr. Chan Hoi Shu and Mr. Ching Khei
Cheong Christopher will retire by rotation and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

Biographical details of directors and senior
management

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 22 to 32 of this annual report.

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.
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Emoluments of directors and senior
management and five highest paid
individuals

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and senior
management and the five highest paid individuals of the Group
are set out in note 11 and 12 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report. The remuneration of the senior
management of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 falls within the following band:

Remuneration band

B <& =

EE SARAEBAERIERSH
AT E

FEEEE SREBABRABRSHAL
RS S BB RN A FRE A M RKRM T
K12 -BE_Z_WNE+_A=+t—BILFE "
AEESRERABNMEN FUTEHE :

Number of senior management
EREEAEHE

Up to RMB1,000,000
% AR 1,000,000 70

Directors’ service contracts

Each of the executive Directors, expect Mr. Wen Chuanchuan,
Mr. He Wenyuan and Mr. Chan Hoi Shu has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of three years
commencing on 13 November 2019, until terminated by enter
party giving not less than three months’ notice in writing to the
other.

Mr. Wen Chuanchuan was appointed as an executive Director
on 1 June 2021 and he has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 June
2021, until terminated by either party giving not less than three
months’ notice in writing to the other. Mr. He Wenyuan and
Mr. Chan Hoi Shu were appointed as executive Directors, with
effect from 2 December 2024. Each of Mr. He and Mr. Chan has
entered into a service contract with the Company. Pursuant to
the service contracts with Mr. He and Mr. Chan, the initial term of
office for both Mr. He and Mr. Chan is three years commencing
from 2 December 2024 or until the third annual general meeting
of the Company since the date of their appointment, whichever is
sooner.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors except
Mr. CHING Khei Cheong Christopher has entered into an
appointment letter with the Company for a term of three years
commencing on 13 November 2019. Each of the independent
non-executive Directors except Mr. CHING Khei Cheong
Christopher has renewed the appointment letter with the
Company on 13 November 2022 and such appointment will be
terminated by either party giving not less than three months’
notice in writing to the other; and in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles”) and the Listing
Rules.

Mr. Ching Kei Cheong Christopher was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, with effect from 2 December
2024. A service contract has been entered into between Mr.
Ching and the Company. Pursuant to the service contract, his
initial term of office is three years commencing from 2 December
2024 or until the third annual general meeting of the Company
since the date of his appointment, whichever is sooner.

Apart from the foregoing, no Directors proposed for re-election at
the AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment
or compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Permitted indemnity provision

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, every
Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all losses or liabilities (to the fullest extent
permitted by the Companies Laws of the Cayman Islands) which
he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the
duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group.
As of the date of this annual report, such insurance coverage is
currently in force for the benefit of the Directors.
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Directors’ and chief executive’s interests
and short positions in shares, underlying
shares and debentures

As at 31 December 2024, interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares and
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO, which have been notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or have been
entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise have been notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
are as follows:

EERESTTRAERKSG - 1HE
ROKREZ 2 ERER KR

RZZE-_WMF+-_A=+—H0 EEEk&Es
THRABRARRSKHIEEEE (EERES
NMERE GBI XV ED) AR - ARG REH
PHBRBEESFRBAERIEXNVBETRSD
HAEMEARNG RBIOER AR (B
BIEFESF M E G A RBIESCHE ER B
BEZERRAR) IBREESF KBRS
352 E B AR R RIFEE RN E LM AR A
B SREEZEESTAANSADE RBRZAT
MRS BRB T

Interest in the Company RARE] 2R
Percentage of
shareholding in
Number of the Company
Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest shares held RAERAFR
EEpE B, Rt E BREE BatE
(Note 1) (Approximate)
(BtzE1) (#E47)
Mr. Li Chengjun (“Mr. Li”) (Note 2) Founder of a discretionary trust 204,967,204 (L) 20.5%

TERERE ([FEERE]D H22) 2REEFFERIIEA

Mr. Xiong Bin (“Mr. Xiong”) (Note 3) Founder of a discretionary trust 140,032,256 (L) 14.0%

R SR (TREE 4D (B2 3) 2REFERIIA

Notes:
1. The letter “L” denotes long position of the shares.

2. Leap Elite Limited is legally owned as to 100% by Mr. Li for the benefit of
the beneficiaries of the family trust found by himself. Accordingly, Mr. Li is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Leap Elite Limited pursuant to
the SFO.

3. Beyond Innovation Limited is legally owned as to 100% by Mr. Xiong for the
benefit of the beneficiaries of the family trust found by himself. Accordingly,
Mr. Xiong is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Beyond
Innovation Limited pursuant to the SFO.

1 1 0 Sprocomm Intelligence Limited  Annual Report 2024

Bt -

1. FEILIRKRRRHTHNETER -

2. VBRERAREAFELERHEBUNRKETXHEA
MMM IEHEAR 100% 6 © Bt - RIBEES R
BEGRO FAERBERNIEBR QR FAFRG S
BEAES

3. BHARARHAREEREBUYUNRKETIXZAEA
BT A EHEAR 100% 6 © Bt - REBEESF R
B  RREERRBRBH AR QB AF RN F
HEAES



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEWRESE

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive
of the Company had registered any interests or short positions
in any shares and underlying shares in, and debentures of, the
Company or any associated corporations as at 31 December
2024, as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code.

Arrangement for directors to purchase
shares or debentures

Saved as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year
ended 31 December 2024 were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any Director of the Company or their
respective spouses or minor children, or were such rights
exercised by them, or was the Company, its holding company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures)
of the Company or any other body corporate.
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Substantial shareholders’ and others’
interests and short positions in shares and
underlying shares of the company

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2024,
the following corporation/persons (other than the interests of
the Directors or chief executives of the Company as disclosed
above) had interests of 5% or more in the issued shares which
fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

FTERRREMALRALQF
BROREEROHPEIHNERK

NP
RB

REERM R-_ZE-_WE+=-A=+—81
THEE AL (EXFBEEZ ARG ES
BETHRABERBRINBEARREEITR
D 5% BIA EWHERS B IRIE B 5 R EEEF)
FEXVEBEE 2 K 35 ERGSTZR M AN A &) K Bt 32 P
WEHRBLALARBBREES KB EENE
336 XA BE M E R

Percentage of
shareholding in

Number of the Company
Name Capacity/nature of interest shares held RAQARFR
721 1/ EntE FREEB Bt
(Note 1) (Approximate)
(Bizt1) (B49)
Leap Elite Limited Beneficial owner 204,967,204 (L) 20.5%
VEBRERADF Bt
Beyond Innovation Limited Beneficial owner 140,032,256 (L) 14.0%
B AR AR Bt
Ms. Sui Rongmei (Note 2) Interest of spouse 204,967,204 (L) 20.5%
P2+ (Hat2) B (B 2
Ms. Yan Xue (Note 3) Interest of spouse 140,032,256 (L) 14.0%
BEL L (KHiE3) fic B 1 &
Notes: Htat -
1. The letter “L” denotes long position of the shares. 1. FEILIRKRAROFHGTE -

2. Ms. Sui Rongmei is the spouse of Mr. Li Chengjun. By virtue of the SFO,
she is deemed to be interested in the same number of shares held by Mr. Li

Chengjun.

3. Ms. Yan Xue is the spouse of Mr. Xiong Bin. By virtue of the SFO, she is
deemed to be interested in the same number of shares held by Mr. Xiong

Bin.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the
Company has not been notified of any other relevant interests or
short positions in the issued share capital of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO.

Directors’ interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No Director or his/her connected entity has or had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries, fellow
subsidiaries or its parent company was a party subsisting during
or at the end of the year ended 31 December 2024.

Directors’ interest in competing business

Apart from the Group’s business, none of the Directors or any
of their respective close associates was engaged in or had any
interest in any business that competes or may compete with the
principal business of the Group, which would require disclosure
under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules. or has any other conflict
of interest with the Group during the year ended 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this report.

Share option scheme

The Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) on 18 October 2019 (the “Adoption
Date”), which become effective on 13 November 2019. The
purpose of which is to motivate the eligible participants to
optimise their future contributions to the Group and/or to
reward them for their past contributions, to attract and retain or
otherwise maintain on-going relationships with such participants
who are significant to and/or whose contributions are or will be
beneficial to the performance, growth or success of the Group.
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The eligible participants include any full-time or part-time
employees, executives or officers, directors, advisers,
consultants, suppliers, customers and agents of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries; and such other persons who, in the sole
opinion of the Board, will contribute or have contributed to the
Group.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme,
the maximum numbers of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes shall not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the Company’s
shares in issue as at 13 November 2019 (i.e. 100,000,000
shares) unless approved by the shareholders of the Company.
Such limit also represented 10% of the of the total issued shares
of the Company as at the date of this annual report.

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company in general
meeting in the manner stipulated in the Listing Rules, the
maximum entitlement for each eligible participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) under the Share Option
Scheme or any other share option schemes of the Company in
any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1%
of the total number of shares in issue.

An option shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted
by the grantee and to have taken effect when the duplicate offer
document constituting acceptance of the options duly signed by
the grantee, together with a remittance in favour of the Company
of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof, is
received by the Company on or before the relevant acceptance
date.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time after the date upon which
the option is deemed to be granted and accepted and prior to
the expiry of ten years from that date. The minimum period for
which an option must be held before it can be exercised will be
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, save that no
option may be exercised more than ten years after it has been
granted.
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The exercise price of share option granted under the Share
Option Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board
and shall be at least highest of: (a) the closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the
date of grant of the option; (b) the average of the closing prices
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant of the option; and (c) the nominal value of a share.

Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general meeting
or by the Directors, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years from the Adoption Date. As
at 31 December 2024, the remaining life of the Share Option
Scheme was approximately four years and 9.5 months.

For further details on the principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme, please refer to the paragraph headed “Statutory and
General Information — Other Information — 1. Share Option
Scheme” in Appendix IV to the prospectus of the Company
dated 30 October 2019.

As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, the number of
share options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme
was 100,000,000 and 100,000,000, respectively. During the
year ended 31 December 2024, no share options were granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed.

Connected transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has not
entered into or conducted any connected transactions, which
were subject to the reporting, announcement or independent
shareholders’ approval requirements as required under the
Listing Rules.

Related party transactions

Details of the Group’s related party transactions during the
year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements. None of these related party
transactions are connected transactions which are subject
to the reporting, announcement and shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules.
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Purchase, sale or redemption of the
company’s listed securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

Corporate governance practices

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this
annual report.

Equity-linked agreements

Other than the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained a public float of no less than 25% of
the issued shares for the year ended 31 December 2024 and up
to the date of this report.

Review of audited annual results

The Company’s audited annual results for the year ended 31
December 2024 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Model code for securities transactions by
directors of listed issuers

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions. All Directors of the Company
have confirmed that, following specific enquiry by the Company,
they have compiled with the required standard set out in the
Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to
the date of the report.
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Auditor

Moore CPA Limited, the auditor of the Company, will retire at
the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM of the Company and
be eligible to offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
will be submitted to the AGM to be held on 30 May 2025 to
seek Shareholders’ approval on the appointment of Moore CPA
Limited as the Company’s auditor until the conclusion of the next
AGM and to authorise the Board to fix their remuneration.

By order of the Board
Sprocomm Intelligence Limited
Mr. Li Chengjun

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB R

‘K| MOORE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
SPROCOMM INTELLIGENCE LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Sprocomm Intelligence Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 126 to 208, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B BN =

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

PR EST B
BEESNELAN BREFFERTS
RERFBEANBEREREENFE-

EEEENECMBERREEBERHLERAE
ARERENEEE MIAeRHEEEES
BRER -

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Expected credit loss (‘ECL”) of trade and 8BS EWE

bills receivables

Refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policy information in Note 3.

The key audit matter
HREETSBE

RIE K BRI 2 TR
FEFBR(RUEEERFE]D
ELNEAMBRRMEORMFINE;
BEAR -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERETPOMEEEBASE

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of trade
and bills receivables amounted to RMB587,382,000,
representing 18% of the Group’s total current assets.

ECL for trade and bills receivables is estimated based
on lifetime ECL model, which is estimated based on
historical credit loss experience and forward-looking
information at the end of the reporting period.

We have identified impairment of trade and bills
receivables as a key audit matter because the impairment
assessment of trade and bills receivables involved a
significant degree of management estimation and may
be subject to management bias.

R-ZE-NMF+-_A=+—B BZRERKFEREK
ERMEEEAARKS587,382,0007C ' (h E£ER

BEEREN18% -

BIRUFENEREEREZHEHEEBERA
EEtEERE MEREEERDERREHRNE

EEEBRLRMIBEEERGEST -

HREZREFAELREREERENE S REXNEE
Bt REEEARLERR  BFEKE S ENFIR
KRR R E R R & — AR E R F IR -

Our procedures were designed to review the
management’s judgement and estimates used in the
assessment process and challenge the reasonableness
of inputs and assumptions used in estimating the ECL of
trade and bills receivables.

We obtained an understanding of how the ECL of trade
and bills receivables were assessed by the management.

BEENIEFE EEHEE BN M BIZAAERA e H G
Kfhat WERENEFAEZRBRURABRBRREZE
HEEBRETMRABARBRRROAEE

EECDTHREEEHEZRUGREARERREE 2 AH
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B BN =

Expected credit loss (‘ECL”) of trade and ESRWFHIEREKREE A

bills receivables (Continued)

The key audit matter
HARETSBE

FEER((RUFEERE] @

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERETPOMEEEBEEE

1 20 Sprocomm Intelligence Limited  Annual Report 2024

We have challenged management’s key assumptions
and judgement in determining ECL on trade and bills
receivables as at 31 December 2024, the reasonableness
of management’s grouping of the trade debtors in the
provision matrix, and the basis of ECL rates applied,
adjusted for forward-looking information including both
current and forecast general economic conditions.

We have tested, on sample basis, payment history,
past due status of the trade and bills receivables, and
the settlements subsequent to the end of the reporting
period.

We have tested the accuracy of the historical default
data and tested trade receivables past due ageing
analysis as at 31 December 2024, on a sample basis,
by comparing individual items in the analysis with the
relevant supporting documents.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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Valuation of inventories

Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policy information in Note 3.

The key audit matter
HRETSBR

FEMEE
ELNEAMBRRME BRI FINE

l?lﬁ/

R e

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EENEHPOMEEEBESE

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount
of inventories amounted to approximately
RMB326,034,000, representing 10% of the Group’s total
current assets.

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key audit
matter due to the use of judgements in identifying
obsolete and slow-moving inventories and determining
the net realisable value which are based on conditions
and the marketability of the inventories.

R-ZZ-_ME+-_A=+—B FENKREENR
AR#¥326,034,0007L -1 EEENRBHEELE
10% °

EERFEGARAMRETER  STHREMIRE
MFEHFE  ARBRBFEGRELEHEEETAIZE
FERSERAE BSNEAEFEETHERE
;Tﬁ%%ﬁ/%ﬁﬁr AR RSN G  LEEFE
(A 5 (B R 2

Our audit procedures were designed to evaluate
management’s assessment of the conditions and the
marketability of the obsolete and slow-moving inventories
and identify any valuation risk of inventories.

We have assessed the net realisable values and
subsequent sales of inventories on a sample basis and
inspected the utilisation report and sales contracts
entered into between the Group and its customers on a
sample basis.

We have discussed with the management in respect of
the adequacy of the allowance made by the management
based on subsequent usage and sales, ageing analysis
and current market conditions.

We have challenged the assumptions and judgements
used by the management by assessing the reliability of
the management’s past estimates.
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Other information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors and the audit
committee for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit

Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of Group’s internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

R BB B R B B SRR AR
EHEME
EEMERARBESHENTRER A
BRERAMERREBTEEABNKT
RERME N EARERL - L HHRE
EEEAMBBMRE - FREEAZER
RRE - BREZANEEBE N BETEH
RBENREHEMEMA T B ERRBELE -

EEBRETBEEANEE HRESBEE
ERAETHER T ETERELERENT
EHMBERRERA - 5K B R AT F ARGk 88
REL WMEHNNEBRBESERNBERTH
TEERERBEZFEAMBHERFELOL
BEORER - A BERKERAL -

EREBEREEFTENETEANBRES B
SEREXRHE REFXREER -BF:

o FRILFERANRFRERMERLGS
VHEBRRFEEARERANER - &R
FERMITESEF AR ZFAR - LA
RERZRBEENETRE FRES
BROER ARNRFAEYRER
i FEER ERRASEE &
B R S R BN - B R BE IR E A
FEMEMMEARRERANRE RSN K
RERAERMEBNBERNRERMD
R o

fr BT AARAE A B E S PARRGHE
MBEHEF EYIFEEY EKHE

T
AEEHHEREBERER -

e HAEEFARASHTBRRMBEERIE
HEFHERTMAER R EN SR -

—Z =44 Sprocomm Inteligence Limited 123



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B BN =

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statement or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for the
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Moore CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Chan King Keung

Practising Certificate Number: PO6057

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeBREkEMEEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 = F —Y&F+ = H =+ —HIFF/E

2024 2023
—E-mE —EC=4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5E AR®T ARBEF T
Revenue g ) 2,917,434 2,822,921
Cost of sales $H & P AR (2,659,665) (2,523,333)
Gross profit EF 257,769 299,588
Other gains and income Eoqth i as g A 7 74,007 38,780
Selling and distribution expenses 8% & 2§87 X2 (56,758) (58,654)
Administrative expenses THHAX (76,601) (63,797)
Research and development 43
expenses (141,885) (139,686)
Finance costs BhE A AR 8 (36,191) (36,284)
Profit before tax R B4 A& 20,341 39,947
Income tax expense FrE TR 9 (4,732) (8,931)
Profit for the year FRER 10 15,609 31,016
Other comprehensive income B £ E 75
Itemns that may be reclassified ~— E & A]fEE# 7 HE 2 150
subsequently to profit or l0ss: HIEE -
Exchange difference arising on ~ HE/BINETEEEMWE K
translating foreign operations Z5 (289) (611)
Total comprehensive income FR2MHEKHATE
for the year 15,320 30,505
Profit attributable to: AT & 77 IS &= A
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZZS N 16,341 32,369
Non-controlling interests e (732) (1,353)
15,609 31,016
Total comprehensive income AT&FEEEEKE
attributable to: EEE -
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZ ¥ =N 16,056 31,863
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR A (736) (1,358)
15,320 30,505
Earnings per share BRAT 14
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) EAREE (ARESD) 1.63 3.24
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e IR R

At 31 December 2024 —ZF —pyF+ _—H=+—H

2024 2023
—E-mE —EC=4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARET R AREF T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment  #1% « BB L& & 15 97,166 95,899
Right-of-use assets FHELSE 16 35,855 8,166
Intangible assets mEAE 17 4,720 6,162
Deferred tax assets REFRIBE E 28 2,966 688
140,707 110,915
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 18 326,034 377,630
Trade and bills receivables Z 5 WA R B EE 19 587,382 808,830
Prepayments and other TEAT FRIE B HAth & R IE
receivables 20 127,997 82,067
Amounts due from shareholders & Y J& 58 30 18 21 6,341 6,341
Pledged bank deposits BEHERIRITER 22 2,127,302 2,368,420
Bank balances and cash RITEHRLRS 23 79,364 67,951
3,254,420 3,711,239
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and bills payables B HRENFIBERENEE 24 2,708,516 3,158,712
Accruals and other payables FEETE A R H b FE 5B 25 88,331 92,541
Contract liabilities EHBaE 25 23,117 32,472
Borrowings &= 26 138,877 142,622
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 5,861 5,890
Deferred income RIEY A 27 850 1,633
Income tax payable e TS HR 2,277 4,591
R 2,967,829 3,438,461
Wolowoniessels ROKERE 286,591 NE— Zere
Total assets less current HWEERRBERS
liabilities 427,298 383,693
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= \ Q)
A AR R TR
At 31 December 2024 —F —JJF+—-H=+—H
2024 2023
—E-mE —EC=4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
ibg=2 ARET ARBFT
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Deferred income PRIEY A 27 3,705 4,135
Deferred tax liability EERIBEE 28 14,738 14,102
Lease liabilities HEBaE 16 33,504 2,425
Borrowings &= 26 8,817 11,817
60,764 32,479
Net assets BEERE 366,534 351,214
Capital and reserve EXK#E
Share capital &7 29 8,945 8,945
Reserves fE & 30 359,196 343,140
Equity attributable to owners of AR &1 #E A A E{H S
the Company 368,141 352,085
Non-controlling interests SRR (1,607) (871)
Total equity DB 366,534 351,214

F126 2 128EMBE AV BRRCN_F -5
FoZA-TERESESSMERIRENE -

The consolidated financial statements on page 126 to 128 were
approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on

27 March 2025.

Li Chengjun Xiong Bin
FEE REM
Director Director
BF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GAEREDE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZF — Y+ - H =+—HIFFE

Atrioutable to owners of the Company

KARERARG
Non-
Share S Stalutoy  Tranglafion Merger Other  Retained controling
captl - premium T6ENe T6ENe fBSENE  IBSRIVES pofts — Sub-ofd  interests Total
BE RIEE  tREE  HERE  A0RB  AMEE  RERA It FBRER fgt
RVMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOO0  RMBOOD  RMBOO0  RWBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RVBYOND
ARBTT ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR
ot 29 ot 30)) ot 300 Wote 300)
(#2) (Wtap) (tzn) (w0
A1 January 2023 NEzE-F-H 8945 89439 3,766 (4694 Q6744 85809 134701 02 47 30,709
Proft for the year Efgh = - - - - - R 32,369 (1353 31016
Ottercomprehensiesxpense. EH2ERT - - - (306) - - - (506) ] (31)
Totdcompehensieppense) ER2E(ER) /UkEE
income for the year - - - (506) - - 3,369 31863 (1358 30,05
Appropraton o stattory resene. EEEEEEE - - 3052 - - - B0 - - 2
At 31 December 2023 it g 8945 89,439 3818 G200 @674 85809 164018 362,085 g1 1214
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GARNEDE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —F —y#+—-H =+—HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FLARRARE

Non-
Share Share  Statutory  Translation ~ Merger Other  Refained controlling
captl  premium  reseve  resenve  resenve  reserves profits ~ Subfotal  interests Total
Re  BROEE tERR  RERE  AKERE  HERR  REE Mt FERER it
RMB'000  RMBOO0  RMB'000  RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR ARMTR ARMTZ ARMTR ARETRL ARMIR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Note29) (Note 301) Note 300~ (Note 39/if)
hz2) () () (W)
At1 January 2024 H-E-mE-R-H 8945 89439 3818 (52000 (6744 85809 164018 352,08 @n) 31214
Proft forthe year Epgi - - - - - - 16 1634 13) 15609
Ohercompehensieexpense  Z2EER - - - (285) - - - (285) 1] (289)
Totd comprehensive xpense)/ ~ EM2E (B %) /WELE
income for the year - - - (265) - - 16,341 16,056 (736 15320
Appropraton o stattory resene. EEEEEEE - - 4,165 - - A ] - -
At 31 December 2024 W-5-mETZA=1-R 8045 89439 30,983 (5485 (6744 85809 176194 368,141 (1,607 366,534
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
nVT/\IﬁﬁlJlbi%%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZF — Y+ - H =+—HIFFE

2024 2023
ZE-ME —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AR¥ETR ARETT
Operating activities ReEs
Profit before tax BR B4 A A 20,341 39,947
Adjustments for: -
Finance costs BBER 8 36,191 36,284
Amortisation of government grant B 4 B 8H 7 (1,680) (9,818)
Bank interest income RATHF WA 7 (44,061) (11,503)
Loss on disposal of property, plantand ~ HEWE - BE KRG
equipment BB 10 9 509
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESHH 17 2,374 2,382
Provision of loss allowance recognised T8 SRR REY
in respect of trade and bills SREANEERE
receivables 19 8,415 3,360
Depreciation of property, plant and WE - BERSEINE
equipment 15 16,366 14,221
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 10 10,665 18,325
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HKBAREAE 10 - 419
Operating cash flows before working HEESEPRLERS
capital changes hE 48,620 94,126
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BEEM/ (BD) 51,679 (190,150)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills B I EWRIERER
receivables ZgEm/ (RL) 215,012 (618,397)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayment and B R8 R H At FE UK
other receivables B (#&m,/m (38,960) 62,208
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables B IRNFERENSE
&R /1 (280,811) 701,387
(Decreass)/increase in accruals and e B R R EMEMNR
other payables BORA) /1 m (4,238) 15,834
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilites A #I1& & (R4) /10 (9,594) 1,968
Cash (used in)/from operations LB () /FiBsRE (18,292) 66,976
Income tax paid BRATEE (8,829) (10,114)
Net cash (used in)/from KETH (A) /Fis
operating activities REFE (27,121) 56,862
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CONSOL|DATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n‘/j—\ IE%/)ILE%%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF — Y+ _-H=+—HIFFE

2024 2023
—ECMEF —Z-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BisE AR¥ETR AREFT
Investing activities REEH
Payments for purchase of property, plant B E ¥ - BiE kR B
and equipment (F: 15 (17,638) (7,015)
Payments for purchase of intangible asset  #L8 B £ & ENH 17 (932) (885)
Proceed from disposal of a subsidiary HE—HIBARME
A - 14,391
Placement in pledged bank deposits FABERRIER (2,127,302 (3,307,361)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits ROEERRTER 2,368,420 1,703,380
Government subsidies received BN BT 8L 27 467 =
Interest received BEFE 37,132 10,071
Net cash from/(used in) investing REZBME/(FTA)
cEedes ReBE 260147 (1,587,419)
Financing activities METH
New borrowings raised HESEN 36 171,033 458,262
Repayments of borrowings EEEK (178,949) (356,474)
(Decreass)/increase in bills payable under % fE 7 g1 & e HE 1B T e
supplier finance arrangement ZE(RD) /B (170,965) 1,516,230
Payments for capital element of lease HEERERBAHMR
liabilties (7,207) (18,287)
Interest paid ERFLE (36,191) (36,284)
Net cash (used in)/from financing BMETH (FTA) /Fi
Cotvies s N ... W 1563447
Net increase in cash and cash ReRRAEEEMEM
equivalents k) 10,747 32,890
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning £BREREEZEY
of the year 67,951 36,635
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ~ EXRZFHH) £ 666 (1,574)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the FXRBEERHEEZEY
year 23 79,364 67,951
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZF — Y+ - H =+—HIFFE

1.

GENERAL

Sprocomm Intelligence Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies
Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as combined and revised)
of the Cayman lIslands as an exempted company with
limited liability on 15 August 2018 and its shares have
been listed on Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 13 November
2019 (the “Listing”). The ultimate controlling parties are
Mr. Li Chengjun and Mr. Xiong Bin (the “Controlling
Shareholders”), who are also executive directors of the
Company.

The address of the registered office is located in P.O.BOX
31119 Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay
Road, Grand Cayman, KY1-1205, Cayman Islands and
the principal place of business of the Company is located
in 33/F, Building 1 Huagiang Science and Technology
Innovation Plaza Meilin Street, No. 6018 North Ring
Boulevard, Futian District, Shenzhen, China.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are designing,
manufacturing and sales of mobile phones and printed
circuit board assembly products (“PCBA”) and Internet
of things (“loT”) related products and investment holding.
Particulars of the subsidiaries have been set out in Note 35.
The Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to
as the “Group”.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

1.
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Sprocomm Intelligence Limited ([ 22 3] ])
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Al ([BRAD EREM(TEM] o &£
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YR BRI IR KB 6018 5Rig M &
g Pl BIESH 1 FR331E ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B IS RAREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

1.

GENERAL (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally based
on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
goods and services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB
which is also the functional currency of the Company, and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousands, except
when otherwise indicated.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

(a) Adoption of amendments to HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied the
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2024 for
the preparation of the financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as Current
HKAS 1 or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)
Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
HKAS 1
Amendments to Supplier Finance Arrangements
HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has
had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and position for the current and prior year
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

(@) Adoption of amendments to HKFRSs
(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance
Arrangements

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year.

The amendments add a disclosure objective to
HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows stating that an
entity is required to disclose information about its
supplier finance arrangements that enables users of
financial statements to assess the effects of those
arrangements on the entity’s liabilities and cash flows.

In addition, HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures was amended to add supplier finance
arrangements as an example within the requirements
to disclose information about an entity’s exposure to
concentration of liquidity risk.

In accordance with the transition provision, the entity
is not required to disclose comparative information for
any reporting periods presented before the beginning
of the annual reporting period in the first year of
application as well as the information required by
HKAS 7:44 (b)(ii) and (b)(iii) above as at the beginning
of the annual reporting period in which the entity first
applies those amendments.

The Group has provided additional disclosures related
to the amendments in notes 24 and 32(b).

—

FE P #T R B AR F] B R M 3R
SRR ((FEBUHHREER]D

(a) KMEBUBRELENES

7 (%)
EREBREEAETHRE
BU RS ERE T RETA
R E R T
AREBNANFEERERZFERA -

ZEETANBEGERF 7R
RERERMA-—EKERR 7
RERANEABHRERRE R
ZEM EHBHHRREAEELMT
BRSFLHUEBRERRSRE
LR e

BESN - BAEMBRE LR ET RS R
THE:BEECIELER  mAHE
BAREZHESREERREET
MEBETRARZERRE &M -

BEBEGRY ERJAFERE
BEAFEZFE RS HMBEBA
2% 2 EaHREHEz bR ER -
LA K & 78 & 51 48 A 88 7 9% 28 44(0)(il)
ROi)ERENERENERAZS
BRI 2 F RS HRFmREE 2 B8 o

RE B 5E 24 & 32(0) 1 it B B 7%
LRI R 2 BEIMNEEE -

ZEZZPUEFR Sprocomm Intelligence Limited 135



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs not yet
effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification
and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments®

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards Accounting Standards —
Volume 11°
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

1 36 Sprocomm Intelligence Limited  Annual Report 2024

V& R 3R] R ARRAEF] BB B I 3R
EEA((HFEMBREER ]

(b) EARERHET REBTE

78 B R 5 2 Rl
ARALEIRFEA THIEREME
R AR 3 ] AR NS ST BB B

s R

ERRBHRERNE SBMIANHEE
IORRABHBR  FEBITA)S
HEAETR (B
HES)

ERMBRERAE REEHHBENT
10RRERSE FEERE R
RAEBH(BF] BEHEIIE
x)

BRMBREENE BEMBREER
STERI(BETA) SHEACER

- E 1153

BB GHENE21H Bz B2

(CHES)
EEMBREENE HBRROZIR
18%¢ BE
T RBAETH B R B a8
R AE 3R
: RCoE-RE— A AR ERBOE
Z HARE A 3K
s RCEoANE— A AR ERBOE
& HAPS A 3
‘RSBt E— AR ERBNE
EHIR A

B N e RIGIERT B AR B RS
EASN RRREEHEHRERAME
HpH BBV HRELERREE
AIARABERRRIGHEAME
BRERERTE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on
presentation and disclosures in financial statements,
will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in
HKAS 1, introduces new requirements to present
specified categories and defined subtotals in the
statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in
the notes to the financial statements and improve
aggregation and disaggregation of information to be
disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, some
HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and
HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of
Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also
made.

HKFRS 18, and the related amendments to other
standards, will be effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2027, with early application
permitted. The application of the new standard is
expected to affect the presentation of the statement
of profit or loss and disclosures in the future financial
statements. The Group is in the process of assessing
the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B IS RAREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and (jii) the ability to use its
power over the investee to affect the amount of the Group’s
returns.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the
Company and non-controlling interest.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
entities of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries in preparing the consolidated
financial statements to bring their accounting policies in line
with the Group’s accounting policies.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests
in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e TR R MR

W

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests
in existing subsidiaries (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised
goods and services to customers at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services to a customer.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

e  The customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

e The Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

e The Group’ performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected
on behalf of third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B IS RAREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Contract liabilities (Continued)

Sales of goods

The Group produces and sells mobile phones, PCBAs
for mobile phones, 0T related products, and other
products related to mobile phones. |oT related products
are a combination of hardware and software that enable
remote control and monitoring of devices, such as smart
locks, laptops, electric scooters, etc. Revenue from the
sale of goods is recognised when control of the product
is transferred to the customer. Control of the product is
considered transferred to the customer generally on delivery
of goods to the customer’s specified location and when
customer acceptance has been obtained, which is the point
of time the customer has the ability to direct the use of
these products and obtain substantially all of the remaining
benefits of these products.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
and accepted by customers as this is the point in time that
the consideration is unconditional because only the passage
of time is required before the payment is due. Payment of
the transaction price is usually due within 30-90 days of
the date when control of the products is transferred to the
customer.

The Group received 5% to 30% of the contract value as
deposit from certain customers when they signed the sale
and purchase agreement for sales of products. For certain
sale orders received from customers relating to loT related
products, the Group received 80% of the contract value
as upfront deposit when they signed the sale agreement.
These deposits are recognised as contract liabilities until the
goods have been delivered to the customers.

The Group provides warranties for general repairs of
defects to ensure that the products comply with agreed
upon specification and they are therefore assurance-
type warranties and the Group accounts for the warranty
in accordance which HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A PR AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Lease

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with
respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee,
except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option). For these leases,
the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease
unless another systematic basis is more representative of
the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
assets are consumed.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments that are
not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted by
using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability represents the fixed lease payments (including in-
substance fixed payments).

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing
the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the
carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B IS RAREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Lease (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets are initially recognized at amounts
which comprise the initial measurement amount of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or
before the commencement date and any initial direct costs,
less lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. They are
depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful
life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the
commencement date of the lease.

The Group applies HKAS 36 to determine whether a right-
of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified
impairment loss as described in the “Impairment losses
on tangible assets and intangible assets” policy as stated
below.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in
the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under
the heading of translation reserve.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits
of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B IS RAREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at
initial recognition due to application of the initial recognition
exemption.

Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method as follows:

5 years or over lease term
whichever is shorter
3 years to 5 years

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery

Furniture and fixture 3 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Office equipment 3 years
Ownership interests in land and building 20 years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A PR AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
buildings

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use
assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest
in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B IS RAREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately (Continued)
The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition,
internally-generated intangible asset is reported at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets acquired
separately. Expenditure on research activities is recognised
as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Development costs and patents are internally generated.
Capitalised development cost represents the cost in
relation to the self-developed feature for IT products. All of
the Group’s computer software were acquired from third
parties. Such intangible assets are amortised on a straight-
line basis over the following periods:

Computer software 10 years
Patents 10 years
Development costs 3 years

Cash and cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash as defined
above.

Interests in subsidiaries

Interests in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of
financial position of the Company at cost less any identified
impairment loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A PR AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EREHEEER®@m
INFORMATION (Continued)
Inventories FE

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are calculated using weighted
average method. Net realisable value of inventories
represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value, except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Financial assets

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured
in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets. The
Group’s financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B IS RAREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period.

For financial instruments, the effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form
an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding ECL,
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount
of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at
which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition
minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative
amortisation using the effective interest method of any
difference between that initial amount and the maturity
amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. On the other
hand, the gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the
amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any
loss allowance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A PR AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest method
(Continued)

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently
at amortised cost. For financial instruments other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included
in the “other gains and income” line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial
assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS
9 (including trade and bills receivables, pledged bank
deposits, restricted deposits, other receivables, amounts
due from shareholders and bank balances and cash).
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the
respective financial instruments.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and bills
receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial
assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on
the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well
as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.

Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience and forward looking information
including both current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9 for trade and bills receivables.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

U

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Company
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Company considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

U

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; or

e an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument
has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term and iii) adverse changes in economic
and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of
‘investment grade’ as per globally understood definition
or if an external rating is not available, the asset has an
internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means that
the counterparty has a strong financial position and
there is no past due amounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B IS RAREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

U

(i)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable.

e when there is a breach of financial covenants by
the counterparty; or

o information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade
and bills receivables, when the amounts are over 24
months past due, whichever occur sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A PR AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

BERXETHEER @)

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of expected credit losses is a
function of the probability of default, loss given default
(i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this
is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at
the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B IS RAREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

V)

(vi)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For the financial assets, the expected credit loss is
estimated as the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the
current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime
ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at
the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset is derecognised only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A PR AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(vi) Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities including trade and bills
payables, other payables, borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generation units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B IS RAREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as immediately in profit or
loss as income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

W

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # % —Z& —

4.

e TR R MR

— g —
28

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenue and expenses reported and disclosures made in
the consolidated financial statements. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of
resulting in @ material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use assets) and
intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets) and intangible assets are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation, amortisation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any. The estimated useful
lives reflect the Company'’s directors’ estimate of the periods
that the Group intends to derive future economic benefits
from the use of the Group’s property, plant and equipment
(including right-of-use assets) and intangible assets, based
on various factors. The estimation of useful lives impacts
the level of annual depreciation or amortisation expenses
recorded.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B IS RAREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets with
finite useful life

If circumstances indicate that the carrying value of a
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets with finite useful life may not be
recoverable, the asset may be considered impaired, and
an impairment loss may be recognised in profit or loss.
These assets are tested for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that their recorded
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. When a decline
of the assets’ recoverable amounts below the carrying
amounts has occurred, the carrying amount is reduced to
the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
greater of the fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. It is difficult to precisely estimate fair value less costs
of disposal because quoted market prices for the Group’s
assets are not readily available. In determining value in use,
expected future cash flows to be generated by the asset, or
cash generating unit, are discounted to their present value,
which requires significant judgement relating to level of sales
volume and amount of operating costs. The Group uses all
readily available information in determining the estimated
amounts that are reasonable and supports for calculate
of the recoverable amounts, including estimates based on
reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections
of sales volume and amounts of operating costs. As at
31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of right-of-
use assets, property, plant and equipment, and intangible
assets were RMB35,855,000, RMB97,166,000 and
RMB4,720,000 (2023: RMB8,166,000, RMB95,899,000
and RMB6,162,000) respectively.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Impairment losses recognised in respect of
trade and bills receivables

The impairment for trade and bills receivables is based
on assumptions about ECL. The Group used judgement
in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the number of days
that trade and bills receivables are outstanding as well
as the Group’s historical experience and forward-looking
information at the end of the reporting period. Changes in
these assumptions and estimates could materially affect the
result of the assessment and it may be necessary to make
additional impairment charge to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying values of trade
and bills receivables is approximately RMB587,382,000
(31 December 2023: approximately RMB808,830,000)
net of allowance for doubtful debt of approximately
RMB14,280,000 (31 December 2023: RMB5,865,000).

Allowances recognised in respect of
inventories

The management of the Group reviews an ageing analysis
at the end of each reporting period and makes allowance for
obsolete and slow-moving items identified that are no longer
suitable for sale or use. The Group makes allowance for
inventories based on the assessment of the net realisable
value. The management estimates the net realisable value
for inventories based on subsequent usage and sales,
ageing analysis and current market conditions. As at 31
December 2024, the carrying amounts of inventories were
approximately RMB326,034,000 (2023: RMB377,630,000)
and no impairment loss has been recognised for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF — Y+ _-H=+—HIFFE

5. REVENUE 5. W=

Revenue represents revenue arising on sales of goods
in the normal course of business, net of discounts and

1451 a*a

—REBBETHERMEL

o (BB REERATRE) -

sales related taxes. The Group’s revenue for the year is TEEFRAZKRERE —BHEIHEE
recognised on a point in time basis. R o
An analysis of revenue from contracts with customers EXZERERS BEP&HkED
disaggregated by major product types is as follows: MranT :
2024 2023
—EmE —T_=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETF T
Mobile phones F i 1,894,440 2,137,747
PCBAs Ef ll 28 B R 48 5% - 55,588
loT related products Bk A8 AR A 2 822,713 483,801
Others* Hth~ 200,281 145,785
2,917,434 2,822,921

Mainly represent sales of materials and components of the mobile
phones and IoT related products.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations

The sales contracts are with an original expected duration
of less than one year. Accordingly, the Group has elected
the practical expedient and has not disclosed the amount
of transaction price for the performance obligation that is
unsatisfied as of the end of respective reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A PR AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information is reported on a regular basis to the executive
directors of the Company, being the chief operating decision
makers, for their review of the Group’s internal reporting in
order to assess performance and allocate resources. The
Group is principally engaged in designing, manufacturing
and sales of mobile phones and PCBA and IoT related
products. Information reported to the chief operating
decision makers, for the purpose of resources allocation
and performance assessment, focuses on the operating
results of the Group as a whole as the Group’s resources
are integrated and no discrete operating segment financial
information is available. Accordingly, no operating segment
information is presented.

Geographical information
The Group’s operations are mainly located in the PRC (the
place of domicile of the Group’s operation).

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers presented based on the location of customers is
as follows.

6.
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Revenue from external customers

SEEF Uz

2024 2023

—E_MEF =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARET T
India HE 365,200 863,557
The PRC H 2,328,450 1,742,400
People’s Republic of Bangladesh TR A R LA 53,426 74,572
Algeria o B8 Sz A1) 58 5,912 10,568
United States of America EHEAR 73,792 =
Islamic Republic of Pakistan B & AR F e £/ 65,212 131,798
Republic of Yemen P9 F0 19,004 =
Dubai HmFE 5,605 -
Other regions H b [ 833 26
2,917,434 2,822,921
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B IS RAREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF — Y+ _-H=+—HIFFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEER @
Geographical information (Continued) ih i3 & B (@)
The Group’s non-current assets, excluding deferred AEEMNERDEE (TEERLEHIEE
tax assets, amounted to RMB135,741,000 (2023: E) A ANR®135,741,000t (2 = =
RMB110,077,000), and are mainly located in the PRC. F: AR¥110,077,0007T) * 2 EAL R
FE
Information about major customers EREXEEFZEH
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total BRI AR AEFHBEWZEI10% A L2 &
revenue of the Group are as follows: FunT :
2024 2023
—E-EF —EC-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARET T
Customer A ZEA 150,072 469,412
Customer B ZFEB 757,651 503,107
Customer C EFEC 626,028 570,521
The customer did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of the * KRB FRF W EG AL B AW 10% b
Group in 2024. o
7. OTHER GAINS AND INCOME 7. HtlaE R WA
2024 2023
—ZT-MF —T_=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARET T
Bank interest income HRITHAEUA 44,061 11,503
Government subsidies (Note) BT L (A1 aE) 28,155 16,834
Amortisation of government grant BT BhBE$H (A72£27)
(Note 27) 1,680 9,818
Sundry income HMIEWA 111 625
74,007 38,780
Note: The government subsidies represent the one-off government grants Het - BUS R BE 18R B % (Bt 75 BR AT RR A9 — X M R
that were received from local government authorities of which the e UM ARGGEERFEARLE -
entitlements were unconditional and were not capital in nature and Bl b BRRF RERR B E M A ©

therefore immediately recognised as other income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A PR AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF — Y+ _-H=+—HIFFE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. WEMNAK
2024 2023
—E-_NE —E-=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBFIT
Interest on: TAZBBZHE
Lease liabilities HEGAE 2,590 720
Bills under supplier HEFBEZE THER
finance arrangement 1,132 468
Discounted bills ARIR 2R 21,411 15,186
Borrowings ERN 11,058 19,910
36,191 36,284
9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FBFEAX
2024 2023
—E-NE =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETF T
Current tax - Hong Kong profit BHAfiE - FEAFEB
tax
— Provision for the year —FANEE 152 1,360
— Under/(over)-provision in —BAFEBETR
respect of prior years (EBEEREE) 52 (48)
Current tax - PRC Enterprise BB E — BB
Income Tax
— Provision for the year —FANEE 5,836 1,312
— Under-provision in respect of - BAEFERETR
prior years 334 6,129
6,374 8,753
Deferred tax (Note 28): LR IR (K 28)
— (Credit)/Charge to current year —RAREE GEA) k% (1,642) 178
Income tax expense TSR 2 4,732 8,931
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

9. FIEFHMAX @

9.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

U

(i)

(i)

(v)

(vi)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British
Virgin Islands and Cayman Islands, the Group is not
subject to any income tax in these jurisdictions.

The statutory tax rate of subsidiaries in Hong Kong is
16.5%. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of
Hong Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits
of a qualifying group entity are taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million are taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rate regime are to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax
(the “EIT law”) and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the subsidiaries established in
the PRC is 25%.

Two of the Group’s subsidiaries, Shenzhen
Sprocomm Telecommunication Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Shenzhen Sprocomm”) and Shanghai Sprocomm
Telecommunication Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai
Sprocomm”), are recognised as High and New-
technology Enterprise, and have been granted tax
concessions by the local tax bureau. These two
subsidiaries are entitled to PRC EIT at concessionary
rate of 15% from 2023 to 2025 and 2024 to 2026
respectively. These entities also enjoyed additional
75% tax deduction based on the eligible research and
development expenses.

The Group is subject to taxation in India, calculated
based on the rates applicable in the relevant jurisdiction
on the estimated assessable profits in India. The
applicable tax rate is 22% (2023: 30%). No provision
for overseas profits tax in respect of India taxation has
been made, as the Group did not have any assessable
profits subject to such overseas profits tax for both
years.

The Group is subjected to United States Federal
Income taxes. The United States enterprise income tax
rate has been provided at the applicable rate of 21%
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 21%).
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(i)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

REXBRAEENRASEHSHA
KBO > REBEBEZTRERE
SR RIS o

BEREMBRARZEAEHEE16.5% °
RAEE B F1E AR AR & F 15 B &
HE - AEKEEEERE 2,000,000
78 T 3% 3R 8.25% MY B R I FR
i #8 i@ 2,000,000 7 JT &Y 5% F B 3%
16.5% B B R E B o T 5 & W AR H
FIEHHEHEESNEEEEN
R4 E 12 16.5% MR — T SRR ©

REFBEEEMEHRE((REMRE
BiE) REXMBETOEB MGG
REBEKINHERARNRER
25% °

AEEMENBARFIRBBE
BEARAR (GRIKE]) R EE
AERERFEARAR ([ LERE])
ERTARMBIMARE  WEME
SRR THBER -ZmHENB
NADBHR —_E—_=FF_FT_—F
ER-_E_NFE_T - EFHE
AEERERAS%HTPEDEME
H-ZEERTEAAGERMERS
=8 75% Tt R &I ©

AEBEMWNINERE  ZERK
Th L ENE B9 18 51 FE SR i 0k 71 $2 B8 48
el rEBEMmERA s HETE -
BRHEEA20% (T - =4 :
30%) ° AR A S BRI F H I EE
BB INF BRI ERFREF -
A A B BN E R IB AR B AN RS B
B -

AEBERMERB LS - &
E-T_NFF+_A=+—HLEF
B EZBECEMSHBEEEIRER
HEANFHIREE (T =%
21%) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %2 —Z —JyF+ - H=

o.

BB RRMIEE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

F— A EE
9. IMEHMAX @

2024 2023
—E-mE —EC=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBET T
Profit before tax B 352 BT A 20,341 39,947
Tax at PRC statutory tax rate B EDEFE E25% 5 HH
of 25% HIE 5,085 9,987
Tax effect of expenses not A HRATNBETE
deductible for tax purpose 119 1,934
Tax effect of non-taxable income IERR M S B TG o & (839) (5,172)
Utilisation of tax losses not A ARERMIAEE
recognised 419) (54)
Tax effect of tax losses not RERTEEBEBEOT B E
recognised 13,355 16,403
Additional deduction arising from o 35 B S 2= AR RO BE SN R
research and development (K122 9(v))
expenses (Note 9 (iv) (13,593) (20,861)
Effect of different tax rates of B’\\ LA B AR [ A8 2 O BT B
subsidiaries operating in other NSIEORNEE RS2
jurisdictions (161) (795)
Under-provision in prior years BEFEREBTR 386 6,081
Withholding tax on undistributed —MEF BB AR ARSI
eamnings of a PRC subsidiary BB (B77#28)
(Note 28) 636 1,007
Tax effect of tax exemption/ TR LR ﬁ BRI
deduction from tax authority WIS E (K5 90v)
(Note 9 (iv) 163 401
Income tax expense for the year FHNABRAXZ 4,732 8,931

Details of deferred tax are set out in Note 28.

EEBIRH) B H N 28
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF — Y+ _-H=+—HIFFE

10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 10. FREF
2024 2023
—E-mE —EC-=4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®T T ARBEF T
Profit for the year has been LR THEIRE
arrived at after charging: =
Directors’ emoluments EEHe 11 3,213 2,448
Salaries, allowances and other ¥ & - 8L R H b2 F|
benefits (excluding directors’ (T BIEEZEE# L)
emoluments) 165,158 128,121
Contributions to retirement RREHET B
benefits scheme (excluding (TBiEESHe)
directors’ emoluments) 20,382 14,400
Total staff costs BT RKAEER 188,753 144,969
Auditors’ remuneration 1% B0 B 357 B 1,050 1,000
Amortisation of intangible E AR
assets 17 2,374 2,382
Amount of inventories ERREATINEE
recognised as an expense &8 (i) 2,659,665 2,523,333
Depreciation of property, plant  #12% « 5 K& R EITE
and equipment 15 16,366 14,221
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEENE
assets 16 10,665 18,325
Provision for impairment loss 2 5 & S GIE &
recognised in respect of B E R ARE
trade and bills receivables EEEE 19 8,415 3,360
Loss on disposal of property,  HEWE - BE M&E
plant and equipment 2B 15 9 509
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary & — B A7 2
&8 - 419
Research and development T EEF 2
expenses (ii) 141,885 139,686
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %2 —Z —JyF+ - H=

10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (Continued)

U

This includes costs of materials and components
used of approximately RMB2,543,516,000 (2023:
RMB2,431,011,000), sub-contracting fees of
approximately RMB16,949,000 (2023: RMB Nil),
labour costs of approximately RMB68,616,000
(2023: RMB36,298,000) and utilities expenses
of approximately RMB30,584,000 (2023:
RMB56,024,000).

Research and development expenses recognised
in consolidated profit or loss includes staff
cost of approximately RMB81,447,000 (2023:
RMB63,520,000), cost of materials and components
used of approximately RMB23,585,000 (2023:
RMB33,262,000), technology development
fees of approximately RMB29,451,000 (2023:
RMB35,628,000) amortisation expense of
approximately RMB3,626,000 (2023: RMB3,361,000)
and depreciation of approximately RMB3,776,000
(2023: RMB3,915,000).

+ Hlﬁﬁf’:/z
10. FREF (&)

U

He B EMAME R EDHRAL
AR #2543, 51600075(_7_*
F: AR#2431,011,0007T) °
ﬁ%ﬁ*ﬁﬁ%ﬁ/\&%@,%g,ooom:;
T=F ARBET L)  BIKAY
AR #68,616,0007t (Z T - =4 :
AR #36,2980007T) R AR EERH
S HAR#30,584,0007 (ZE =
& AR#56,024,0007T) °

»l\

MERTRNEGAEERER B8
TRA# AR 81,447,0007T (=
= — =44 : AR#63,520,0007T)
FrAt ek ZEEHRAHDARE
23,585,000 L (ZE==F : AR
33,262,0007T) * HMTHAEELNH AR
#20,451,000L (ZE=Z=F : AR
¥ 35,628,0007T) * #IHFH X LA
R #3,626,0007t (ZZE=Z=4F : A
R #3,361,0007T) RITEHN AR
3,776,000 (ZE—=F : AR
3,915,0007¢) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B IS RAREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —F —y#+—-H =+—HIFFE

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS M. EEME
Details of directors’ emoluments are as follows: EEMEFBEOT :
Salaries, Contributions
allowances  to retirement
and other benefits
Fees benefits scheme Total
e 2R RAKER
e REMER FHEIHR Mt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARB TR
Year ended 31 December BE-_ZE-ME
2024 +=A=+—-H
LFE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Li Chengjun (Chief TERELEE (KD
Executive of the Company) BlfTER B EL) - 552 28 580
Mr. Xiong Bin REM A - 480 16 496
Mr. Wen Chuanchuan BN E - 481 13 494
Mr. Guo Qinglin MEMEE - 500 13 513
Mr. He Wenyuan' I SOM £ - 490 144 634
Mr. Chen Haishu? BRGE KL - 46 - 46
Independent non-executive BTHPTEE
Directors
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit ERALE 110 - - 110
Mr. Lu Brian Yong Chen BAREREE 110 - - 110
Mr. Hung Wai Man HEREE 110 - - 110
Ms. Tseng Chin | EERLL 110 - - 110
Mr. Ching Khei Cheong? BHE LA 10 - - 10
450 2,549 214 3,213
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF — Y+ _-H=+—HIFFE

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) M1.EEME @
Salaries,  Contributions
allowances to retirement
and other benefits
Fees benefits scheme Total
e 2R RARAEH
we K E 38 H BELEEA st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETTT ARETT
Year ended 31 December 2023 #HE -T - =4
+=A=+-A
1=
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Li Chengjun (Chief TEERE (KD
Executive of the Company) AIfTHARE,) - 552 27 579
Mr. Xiong Bin BRI A - 465 18 483
Mr. Wen Chuanchuan BN E - 464 11 475
Mr. Guo Qinglin BEMTE = 467 12 479
Independent non-executive BHNTEE
Directors
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEREGLE 108 = = 108
Mr. Lu Brian Yong Chen mIKBRE & 108 - - 108
Mr. Hung Wai Man HEAEREE 108 - - 108
Ms. Tseng Chin | SR T 108 - - 108
432 1,948 68 2,448

L Mr. He Wenyuan was appointed as executive director of the Company
on 2 December 2024.

2 Mr. Chen Haishu was appointed as executive director of the Company
on 2 December 2024.

8 Mr. Ching Khei Cheong was appointed as independent non executive
director of the Company on 2 December 2024.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
mainly for their services in connection with the management
of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The
independent non-executive directors’” emoluments shown
above were mainly for their services as directors of the
Company.

! AXWEER—T_NFE+ A _HEZER
RRBATES -

2 EELEN—_T-_NMF+-_A-HEZTA
RARMITES -

8 MES

RRBBILIFRITES -

FERZZE-_NF+-_A-HEZEAR

EXRARATESIME TR RHNFIE
HEEBRARA RAKREEHAEBOR
Bo LRMARBIFFRITEETNMS -
TERWEERARAESHORE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The amounts disclosed above represent remuneration
paid or payable to the directors of the Company (including
emoluments for services as employee/director of the group
entities prior to becoming the directors of the Company) by
entities comprising the Group.

None of the chief executive nor any of the directors of the
Company waived or agreed to waive any emoluments paid
by the Group for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023. No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of
the directors of the Company as an incentive payment for
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office
during both years.

12. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (20283: one) were the directors (including chief
executive) of the Company, whose emoluments are set out
in Note 11 above. The emolument of the remaining two
(2023: four) highest paid individuals were as follows:

1M1.EEME @

EXHBESEARNEEETARAC N
ENARBRESZHM BRREERQ
RZEE " BEEERARARBEEAFMN
BE g Al 455 O A B o B o

BHE-_FT_MER-_ZT=-_=F+=A
=+ —ALEE BMEXARAEEZITH
AEBXEMNEERERRERNEAEE
TR EAME - MERASEERER
RARMEMNESINMESEAMALRSE
BEW B S ERBEEEE -

12. EEBE
AEMALRESHEALR =& (=
C=fF —R)AARTEE (RETE
THAB) HESEAN M1 - 8
TRE (CE-=F NA)SSHAL
e T :

2024 2023
—E-NE —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARET T
Salaries, allowances and other e EREMER
benefits 967 1,800
Contributions to retirement benefits R K48 F 5+ 21 7%
scheme 26 546
993 2,346
Their emoluments were within the following band: FENMESN T T5IEHE :
2024 2023
—ENF —E=F
Number of Number
individuals of individuals
AE A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7T 2 4
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %2 —Z —JyF+ - H=

12. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five
highest paid individuals of the Group including the directors
of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

13. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid, declared or proposed during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting
period.

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share during the
years is based on the profit attributable to the owners of the
Company and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue.

+ Hltj;[/x

12. EEBM € @)
BE-T-_WNER-T-=%+=f
“H+-ALEE AEEBEEALEE
IAAEBEHAT (BEAATES)
% B4 1E 8 TR Bl H0 A 3 A0 A K & B B

KB Sk E B BB A (B o

13. R 2
HE_Z_NWMFRER_ZT_=F+_A
=+—BLFE #BESN FRE
BEIREMAKRE  BREHRBIERE

EEIREMARE ©

FRER

REEEE SREABNZHENE
WD TG AR (PR B 85T 88
BT BT -

14.

2024 2023
—ENE —T_=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREET T
Earnings for the purpose of basic 5+ & & I AR & FF A K A
earnings per share profit for the NElEB AEREAET
year attributable to owners of the
Company 16,341 32,369

Number of shares

Number of shares

& A EvE ]
’000 000
TR T A&
Weighted average number of AEEREARRNERNT
ordinary shares for the purpose AR ke 2
of basic earnings per share 1,000,000 1,000,000

Diluted earnings per share for both years were the same
as the basic earnings per share as there was no potential

I

ordinary shares in issue for both 2024 and 2023. HERGREREF -

—ECNER_F__FHEEECE
TTEB - R EFETRE SR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —F —y#+—-H =+—HIFFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. )% - BMERRE

Ownership
interests
Leasehold Plant and Fumiture Motor Office in land and
improvement machinery and fixture vehicles equipment building Total
Hi%RET
BENELE EEREE GARERZE bk HigE  bFERER gt
RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RVBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT
Cost oA
At1 January 2023 e e 20587 91,124 383 1,750 10,381 64,840 201521
Addtons #E - 5376 165 404 1070 - 1018
Disposal & - (3268 (1,16 (1) (1%) - (5,769
At31 December 2023 R-B-=E4of
=t-f 20587 9,282 2842 1613 10653 64,840 202,767
Addions HE 283 10,558 3319 844 2,684 - 17638
Disposal h& (10,183) (567) (1,549 - (245) - (12528)
Bxchange adjustments B2 - - 2 3 - - 5
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-mETZR
- 19637 103,233 460 2460 13,092 64,840 207,882
Accumulated depreciation  B3THTE
At January 2023 N-E-=F-f-A 26,926 46,029 350 1,169 708 14208 97,907
Charge for the year Emzit 1483 8,29 43 24 1085 3,080 14221
Disposal h& - (3,004 (1,104 (1) (638) - (5.260)
At31 December 2023 R-B-=E4-f
==f 28,409 50321 2461 919 7410 17,88 106,868
Charge for the year Epz 0 10,288 40 195 1487 2,086 16,366
Disposal h& (10,183) (567) (1,5%4) - (245) - (12519)
Exchange adjustments B2 - - - 1 - - 1
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-mETZR
- 18,933 60,052 1330 1415 812 0,274 110,716
Canying values ]
At 31 December 2024 idut b3 gl
- 04 3,181 3290 1,045 4,380 44,566 97,166
At31 December 2023 WZBZZE+Zf
il 1,178 291 3 604 3183 47562 9,899
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Ownership interests in land and building relate to properties
situated in the PRC with remaining lease term of 40 years
(2023: 41 years). These properties with carrying value of
approximately RMB44,566,000 as at 31 December 2024
(2023: RMB47,552,000), have been pledged to the bank to
secure the Group’s mortgage loan (Note 26(a)).

(i)

15. % - BMEKRE @

FEMERY T RIEF RS ERE
HWB TIHERAOFE (T - =F:
MNE) ZEVMER-_ZT_WMF+_-A
=+—HMERAE AN AR 44,566,000
T(ZEZ=%F: AR¥47,552,0007T) °
W E AL BIZBERmMERTRT (K

F26(a)) °
16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 16.FHAEEERHEESRS
LIABILITIES
Right-of-use assets () FHREEE
2024 2023
—E-NE —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARBFIT
Leasehold properties HEM 35,855 8,166

The Group has lease arrangements for buildings,
mainly for use as the Group’s headquarter and
factories for production purpose. The lease terms
range from one to eight years (2023: one to five years)
with fixed lease payments and no renewal/termination
option.

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
RMB38,312,000 (2023: RMB20,740,000). This amount
primarily related to the capitalised lease payments
payable under new tenancy agreements.

AEBREFIVHEERH £ 2
REAEBBRREERSE - HE
NF—ENF(ZE=Z=F:—FH
F) BEEHEENR BXESEE
BEERE o

AEE FRHEEEEMARE
38,312,000 (ZE-=F: AR¥E
20,740,0007T) ° Z e R EHIRIE
SHEREEINNERNMEEER
KB -
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE

B A5 ¥R 2R P AL

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;

LIABILITIES (Continued)

(i) Lease liabilities (i) HEAE
2024 2023
—EIOF kS S
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBFIT
Non-current portion ERENE D 33,504 2,425
Current portion mENER 5,861 5,890
39,365 8,315
Amounts payable under lease FAE B & T H)E (T 7B
liabilities:
Within one year —F R 5,861 5,890
After one year but withintwo ~ —F B EMRER
years 6,105 802
More than two years RE 27,399 1,623
39,365 8,315
Less: Amount due for o128 A R EIH B 50E
settlement within 12 (RreEhaEHIR)
months (shown under
current liabilities) (5,861) (5,890)
Amount due for settlement 1218 B2 2| BRI B 5E
after 12 months 33,504 2,425
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates HRAREEEEMMET i’] BEE

ZA\—r:F
r_=_

miESf = =+—H 1 EE
16.FAEEERHESE®

applied to lease liabilities range from 4.0% to 10.0%

(2023: from 5.0% to 9.0%).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

16.FAEEERHEESEEW@®

(i) AEEBRRNSE

2024 2023
—E-NE —TE-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARET T
Depreciation expenses on FREEENTERS
right-of-use assets
— Leased properties —HEmHE 10,665 18,325
Interest expenses on lease HEBBMNBERX
liabilities 2,590 720
Expenses relating to short-term 58 #8718 & #HEE 57 2
leases 890 205

Others

During the year ended 31 December 2024, total
cash outflow for leases amount to approximately
RMB10,687,000 (2023: RMB27,471,000).

Restrictions or covenants on leases

As at 31 December 2024, lease liabilities of
RMB39,365,000(2023: RMB8,315,000) are recognised
with related right-of-use assets of RMB35,855,000
(2023: RMB8,166,000). The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants other than the security interests
in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased
assets shall not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

(iv) HAb

REBEE-_FT-_HWF+=-_A=+—H
HFEE -BEZ2RERHBAENA
ANE#10,687,0007C (Z T ==
AER#27,471,0007T) °

T EHR HI 224

RZZE-_WmMF+=—A=+—8"
EmRANHEAGEAEARE
39,365,000 (ZE=Z=F : AR
8,315,0007L) " HHEAFEAEEE A
AR #35,855000C (Z & - =4 :
AR ®8,166,0007T) ° & 1 A
EHHEEENERERII -HE
B EE TRy -HEEE
TR ERIERHIER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # % —Z&

ZWFEF A=+ —HIFE

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. B EE
Computer Development
software Patents costs Total
EREH 4 RN st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T ARET T
Cost RA
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=5—-F—H 9,696 632 4,006 14,334
Additions NE 885 - - 885
At 31 December 2023 R-E-=F+=A
=t+—-H 10,581 632 4,006 15,219
Additions NE 920 12 - 932
At 31 December 2024 R-B-N&E+=A
Sr=[F 11,501 644 4006 16,151
Amortisation e
At 1 January 2023 R-ZZE-_=%—-HA—H 4913 427 1,335 6,675
Charge for the year FATH 984 63 1,335 2,382
At 31 December 2023 RZE-_=F+_A
=t+—H 5,897 490 2,670 9,057
Charge for the year FRTH 976 62 1,336 2,374
At 31 December 2024 RZZZWE+=A
=t+—H 6,873 552 4,006 11,431
Carrying values BREE
At 31 December 2024 R-E-M&E+=A
=+-H 4,628 92 - 4,720
At 31 December 2023 R-E-=F+-A
=+—~H 4,684 142 1,336 6,162
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF — Y+ _-H=+—HIFFE

18. INVENTORIES 18. F &
2024 2023
—E-NE —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R AR¥ET T
Materials and components MR R B 140,023 226,284
Work in progress TR 106,000 28,223
Finished goods BIPK o 80,011 123,123
326,034 377,630
19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 19. ESEWFEREWNERE
2024 2023
ZEIMF —F_=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARET T
Trade receivables B 5 EWFIE 588,302 750,907
Less: Loss allowance A R R (14,280) (5,865)
574,022 745,042
Bills receivables R 13,360 63,788
Trade and bills receivables B 5 WG IE K e R % 587,382 808,830

RZE-_WNF+_A=+—H BRF
BHEENESRKREBERERZER
A ANREE01,662,000T (==
F£: AR¥814,695,0007T) °

The gross amount of trade and bills receivables arising
from contracts with customers amounted to approximately
RMB601,662,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB814,695,000).

B 5 EURIR & B R R 1R (A 0Bk 85 18 3¢
W) ILBEZAHMNRESITAOT

An aging analysis of trade and bills receivables (after loss
allowance) based on invoice date is as follows:

2024 2023

—E-NE —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBEF T

Within 30 days 30K AR 276,611 404,421
31-60 days 31E 60K 168,363 267,787
61-90 days 61 E 90K 73,617 118,702
Over 90 days 90K Ak 68,791 17,920
Total Kb 587,382 808,830
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B IS RAREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &2 — % —IF+ - H =4+ —HIFFZF

19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 19. EZEWNFREREVRERE @

(Continued)

No interest is charged on the trade and bills receivables. Rt E 2 R YGRIE R R W R R RIS,
As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the ERAKEBEEERREEN &9 &K
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers. The SEHEFPETABEETR - RME
debtors are grouped under a provision matrix into three HEEFERREB2ZEHKARTEH
internal credit rating buckets based on shared credit risk BE - -REBEBEREEEBAD BR=1E
characteristic by reference to past due exposure of the NEERERAR - FasdinT :

debtor, and the ratings are outlined as follows:

— Low risk Customers with good credit standing — (KRR ERFERAFENER
— Medium risk  Customers with normal credit standing — R B BEREAIANERP
— High risk Credit-impaired customers —= Ak ERAXENEP
There has been no change in the estimation techniques 15 qu&TTﬂZZliirf’EHj FEABRRIL
or significant assumptions made during the current year. 2F -R-_BE-_NFE+=-RA=+—H 7(51
Debtors with significant outstanding balances with gross BERKREES ﬁ%ﬁ’\]%i‘%)\ (BFEREAA
carrying amounts of RMB37,812,000 as at 31 December E¥37,812,000C (ZE =5 : F)) E
2024 (2023: Nil) were assessed individually. The Group ERI#ET M - NEBFE S E WK
recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables individually BRI &,/ ERERNEHHBHE ff
and/or collectively as follows: BT
Weighted
average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
hn#EF 5 78 A
EEEEX RERTEE B R
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% ARET T ARBTTT
As at 31 December 2024 RZZE_WFE+=A
=+—H
Low risk 1B 2 B 0.98% 550,490 5,533
High risk = BB 23.13% 37,812 8,747
588,302 14,280
As at 31 December 2023 MR_E_=%F+_H
==
Low risk V=N 0.72% 750,907 5,865
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %2 —Z —JyF+ - H=

19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
default rates and adjusted for forward-looking information
(for example, the current and forecasted economic growth
rates in PRC, India and other countries, which reflect the
general economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate) that is available without undue cost or
effort. Such forward-looking information is used by the
management of the Group to assess both the current as
well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting
date. The grouping is regularly reviewed by the management
of the Group to ensure relevant information about specific
debtors is updated.

Movements of impairment loss allowances of trade
receivables are as follows:

+—HIFFE
19. EZ BRUWHREREWRRE &

BMEBEXDREBFEROXRGE X
PEFREBSRAXBNESNHAE
HEMETHE (DI RREBALE
PIREITEERBEERRINTE  HES
BERER RBHEEERER) - REBH
AEEEEBERZEREEEN DN
ERIRAKELBE AKEEHEES
THEEARAR  ERETEB AN
M E R R -

B 5 RKENREBRREZINT

Low risk High risk Total
K= B = E wmet
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREEF T AREF T ARBTT
As at 1 January 2023 )5/\\\7 - =—9F—H—H 2,505 - 2,505
Provision for credit loss for B o RN IAEEER
trade receivables B 3,360 = 3,360
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZZE_=F+_H
=+—H 5,865 - 5,865
Transfer to credit impaired RSB EERME (274) 274 -
(Reversal)/provision for credit & 5 W IEZEEE
loss for trade receivables (@), #BfE (58) 8,473 8,415
As at 31 December 2024 R-EBE-_WE+=A
=+—H 5,533 8,747 14,280

As at 31 December 2024, the Group discounted and
factored trade and bills receivables in aggregate amounts of
approximately RMB5,051,000 (2023: RMB73,672,000) to
banks and factoring company for short-term financing.

R-_ZTE_WMFE+_A=+—8 K&EH
AR ERRTRREQANE R
RIBAERE RS H AR®S5,051,0007T (==
—=4F: AR¥73,672,0007T) WE 5 E
Wk IE R W = o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B IS RAREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 19. EZRURERERERE @

(Continued)

Transfers of financial assets

The following were the Group’s trade and bills receivables
as at 31 December 2023 and 2024 that were transferred
to banks on a full recourse basis. As the Group has not
transferred the significant risks and rewards relating to these
trade and bills receivables, it continues to recognise the full
carrying amount of the trade and bills receivables and has
recognised the cash received on the transfer as secured
borrowings (see Note 26). These trade and bills receivables
are carried at amortised cost in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

The trade and bills receivables factored to banks with full
recourse as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

TXHEINAEER_ZEZ=FK=F
THFE+ A=+ —HOEREEERE
EXEERTIRITNE S EUGE K EK
ZE -ARAEETEEEZEEHE
WHErEREZRABNERNRR X
Olsf HEEERZEZEZFIERFEK
EWEENERAE YEHREEM
WEIMHReERAERAEER (A=
26) ° ZEE P REWFIA K EIRZENER
B AR R I SR AN BR -

RZE_WNER_FT_=F+= A
=t+—H BERETHREEE2EHER
ENESREWFEREREENT

2024 2023
—EZNF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARET T

Carrying amount of transferred EEEEEMNEREE
assets 5,051 73,672

Carrying amount of associated A ENEREE

liabilities (5,051) (73,672)
Net position SREEST - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A PR AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —F —y#+—-H =+—HIFFE

20. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 20. S RHIER M EKRRIE
RECEIVABLES
2024 2023
—E-E T =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARET T
Prepayment to suppliers ) 4 FE P TR SRR 45,595 21,106
Lease deposits and other deposits T E1&& R H iz s 2,891 5,856
VAT recoverable (Note) AU IR B (A at) 64,661 52,649
Interest receivables JE Uk A1 8, 6,928 1,432
Others HAth 7,922 1,024
127,997 82,067
Note: VAT recoverable includes the input VAT and prepaid VAT that is K s - m] Ui [ 3 (A 7 B2 45 B HAAE — F K 0 /O E TR 3
expected to be deducted within one year. Bf REHILER
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there was no significant RZEBE_WNFRER_T-_=F+=A
impairment for the prepayments and other receivables. =+—B - B RIE R EME W RIEL
|EARE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B IS RAREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

21.

22.

23.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM SHAREHOLDERS

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and non-trade in
nature.

This includes obligations for shareholders to repay losses
incurred by the Company, as stipulated in the Deed of
Indemnity, which makes the shareholders responsible for
associated payments related to court penalties imposed
prior to 18 October 2019.

Expected credit loss risk of amounts due from shareholders
is assessed to be remote as there is no significant change in
the credit risk on the amounts due from shareholders since
initial recognition.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2024, bank deposits of approximately
RMB2,127,302,000 (2023: RMB2,368,420,000) were
pledged by the Group for the purpose of securing bills
payables (Note 24).

As at 31 December 2024, approximately RMB2,127,302,000
(2023: RMB2,368,420,000) of the pledged bank deposits
carried fixed interest rates which ranged from 0.10% to 2.15%
(2023: 0.35% t0 2.38%) per annum.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, bank balances carry
interest at floating rates from 0.01% to 1.15% (2023: 0.05%
to 0.30%) based on bank deposit rates.
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23.

FE W B R AR IR
RRERMER 2B RIFAFIUE -

EEREREZBERARENRREEZERAR
AMEBEXEBENER RRBERRY
—T-AF+ AT /\BEDER # & S
KA ERNTRERE -

EUERNEREEERRRKF SR
o B &M IR R RIR B Y1 R IR
EERRILESAES -

EEFBITER
R-ZE-_WMF+_A=+—H A£H
2O ARE2127,302,0007 (=&
—=F: AR¥2,368,420,0007T) B R 1T
FR - RSB REMNEE (HE24) »

R-_ZE-_NMFE+_-_A=+—H8 i\
BITERH ARB2127,302,0007T (=
T - =44 : AR¥2368,420,0007T) 1% E
FEFFMENT010%E215% (=T ==
F:0.35%£2.38%) 5t & o
RITHEBRERS
RZE_WNEFER_FT_=F+= A
=+—8 - BTESKEREITERRER
BIZERE0.01% E116%(ZE-=45:
0.05% % 0.30%) 5t 2. °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A PR AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF — Y+ _-H=+—HIFFE

24. B RAREARENRE

24. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

2024 2023

—E-ME —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET ARBET T

Trade payables FER RUIE 555,359 834,590
Bills payables under supplier HERRELZHE THEN

finance arrangement (Note 1) E(Wit1) 2,153,157 2,324,122

Trade and bills payables B S RNFIBERENEE 2,708,516 3,158,712

Note 1:

These amounts relate to bills payables under supplier finance
arrangements, including bills issued to relevant external
suppliers for the settlement of trade payables amounting to
approximately RMB243,762,000 as at 31 December 2024
(2023: RMB322,652,000), and bills issued to group entity under
arrangements for financing the production of the respective
group entities, amounting to approximately RMB1,909,395,000
as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB2,001,470,000). All of the
aforementioned bills payables are fully secured by pledged bank
deposits amounting to approximately RMB2,127,302,000 (2023:
RMB2,368,420,000) (Note 22). In the consolidated statement of
cash flows, payments to the banks are classified as financing cash
flows, net of receipts from the bank in respect of later company
bills, reflecting the nature of the arrangements.

In order to facilitate extended payment terms with suppliers and
intragroup transactions, the Group enters into arrangements
involving bills secured by pledged deposits equivalent to the
invoice amounts. The arrangements involving external suppliers
provide for payment terms of 30-60 days for the group to issue
the bills to the external suppliers, and the issued bills have 90 to
180 days to maturity for those issued to external suppliers and 90
to 365 days to maturity for intragroup companies, respectively,
depending on the specific terms of the bills. The Group repays the
banks the full invoice amount on the maturity date of the bills as
required. The Group classifies these related bills payables as trade
and other payables.

Bratt

— = —

eyl

ZECHAREERETHBETOEMNE
BEEH BER-_Z-_0mNF+-_A=1+—
ARAENE S EMNREBREBRIINHER
B ZE 4 A R # 243,762,000 (=&
— =4 ARM322,652,0007T) AR
To_NE+-_A=+—BRSEEETEN
SERETHRAEEEERAVHNZENOA
R#1,909,395,000C (ZE==F : AR
2,001,470,0007T) ° LitFi A B ZEEHH
B\ #1717 34 A R #2,127,302,000 7T
(ZF==F: AEMQ%MﬂmmnMW
H22) 2HEER - REGEARERERT M
BITRREHIEARERSRE (MBRME
BRORRRBRERTEEMNIE) RET
ZHER M o

BEEREENTENFERERERARNR
5 AEBFUSRUAEZCHEEEND
ERFREERNZEOLH - ZFS RN
AL M B AR A B AR M AN B4R
FERIF S M IR ET BRI S EARR B S0 E 60K -
MmN EERREBARRRALANRE
715 SR EAR 9 BN F90E 180K & /1 F 90
E365K  REBMEBERME - A&E
RRERERINBARNRTEEDPRE
S - AEEBZEHBENERSEARE
5 R E A0 FEARE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B IS RAREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF — Y+ _-H=+—HIFFE

24. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (Continued) 24. EZEAAREREMNERE @

REBEHRR EFRNRBRERAY
2B DT o

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables
presented based on invoice date at the end of the reporting

period.

2024 2023

—E-NF —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMT T AREET T

Within 30 days 30RN 324,145 438,157

31-60 days 31 260X 173,950 299,454

61-90 days 612 90K 39,5632 72,968

Over 90 days 90K A E 17,732 24,011

Total HEt 555,359 834,590
The average credit period on purchases of goods is KEEMHNFHEEHRNFI0EGOKX -
ranging from 30 to 60 days. The Group has financial risk NEE B I TE & B E b E IR IR AR

management policies in place to ensure that all payables are FIEENFIETREEHRRER -

settled within the credit timeframe.

The following is an aging analysis of bills payables under T AREHRBERIBZSRE BB H
supplier finance arrangement based on bills issuance date JEPS RV E HEIR T BN R ARE 4T
at the end of the reporting period.

2024 2023
—E-NE —T-=4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARET T

Within 30 days 30K A 484,230 338,679
31-60 days 31 260K 459,996 466,769
61-90 days 61 290K 440,993 629,051
Over 90 days 90K LA I 767,938 889,623
Total st 2,153,157 2,324,122

All the bills payables of the Group are not yet due at the end RERSHR AEEMEENZEE N
of each reporting period. RENER o

i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A PR AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF — Y+ _-H=+—HIFFE

25. Bt BEAREMEARENR

25. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES
AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES

BREE

2024 2023
—E-IF e ——
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARET T
Salaries payable ERt#He 61,028 58,575
Other payables H b B~ BB 9,903 10,377
Government subsidies in advance & Uk BT #8 Bl (A7 A% ()
(Note (i) 12,867 13,788
Other tax payables H AR FIE 4,533 9,801
88,331 92,541
Contract liabilities (Note (i) EHBEHE6) 23,117 32,472
Notes: HtaF -
)  Government subsidies in advance included in accruals and other ()  FUAFERTEF R E fth & RRIE #) TR UOBUAT 4 B

(i

payables are mainly related to the capital expenditure incurred for
property and equipment, leasehold improvement and subsidies
for recruitment of certain number of workers for factory operation,
before fulfilling certain conditions under the terms of the government
subsidies. The government subsidies received may need to be
refunded if the subsidiary failed to fulfill the attached conditions within
the stipulated time. Upon fulfillment of those conditions, government
subsidies related to compensation of operating expenses are credited
to the profit or loss in the year the Group complied with the conditions
attached to the subsidies, whereas assets-related subsidies are
reclassified to deferred income and credited to the profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related assets.

Contract liabilities as at 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately
RMB23,117,000 (2023: RMB32,472,000), which represented receipts
in advance from customers.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract
liabilities

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December
2024 that was included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year is approximately RMB24,764,000
(2023: RMB30,251,000). There was no revenue recognised
in the current year that related to performance obligations
that were satisfied in prior year.

(i

T R EEEREAT R AE TIRR TR E T &
HRMERREAEENEARRS  HERE
RRBFEEERBETHETANMEEARE -
e 4 B AR BEAE AR € IS P 75 & B A 1 14+ TR
SHIBTHBE T e FE BIRE < ERZ SRR -
5 B8 & I ) S A B 2 R T 4 B 3 1 470 R P PR R
1¢u+AZK’§IZ¢FTEﬁﬁ A EREHE

DRERLERA - IR EENTRAFH
ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%&iiﬁ)\ﬁﬁé ©

R-ZT-_mW&E+=—A=+—A - 4K08EAE
HAREE23,117,000 T (ZZ=Z=F: AR¥
32,472,0007T)  IHEMEP K -

824 48 A B B BRI

REEZE-_ZT-_WF+_A=+—8BItF
EREIANBETAFTINEGHEE 4
BAREE24764,000C (ZE-—=F: A

K #30,251,0007T) °

AREEIAHE F—

FREEEKNBENOERGA BN R -
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e TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &

= —=

P oEpyFEf A=+ —HIFFE

26. BORROWINGS 26. &
2024 2023
ks —F=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Bank borrowings: RITERK
Secured (Note a) BEM (Hita) 16,868 131,739
Unsecured (Note b) AR (M D) 130,826 22,700
147,694 154,439
Carrying amount repayable (based on scheduled repayment FEREREE (RRERBEMFTEIER
dates set out in the loan agreements): HES) :
2024 2023
—ENF —T=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR®TT
Within one year —F R 138,877 142,622
More than 1 year but less than —FAEERFUAA
2 years 3,000 3,000
More than 2 years but less than MENAEEBRFUAA
5 years 5,817 8,817
147,694 154,439
Carrying amount repayable on RBEE T IR ERKE
demand or within one year By —FANEENERAEAE
shown under current liabilities 138,877 142,622
Amount shown under non-current  JEREN B E T AR E
liabilities 8,817 11,817
147,694 154,439
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A PR AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF — Y+ _-H=+—HIFFE

26. BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

As at 31 December 2024, the borrowing of approximately
RMB11,817,000 (2023: RMB14,817,000) are secured by the
Group’s ownership of land and buildings (Note 15); and borrowing
of approximately RMB5,051,000 (2023: RMB116,922,000) are
secured by the Group’s bank deposit of approximately Nil (2023:
RMB5,450,000) and trade and bills receivables of approximately
RMB5,051,000 (2023: RMB73,672,000). The effective interest rates
from these variable-rate borrowings range from 4.10% to 6.50% (2023:
3.80% to 9.60%)

As at 31 December 2024, the unsecured term loan carried interest
rate at fixed rates which range from 2.90% to 3.70% (2023: 4.50%)

26. & ™ (&)

Hiat -

(@)

RZE_NE+_A=Z+—HB HARE
11,817,0007C (T2 = =4 : AR 14,817,000
7o) KRB RARNEBEREA M - RIEFHEER
#(H5E15) - A AR 5,051,000 7T K & 5K
(ZZ =% : AR%116,922,0007T) Jy AR
SEBTERNARBZL(ZTE==F: A

R #5,450,0007T) F1 & 5 FE W TE X E W E
BHARKES051,000C(ZE==F: AR
78,672,0007T) {EHE IR - ZFF B RERH
BEBRFENT410%E650% (ZFE=-=F:
3.80% E9.60%) °

R-ZTE-_WE+_A=+—8 EEKHBEH
BEHIRTE290% E3.70% N ELFE (=F

per annum and repayable within one year. =5 1 4.50%) c WR—FAEE -
The amounts of borrowing facilities and their utilisation at RBEHR BRRESERBARE
the end of the reporting period are set out as follows: T
2024 2023
—E-NEF —F==
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AR®TT
Facility amount BEREE 310,350 161,512
Utilisation BRBER
Secured bank borrowings EEIPRITER 16,868 131,739
Unsecured bank borrowings ERPIRITER 130,826 22,700
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e TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &

27. DEFERRED INCOME

= —=

P oEpyFEf A=+ —HIFFE

27. EFEW A

2024 2023
—ENE —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
At the beginning of the year REH] 5,768 15,586
Received during the year FREW 467 —
6,235 15,586
Amortisation of government grant BT BhiEE S (A7:L7)

(Note 7) (1,680) 9,818
Balance as at the end of year FREH 4,555 5,768
Analysed as: DA

Current liabilities nBaE 850 1,633

Non-current liabilities ERBEE 3,705 4,135

4,555 5,768

Note:

Deferred income consists of government subsidies provided by the relevant
PRC government authorities for the purposes of financing the purchase of
plant and machinery and the expenses related to the leasehold improvement.
The amounts are recognised as income to match with related expenses and
cost incurred on systematic basis over the useful lives of the relevant assets
upon completing inspection by the related government authorities. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, government subsidies released to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
amounted to approximately RMB1,680,000 (2023: RMB9,818,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A PR AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF — Y+ _-H=+—HIFFE

28. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 28. EEHEBEEE (BE)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax asset/ NTARMBERENZELEHBEE
(iabilities), after set off certain deferred tax assets against S (BN KEHEERRHEE Y
deferred tax liabilities of the same taxable entity, for financial ETEERIBEEEMRRERIBEE

reporting purposes:

2024 2023
—E-mF —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®EF T
Deferred tax asset EETRIEE E 2,966 688
Deferred tax liabilities EERIERE (14,738) (14,102)
(11,772) (13,414)
The followings are the major deferred tax asset/(liabilities) TXHEHINNFANBROERRELETIEE
recognised and movements thereon during the years: E/ (AR kBEEZ
Withholding
tax on
undistributed
profit of a
PRC subsidiary ~ Impairment loss Accelerated
(Note (a)) onreceivables  tax depreciation Total
B-EhEkE
RAXD AR
BaENH
(Wiite) BRTERESS MEHERE @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT ARETFT ARETFT
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=#—-H—-H (11,775) 248 (1,709) (13,236)
(Credited)/changed to profitorloss (5t A) /BB (1,007) 440 389 (178)
At 31 December 2023 and RIZZ=F12A
1 January 2024 Z+-BR-Z-ME
—A-H (12,782) 688 (1,320) (13,414)
(Credited)/charged to profitor loss (3t A) /f1E1#8% (889) 2,278 253 1,642
At 31 December 2024 RZZ_MEF
+-A=1+-8 (13,671) 2,966 (1,067) (11,779)
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GaH

2y =

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # % —

TR R ML

28. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)
(Continued)

Notes:

(@)

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax of 10% is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by a PRC subsidiary from 1
January 2008 onwards. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied
if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of
the foreign investors. The directors determined that the management
of the Group can control the quantum and timing of distribution of
profits of their PRC subsidiaries. Deferred tax liability is only provided
to the extent that such profits are expected to be distributed in the
foreseeable future. Deferred taxation has been provided in respect
of the temporary differences associated with the undistributed profits
earned by a PRC subsidiary, Shenzhen Sprocomm, at the applicable
withholding tax rate of 5%.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately RMB385,549,000 (2023: RMB294,881,000) available
for offset against future profits. These unused tax losses mainly
arose from (i) the preferential tax treatments of the research and
development expenditure which resulted in additional tax deductions
related to qualified research and development costs of Shenzhen
Sprocomm; or (i) losses incurred by Chengdu Sprocomm, Sprocomm
Technologies Co., Ltd. (“HK Sprocomm”), Guizhou Sprocomm
Telecommunication Technology Co., Ltd. (“Guizhou Sprocomm”)
and Guizhou Mars Exploration Technology Co., Ltd (“Guizhou Mars”).
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the unused
tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams for these
subsidiaries. Included in unrecognised tax losses are PRC tax losses
of approximately RMB386,503,000 as at 31 December 2024 that will
expire in the next five years (2023: RMB289,893,000). The remaining
Hong Kong tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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29. SHARE CAPITAL 29, fg A
Number Share Equivalent
of shares capital amount to
R&EA [N LESHE
000 HK$'000 RMB’000
F i FHET ARBTTT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 ~ &% 0.01 BT T EE
each Authorised: AR
At 31 December 2024 and RZT_MFER
2023 —E-=F+=A
E—[8 10,000,000 100,000 86,213
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRER
At 31 December 2024 and RZZEZMOF R
2023 —EZ=F+=A
ET=—I[E 1,000,000 10,000 8,945
All new shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all FREFROESTEHEBEROESR

respects.

30. RESERVES

(i)

Statutory reserve

According to the PRC Company Law, companies
in the PRC are required to transfer 10% of their
respective after-tax profits, calculated in accordance
with the relevant accounting principles and financial
regulations applicable to entities established in the
PRC, to the statutory surplus reserve until the reserve
balance reaches 50% of the registered capital of the
relevant subsidiaries. The statutory surplus reserve can
be utilised, upon approval of the relevant authorities,
to offset accumulated losses or to increase registered
capital of these companies, provided that such fund
is maintained at a minimum of 25% of the registered
capital of the relevant subsidiaries. The statutory
reserve is not distributable as cash dividends and
must be made before distribution of dividend to equity
owners.

EEL TR

30. %

(i)

EERE

RETBEREE FEBEARAL
ARBEARETEREAKINE
BOABESRUMPBEED - =
A E R BBEREFA10% EEE
BSRHEEERERTEED AN
B~ R R & A B 50% © 05 TE & #R
EEHER B /ERAT AN
PAHE 85 R 5t BT R kI8 Ntk T A B &Y
AfMER  EZESELEFREMN
A B /B 2 B AL B AN #925% © VA TE
BETAESREBREDE  ¥A
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

30. RESERVES (Continued) 30. &% (@)

(i) Merger reserve
The merger reserve represents the difference between
the consideration and the carrying amounts of the
assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the group reorganisation.

(iii) Other reserves

The amount represents (i) the amount paid by an equity
holder in excess of registered capital of Shenzhen
Sprocomm; (i) the deemed capital contribution
pursuant to the reorganisation of the Group in 2018;
(iii) the difference of the consideration paid for the
acquisition of the additional equity interest in Chengdu
Sprocomm and the carrying value of the additional
equity interests of the subsidiary acquired during the
year ended 31 December 2019; and (iv) the difference
of the consideration paid for the acquisition of the
additional equity interest in Chengdu Sprocomm and
the carrying value of the additional equity interests
of the subsidiary acquired during the year ended 31
December 2021.

31. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities within
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of borrowings,
net of bank balances and cash and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising share capital and
reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
of the Group periodically. As part of this review, the
directors of the Company consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through
capital injection as well as raising of additional borrowings
as additional capital or the redemption of existing debt.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF — Y+ _-H=+—HIFFE

31. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The Group manages capital using the financial gearing ratio,
which is the ratio of interest-bearing liabilities to the sum of
owners’ equity and interest-bearing liabilities. The financial

3. EXEREE @)

AEBUAHHERNABLREEEARN
MBEEABELXAFREEEHEAA
RmEtEaEzMN -RNEXBEREN

gearing ratio of the Group as at the balance sheet dates AEENMBERBRLENOT -
was as follows:
2024 2023
—ENE —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 5+ B RITE R 147,694 154,439
Lease liabilities HEAR 39,365 8,315
Total interest-bearing liabilities FFEBEAS 187,059 162,754
Owner’s equity e AR 366,534 351,214
Total equity and interest-bearing ®#EZ K2 EEHAEE
liabilities 553,593 513,968
Gearing ratio BEXRBELE 33.8% 31.7%
32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32.€@mIT A
(a) Categories of financial instruments (@ eWMIAEZDHE
2024 2023
—E-ME T =%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARBFT
Financial assets EEMEE
Amortised cost (including bank  # $5 5k K (B IER1T 45 6% &
balances and cash) ReE) 2,810,208 3,259,854
Financial liabilities cEAaRE
Liabilities at amortised cost REHEKATTEZBE 2,862,708 3,348,250
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32. €@ I A um
(b) HEEBEEREREE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and bills receivables, other receivables, pledged
bank deposits, amount due from shareholders, bank
balances and cash, trade and bills payables and other
payables and borrowings.

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments included credit risk, market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk) and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

RMB is not freely convertible into foreign
currencies. All foreign exchange transactions
involving RMB must take place through the
People’s Bank of China or other institutions
authorised to buy and sell foreign exchange.
The exchange rate adopted for the foreign
exchange transactions of the Group are the
rates of exchange quoted by the People’s Bank
of China that are determined largely by supply
and demand. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risk primarily through to overseas
customers sales and purchases from overseas
suppliers, giving rise to account receivable,
payable balances and cash and cash equivalent
that are denominated in USD, while all the other
operations of the Group are mainly transacted
in RMB. The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

()

(i)

Currency risk (Continued)

As the Group had no material foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at
31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, no
significant impacts on the results of the Group
would arise from the changes in foreign currency
rates, accordingly sensitivity analysis in this
respect is not presented.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed rate borrowings (Note 26)
and certain pledged bank deposits (Note 22).
The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
other necessary actions when significant interest
rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to certain variable-rate pledged
bank deposits (Note 22) and bank balances (Note
23) and variable-rate bank borrowings (Note
26). The Group aims at keeping borrowings at
variable rates. The Group manages its interest
rate exposures by assessing the potential
impact arising from any interest rate movements
based on interest rate level and outlook. The
management will review the proportion of
borrowings in fixed and floating rates and ensure
they are within reasonable range.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk
management section of this note. The Group’s
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of PBOC benchmark lending
rate arising from the Group’s variable-rate bank
borrowings which are denominated in RMB.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32. €Rl T A ()

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

(b)

MR ERE B ERBE @

Sensitivity analysis BRE DT

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined THEHRNGRES>MEREBERSHRK
based on the exposure to interest rates for non- ETEESMITENFERRET -
derivative financial instruments at the end of the ZAOMBREREPLERET - KE

reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year.
A 100 basis point (2023: 100 basis point) increase
or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates. If the interest rate on variable
bank borrowings had been 100 basis points (2023:
100 basis points) higher or lower and all other variables
held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year
ended 31 December 2024 would decrease or increase
by approximately RMB248,000 (2023: RMB948,000)
respectively. This is mainly attributable to the Group’s
exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate bank
borrowings.

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation
by the counterparties provided by the Group is arising

BRI ARNERAFERNSKRE
B -mMEEEEABRIPREFIR
R E - A100EEF (=2 ==
F - 1001E 2 F) B gm0 R
REBREBYFRAIEAIGEE LT
fly o AR JF BERFT 18 A9 F = 3 hn
A 100ER F(ZE =4 :
100182 7) - TEEMBEREFT
B AEBEHE_ZT_NF+_A
_+ Bt FEMEEFRED R
B B3 hn 49 A R 5 248,000 7T (=
= — = #) ARB0948,0007T) °
FTEHRAEERFEFEEITE
SREEF R

= E R R

R-F_WHET_A=+—HB ' &
SERBFHREBTEL(REE
E R UL YRR BHE) AT 8L H R B 75 &S
BENREEERAR REGEAUK

from the carrying amount of the respective recognised MAKRFAASEBRRERNEENR
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement HE °

of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management AEEERRRERE A£KEE
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for BEEZREKEBEETCEERE

determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts.
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32. £ T A um
(b) MEREMEREBZRBEEK @)

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

In determining the ECL for trade and bills receivables,
the management of the Group has taken into account
the historical default experience and forward-looking
information and concluded that credit risk inherent in
the Group’s outstanding trade and bills receivables is
insignificant.

The Group applies the simplified approach to assess
the expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9,
which permits the use of the lifetime expected credit
loss for all trade and bills receivables. The Group
determines the ECL on an individual basis and/or
collectively by using a provision matrix, estimated
based on historical credit loss experience, as well as
the general economic conditions of the industry in
which the debtors operate. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

For other receivables, the Group has assessed whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. If there has been a significant
increase in credit risk, the Group will measure the loss
allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL.

Management considered amounts due from
shareholders to be low credit risk and thus the
impairment provision recognised during the year was
limited to 12-month ECL.

The credit risk on liquid funds is considered minimal as
such amounts are placed with banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
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32. €@ I A um
(b) BAFEEBREIE B ERBEK (&)

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by
geographical location is mainly in China, which
accounted for 84% (2023: China 79%) of the total
trade and bills receivables respectively as at 31
December 2024.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 35%
(2023: 31%) of the total trade and bills receivables
was due from the Group’s largest trade debtor as at
31 December 2024 and 74% (2023: 73%) of the total
trade and bills receivables was due from the Group’s
five largest trade debtors who are export agent and
telecom and technology industries customer as at 31
December 2024.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. In addition, the Group
relies on borrowings as a significant source of liquidity.
The management monitors the utilisation of borrowings
and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities and lease liabilities. The table has been
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities and lease liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. The maturity dates for non-derivative financial
liabilities and lease liabilities are prepared based on
the agreed repayment dates. Specifically, borrowings
with a repayment on demand clause are included in
“Less than 1 year or on demand” band regardless of
the probability of the financial institution choosing to
exercise their rights.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32. €@ T A @)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIEEBEEBERBEK @)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) MEBE SRR (#)
The table includes both interest and principal cash AERBFEANNERTERESRE M
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, FEREARZE  BIRMRSEIR
the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate BREHAROF LR o

curve at the end of the reporting period.

More than More than
Less than Tyearbut  two years but Total
Tyearor notexceeding  notexceeding More than  undiscounted Carrying
on demand two years five years five years cash flows Amount
IR-§ -ENL MENL ARRRS

gREX BTEERF QATRBIE EENL hERE REE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARWTR  ARBTR  ARWTR

Asat31December2024  R=F=M%E

tZA=t-H
Trade and bills payables BSRMZERENZE 2708516 - - - 2,708,516 2,708,516
Accruals and other payables  [E3TB A R E {1 EFFUR 2,770 - - - 2,770 2,770
Lease liabities HEgf 8,079 7,890 19,236 11,814 47,019 39,365
Borowings &3 143,722 3,330 6,066 - 153,118 147,604
2,883,087 11,220 25,302 11,814 2,931,423 2,918,345
More than More than

Less than Tyearbut  twoyears but Total
yearor  notexceeding  notexceeding Morethan  undiscounted Carmying
on demand two years five years five years cash flows Amount

i3 —E AEN L AERRS

AEEX  EARAME BTBELE LENE RELE KaE
RVB000 RVB000 RVB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARETR  ARMTR  ARRTT  ARETT  ARBTR  ARETR

As at 31 December 2023 R-BCZE

+=A=t-H
Trade and bils payables BIEMZERERTEE 3158712 = = = 3,158,712 3,158,712
Accruals and other payables [zt E A RE tEFUA 26,784 = = = 26,784 26,784
Lease liabilties HERR 6,038 947 1790 - 8775 8315
Borrowings R 144275 3468 939 - 157,139 154,439

3,335,809 4415 1,186 = 3,301,410 3,348,200
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32. €@ I A um
(b) BAFEEBREIE B ERBEK (&)

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
is included in the “less than 1 year or on demand”
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at
31 December 2024, the aggregate undiscounted
principal amounts of these borrowings amounted to
RMB5,051,000 (2023: RMB34,463,000). Taking into
account the Group’s financial position, the directors
of the Company do not believe that it is probable that
the financial institutions will exercise their discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors
of the Company believe that such borrowings will be
repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates
differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at
the end of reporting period.

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their fair value due to
their immediate or short-term maturities.

As disclosed in note 24, the Group has entered into
certain bills arrangements with banks, under which the
Group obtained extended payment terms in respect
of the invoiced amounts owed to certain suppliers
and intragroup company suppliers. This results in the
Group being required to settle a larger amount with
a single counterparty (i.e the issuing bank), rather
than smaller amounts with several counterparties.
However, the net amounts of payables subject to the
arrangements are limited. All of the aforementioned bills
payables are fully secured by pledged bank deposits
amounting to approximately RMB2,127,302,000 (2023:
RMB2,368,420,000) (Note 22). The directors of the
Company believe that such payables will be repaid in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set
out in the term of the related bills arrangements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A PR AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —F —y#+—-H =+—HIFFE

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3B.BHERS
Compensation of key management personnel FEEEBAEBZHMH
The remuneration of directors of the Company and other AR EERHEMEFEERABRAEF
members of key management during the year was as EREFHMIT
follows:
2024 2023
—E-F —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREET T
Short-term benefits %2 HAtE A 3,481 2,847
Post-employment benefits BREX 1218 A 227 68
3,708 2,915
The remuneration of directors of the Company and key AKRARBEENREETERAENG A
executives is determined by the remuneration committee FNZESEBEREARBRMBBEE
having regard to the performance of individuals and market EBE -
trends.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B IS RAREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —F —y#+—-H =+—HIFFE

34. INFORMATION ABOUT THE 4. EEAR R BB RRERNWER

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY
2024 2023
—E-NE e e
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARET T ARET T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries R B R AR (@) 55,665 58,799
Current assets RBEE
Bank balances and cash RITEHMRS 826 663
826 663
Current liabilities RBEE
Accruals and other payables &2 B K E b & {+f
A 1,835 1,853
Amounts due to subsidiaries & B A 7 ZIE 3,173 3,105
5,008 4,958

Net current liabilities REBAEFE (4,182) (4,295)
Total assets less current MEERRBERS

liabilities 51,483 54,504
Capital and Reserves BEXK#1E
Share capital &7 8,945 8,945
Reserves L] (b) 42,538 45,559
Total Equity i 51,483 54,504

Represent amount less than RMB1,000

202 Sprocomm Intelligence Limited  Annual Report 2024

e e BER AR 1,0007T



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A PR AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF — Y+ _-H=+—HIFFE

34. INFORMATION ABOUT THE 34. FEAR QT HHAR R KAE R
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (&)
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
(@) Interests in subsidiaries (@) RHB QTR
2024 2023
—E-mE —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF ARBTT
Unlisted investment, at cost JELETIRE (R A) = =
Amount due from a subsidiary & Yt B A &) ZR I8 (H17E)
(Note) 55,665 58,799
55,665 58,799
Represent amount less than RMB1,000 * B BERARE1,0007T
Note: The amount due from a subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free Kt RN B AR ZIEAEEF 28 NKA
and repayable on demand. The directors of the Company do RERBERE -ARRESTTHEHAMBER
not expect repayments from subsidiaries within next twelve AR ENERET _EARER -

months from the end of the reporting period.

(b) Reserves of the Company (b) &2 EfEHE
Share Accumulated
premium loss Total
B3R E RitE#E wat
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETTT
At 31 December 2022 and RZT__F
1 January 2023 TZA=+—H8K
—E-=F
—H—H 89,439 (40,764) 48,675
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FREBRE2HEH Y
expenses for the year ks - (3,116) (3,116)
At 31 December 2023 and i —
1 January 2024 + H +—Bk
—ZTNF
—H—H 89,439 (43,880) 45,559
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FABERZHERX
expenses for the year Rk - (3,021) (3,021)
At 31 December 2024 RZT_MF
+=-A=+-A 89,439 (46,901) 42,538
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B IS RAREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 35. B ARl 2518
(a) General information of subsidiaries (@ MEBARIN—KRER
Issued and
fully paid
Place of incorporation/  share capital/ Equity interest and
operations and date of registered voting power attributable
Name of subsidiaries incorporation capital to the Company Principal activity
HMKY,/ BRARMR
WEAFAR EEHURAMRIAE BRA/ZMEX ADNARERAEZRREE TTEH
2024 2023
ZBCRE “B-=F
Directly held
EERE
Grace Kirin' BVI/Hong Kong USD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
28 June 2018
(33 ERRARE/ BB E RERR
ZE-N\EXAZTNH
Indirectly held
HEEE
Sprocomm Intelligence (HK) Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited? 27 August 2018
REEHRRERLA? B 10,000/ 7 RERR
“E-NENAZTtH
Shenzhen Sprocomm™ PRC RMB55,556,000 100% 100%  Trading of feature phones and
16 September 2009 smart phones
RYIRE e AE% BEEREFRREMTHA
ZETAEAATAR 555560007
Shanghai Sprocomm™ PRC RMB2,000,000 100% 100%  Research and development of
24 November 2009 cloud computing and related
technology
LHERE HE ARE e EE RIAE R
“ETAET-AZTMA  2,0000007
Guizhou Sprocomm™ PRC RMB5,000,000 100% 100%  Research and development of
8 June 2016 cloud computing and related
technology
BINARE e ARE e EE RIAE R

—E-R"ERANR 5,000,0007C
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A PR AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %7 —F —1F+ = H=+—HIFFZ

35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 35. fit & 2 B 2 5 15 ()

(Continued)
(@) General information of subsidiaries (@ BRI —BRER @)
(Continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of incorporation/  share capital/ Equity interest and
operations and date of registered voting power attributable
Name of subsidiaries incorporation capital to the Company Principal activity
EMRY,/ BROREE
WEARERE EENERAMRIAE RE/ZMERX AAARERABERRER TEEE
2024 2028
—E-NE —E--F
Chengdu Sprocomm* PRC RMB15,000,000 100% 100%  Research and development of
2 August 2017 cloud computing and related
technology
AR E" HE ARE M EE RIAERM
“E-t¥/\AZH 15,000,0007C
HK Sprocomm? Hong Kong USD50,000 100% 100%  Trading of features phones and
15 January 2016 smart phone
BARRE? 6 50,000% 7 EEREFURENTH
ZE-"E-AthA
Sprocomm Technologies India INR145,647 82.03% 82.03%  Customer service and technical
Indlia® 24 August 2016 support
Sprocomm Technologies 0E 145,647 &L B R REM S
Indlia® ZE- R ENAZTHA
Guizhou Mars* PRC RMB5,000,000 100% 100%  Research and development of
29 June 2016 cloud computing and related
technology
M AR HE AE% & E s E RIAE R
ZE-R"EXAZTRA 5,000,000t
Liuzhou Sprocomm™ PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of feature phones
(former known as 1 September 2017 and smart phones
“Liuzhou Spiking’)
EINRE e AE% HEREFURENFH
(RIEIEMBEE) ZE-tFAA-H  100,0000007C
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B IS RAREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF — Y+ _-H=+—HIFFE

35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 35. it & 2 B 2 5 15 ()
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(Continued)
(@) General information of subsidiaries (@ BRI —BRER @)
(Continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of incorporation/  share capital/ Equity interest and
operations and date of registered voting power attributable
Name of subsidiaries incorporation capital to the Company Principal activity
EMRY,/ BROREE
WEARERE EENERAMAIAE RE/ZMERX AAARERABERRER TEEE
2024 2028
—E-NE —E--F
Sprocomm Intelligence PRC RMB20,000,000 100% 100%  Research and development of
Technologies Limited™ 24 December 2019 cloud computing and related
technology
Sprocomm Inteligence i ARE HEE:E RABRIT
Technologies Limited* ~ ZE—-AF+ZAZTMAE  20,000,0007
Shenzhen Fengma New PRC RMB3,000,000 100% 100%  Research and development of
Energy Technology 1 December 2021 cloud computing and related
Co., Ltd* technology
AR SR RER e ARE M EE RIAER
N ZE_-%+-A-H 3,000,0007
Dongguan Fengma New PRC RMB5,000,000 100% - Trading of automobile
Energy Technology 22 January 2024
Co., Ltd. *
RERSHMERNRAR hE AR% EEMBEHE
AT “ZME-AZFZH 50000007
Windhorse Technologies USA USD500,000 80% 80%  Trading of automobile
LLeT 10 May 2022
Windhorse Technologies % 500,000% 7T EERBEDE
LG “E--FRA+H
Xiaohe Growth Shenzhen PRC RMB2,000,000 70% 70%  Trading of education tools
Technalogy Co., Ltd. ** 25 May 2022
PRERERIBBEARAR e AE% BEEHEIA
“E-FRA-TAHA 2,000,000t



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —F —y#+—-H =+—HIFFE

35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

(a) General information of subsidiaries
(Continued)

*

The English name is for identification only.

! Company with limited liabilities incorporated in British Virgin

Islands.
2 Company with limited liabilities incorporated in Hong Kong.
8 Wholly foreign owned enterprises established in the PRC.

. Company with limited liabilities established in the PRC.

5 Company with limited liabilities incorporated in India.

® The subsidiary was established during the year ended 31
December 2024.

7 Company with limited liabilities incorporated in the United States
of America.

35. i B A B 2 715 (|)

(@ BRI —REHR @

! NEBRELHEEMAZHERRF -

2 RNEBEMRINERRF] e
B PRI BEERE
‘ RHRBEKRIZNBRAR -
s RENERIZWBRAF °

° ZHBRARARBE-_ZT_WOF+_H
=+—HIEFEKIL -

! REFNBARBETMAZHBERAT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e TR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # %2 —Z —JyF+ - H=

36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the consolidated statements of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

36.

+ Hltj;[/x

METHELEZ2ABHER

TERAFARNEEREZDELANEEY
B REReRFRCEH -HERD
EENEERRREREXARELRK
EREGREReREXRFTOEARERE
@iﬁfﬁfmimﬁ@\ °

Bill payables
under
supplier
Lease finance
Borrowings liabilities arrangement Total
HEMmRE
REPBETH
CE HEEE AR wat
(Note 26) (Note 16) (Note 24)
(Kt 26) (Hi7z 16) (Hizto4)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARETIT ARETR
At 1 January 2023 R-ZZE-=%—F—H 51,823 5,855 807,892 865,570
Non-cash movements FREEH
New lease arrangement MEERHE = 20,740 = 20,740
Exchange realignment fE 5 % 828 7 - 835
Early termination of lease RRIRIEHSE - - - -
Finance costs incurred EELERENAE
(Note 8) (Hs28) 35,096 720 468 36,284
Financing cash inflows BERSMA 458,262 - 1,515,762 1,974,024
Financing cash outflows MEFRS T (391,570) (19,007) = (410,577)
At 31 December 2023 RZZ_=%+_A
=+—H 154,439 8,315 2,324,122 2,486,876
At 1 January 2024 RZZE-_mF—A—H 154,439 8,315 2,324,122 2,486,876
Non-cash movements FHREE
New lease arrangement %ﬂﬂ EZHE - 38,312 - 38,312
Exchange realignment BE 5 B 1,171 (55) - 1,116
Finance costs incurred (Note §)  EES£BERKA (A1:£8) 32,469 2,590 1,132 36,191
Financing cash inflows BEBRERA 171,033 - - 171,033
Financing cash outflows BMERE R (211,418) (9,797) (172,097) (393,312)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZZE_MF+_H
=+—H 147,694 39,365 2,153,157 2,340,216
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